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HIGHLIGHTS  — Revenue of US$100.4 million during the year ended  
31 March 2014, up 8% compared to US$93.3 million during 
the year ended 31 March 2013.

 — Average daily production of 3,899 bopd, up 17% on the 
previous year.

 — Drilled 35 post-salt wells during the year ended 31 March 
2014, taking the total to 103 wells drilled between August 
2006 and August 2014.

 — 2P reserves2 of 9.5 mmboe at 31 March 2014, down 13% 
from 10.9 mmboe at 31 March 2013, up 11% from 8.6 
mmboe at 30 September 2013.

 — Impaired the book value attributed to post-salt exploration 
assets by US$64.6 million, reflecting the limited remaining 
post-salt exploration potential of the Blocks A&E Licence. 

 — Commenced a cost-cutting initiative that is expected to 
generate recurring annual savings of approximately  
US$4.0 million in administrative costs. Provision for one-off 
restructuring costs of US$3.8 million recognised at  
31 March 2014. 

 — Commissioned a new oil pipeline and associated terminal 
facility in June 2014 that will result in a reduction of 
transport costs of approximately US$4.0 per barrel for 
production from the Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty, Sagiz  
West and East Kyzylzhar I fields.

 — The Asanketken field is expected to be granted full field 
development status by the end of 2014. 

 — Current production of approximately 3,400 bopd from  
fields in continuous production (Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty 
and Asanketken), generating over US$8.0 million revenue 
per month. 

 — Production for the four months ended 31 July 2014 averaged 
approximately 4,250 bopd including test production from 
several appraisal wells at Sagiz West and East Kyzylzhar I, 
which are currently, or will soon be, shut-in pending 
commencement of trial production (“TPP”).

 — The Sagiz West, East Kyzylzhar I and Baichunas West fields 
on track to gain TPP status in 2015 allowing for continuous 
production from all wells at those fields which is expected to 
bring on stream in excess of 1,000 bopd of additional 
production.

 — NUR-1 re-entry plan designed by Halliburton and submitted 
to CaspiyMunaiGas LLP, a design institute, for approval.

 — Began quarterly repayments of the Sberbank loan principal 
in March 2014, with a total of US$4.1 million repaid as of 
19 August 2014.

 — Completed conversion of the remaining outstanding 
convertible bonds into ordinary shares in September 2013, 
the final part of the restructuring of the Group’s debt 
facilities first announced in December 2012.

 — In August 2014, agreed a conditional strategic investment by 
AGR Energy in Max Petroleum of approximately US$62.5 
million before expenses, which would result in AGR Energy 
holding 51% of the Company’s share capital on completion.

Average daily production (bopd)

2014

2013

3,899

3,346

Crude oil sales volumes (mbo)

2014

2013

1,370

1,234

Adjusted EBITDA (US$ million)

2014

2013

34.5

31.5

US$100 million
oil sales revenue for the year 
ended 31 March 2014

2014 2013 % Change

Average daily production bopd 3,899 3,346 17%
Revenue US$ million 100.4 93.3 8%
Total sales volumes mbo 1,370 1,234 11%
Average realised selling price US$ per bbl 73.29 75.64 (3)%
Cash generated from operations US$ million 34.0 40.4 (16)%
Loss for the period US$ million 76.8 10.1 658%
Adjusted EBITDA1 US$ million 34.5 31.5 9%
Proved and probable (2P) reserves2 mmboe 9.5 10.9 (13)%
Proved, probable and possible (3P) reserves2 mmboe 10.4 14.2 (27)% 

1 Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit/(loss) before finance income, finance expense, income tax expense, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, share-based payment 
expense, exploration and appraisal costs, restructuring costs and impairment losses. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS performance measure with no standard meaning 
under IFRS, and is reconciled to the income statement in note 39 to the accompanying financial statements.

2  Reserves estimated by the Ryder Scott Company, the Group’s competent person, as at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013, respectively.
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Pipeline and terminal facilities
In June 2014 the Group commissioned a new oil pipeline, 
and associated Makat oil terminal facility, connecting 
its Zhana Makat field with the regional oil pipeline 
approximately 10 km away. These new facilities will enable 
the Group to make transportation cost savings of 
approximately US$4 per bbl for oil produced from the 
Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty, Sagiz West and East 
Kyzylzhar I fields. 

2014 3,899

2013 3,346

2012 2,807

COMPANY 
OVERVIEW

US$411 million
cumulative revenue generated  
from 6,487 mmbo of production  
from September 2006 through March 2014

Average daily  
production (bopd)

 — Current production from the Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty 
and Asanketken fields is approximately 3,400 bopd, of 
which approximately 2,800 bopd are from fields in Full 
Field Development (“FFD”), resulting in over 2,200 bopd 
being available for export. 

 — The Zhana Makat and Borkyldakty fields are in FFD and 
are producing continuously, with 80% of their 
production exported and 20% sold domestically. 

 — The Asanketken field is in trial production (“TPP”) and is 
producing continuously with all of the field’s production 
sold domestically. The Group expects Asanketken will be 
approved for FFD by the end of 2014, which will enable 
the Group to export 80% of its production. 

 — The Group’s other post-salt fields, comprising Sagiz West, 
East Kyzylzhar I, Uytas, Baichunas West and Eskene 
North, are at various stages of appraisal, during which 
time the Group may produce each zone in a well for up to 
90 days (“Test Production”) and carry out appraisal 
drilling in order to gather the information necessary to 
apply for TPP, when wells can be produced continuously. 

 — The Group expects the Sagiz West field to be approved 
for TPP and commence continuous production in the first 
half of 2015, which is expected to result in over 1,000 
bopd of additional production.

The Group has a 100% 
working interest in the 
Blocks A&E Licence, which 
comprises two onshore 
blocks that extend over 
12,455 km2 in the 
Pre‑Caspian Basin in 
Western Kazakhstan.
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NETBACKS
Netbacks measure sales net of production costs, selling and 
transportation costs, mineral extraction tax, export rent 
tax and export customs duty.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group realised 
an average selling price of US$103.49 per bbl and US$39.04 
per bbl for export and domestic sales, respectively. The 
average export and domestic netbacks during the year were 
US$45.21 per bbl and US$20.96 per bbl, respectively.

The netback analysis to the right is for illustrative purposes 
based on current taxes and cost assumptions and a 
hypothetical US$100 per bbl Brent oil price for export 
sales and a domestic sales price of US$40 per bbl. These 
illustrative netbacks incorporate transportation cost 
savings of approximately US$4 per bbl arising since the 
Group commissioned a new pipeline and terminal facility 
in June 2014 (see left).

Export sales netback
Illustrative US$100 per bbl Brent oil price

Domestic sales netback
Illustrative US$40 per bbl selling price

Netback US$44.86

US$100 per bbl

Netback US$28.57

US$40 per bblNetback US$44.86

US$100 per bbl

Netback US$28.57

US$40 per bbl
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STRATEGIC  
REPORT

The Strategic Report, outlined on pages 4 to 27, incorporates the Chairman’s 
Statement, Business Review, Liquidity and Capital Resources, Key Performance 
Indicators, Financial Review, Principal Risks and Uncertainties and the 
Corporate and Social Responsibility Report.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Robert B Holland III
Interim Chief Executive Officer
19 August 2014
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Dear Shareholder,

Max Petroleum has taken important steps this year to shift 
its focus from exploration to production. The changes have 
followed disappointing progress in adding to reserves from 
the post-salt, slower than expected production growth and 
limited advancement towards resuming drilling of the deep, 
pre-salt NUR-1 well. The increased emphasis on production 
and cost reduction follows reduced exploration activity in 
the post-salt after a busy period of appraisal drilling in 
2013, which was followed by a reduced estimate of Group 
reserves from our competent person, Ryder Scott Company, 
and a non-cash impairment of the post-salt exploration asset 
by US$64.6 million. The disappointing operational news in 
the form of slower than expected production growth has 
made change more urgent, but improved efficiency was also 
a necessary and logical step given the stage of development 
of the Group and its assets. The structural changes to the 
management and operations of the Group which were made 
earlier in 2014 are now complete and are the start of an 
ongoing drive for improved efficiency.

In July 2014, the Group announced the commencement of  
a strategic review and formal sale process with the intention 
of maximising value for shareholders. In early August 2014, 
Max Petroleum announced a proposed US$62.5 million 
equity infusion by AGR Energy Limited No. I (“AGR 
Energy”), a vehicle owned by the Assaubayev Group (“AB”).  
In exchange, AGR Energy would receive a 51% equity 
interest in Max Petroleum, which the Board understands 
from AB would remain a publicly traded UK company 
focused on Kazakhstan. 

I believe Max Petroleum offers an excellent platform 
to consolidate and grow oil and gas opportunities in 
Kazakhstan and, together with the Board of Directors, 
I see the prospect of a partnership with AB as highly positive 
for Max Petroleum’s shareholders and consider that the 
proposed transaction would substantially strengthen the 
Group’s balance sheet. It is anticipated that my colleague 
and fellow director, Robert Holland, Max Petroleum’s 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, and I would continue as 
members of the Board if this transaction is consummated. 
The transaction is subject to a number of conditions, 
including shareholder approval, Kazakhstan regulatory 
approvals and an acceptable revision of Max Petroleum’s 
credit relationship with Sberbank. 

If this transaction is completed, the investment by AB 
should enable the Group to fund its planned capital 
programme to develop its post-salt fields and maximise 
reserves and production. In addition, Max Petroleum would 
be in a strengthened position to attract financial or industry 
partners to help finish its pre-salt NUR-1 well and to secure 
an extension of the exploration period of its Blocks A&E 
Licence in western Kazakhstan to enable it to have time to 
finish drilling NUR-1 and, if it is successful, the Kurzhem 
well. The Group would also be able to consider investment 
in other projects in Kazakhstan and across Central Asia that 
complement its existing activities.

I appreciate the difficulties experienced by Max Petroleum’s 
shareholders, who have seen during the last year a series 
of disappointments in terms of reserves, slower production 
growth and our delayed pre-salt exploration plans leading 
to a correspondingly very disappointing share price 
performance. I believe that the proposed AB transaction 
would position Max Petroleum to capture the value inherent 
in developing our post-salt assets while preserving the 
valuable optionality in the pre-salt. I see significant value 
in the Max Petroleum operating platform and believe a 
recapitalised Max Petroleum offers considerable upside 
for its shareholders and employees. Further details of the 
rationale for the investment by AGR Energy will be set 
out in a circular to be distributed to all shareholders in 
due course.

James A Jeffs
Executive Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT
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BUSINESS
REVIEW

US$34.5 million
adjusted EBITDA for the year  
ended 31 March 2014

During 2014 the Group made significant changes to its 
management structure and operating approach in order 
to maximise efficiency and ensure the execution of its 
operational plans using its available financial resources. 
These changes followed a planned reduction in the scale 
of the Group’s exploration and appraisal activities after 
a year in which it drilled a record 35 wells. The changes 
were also a response to disappointing reserves as assessed 
by the Group’s competent person, Ryder Scott Company 
(“Ryder Scott”), as of 30 September 2013, slower than 
expected increases in production, and a lack of significant 
progress towards resumption of drilling the deep, pre-salt 
NUR-1 well.

The underlying strengths of the Group’s business, including 
its employees, the Blocks A&E Licence and a reputation as 
a respected and effective operator in Kazakhstan remain 
major assets. Greater efficiency and an increased focus on 
production during 2014 have already begun to have a 
positive impact. The cost-cutting initiative that commenced 
in early 2014 will reduce annual administrative costs by 
approximately US$4 million. This initiative includes the 
closure of the Group’s Houston office and streamlining of 
management across the Group’s operations.

Max Petroleum increased annual revenue over the previous 
year by 8% to over US$100 million with production up for 
the fourth consecutive year to an average of 3,899 bopd 
during the year ended 31 March 2014. Adjusted EBITDA 
increased by 9% from US$31.5 million to US$34.5 million 
and selling and transportation costs per barrel fell by 7% 
from US$11.55 per bbl to US$10.78 per bbl. The Group is 
currently producing approximately 3,400 bopd from fields 
on continuous production (Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty 
and Asanketken) and generating over US$8 million per 
month in revenue. The Group expects its total production 
to average around this level from now until Sagiz West is 
approved for trial production (“TPP”) and commences 
continuous production, expected in Q2 2015. 

In March 2014, the Group began to pay down the US$90 
million loan principal borrowed under the credit facility 
with Sberbank (the “Sberbank Loan”). Principal 
repayments were approximately US$2 million in March 
and June 2014 so that by 19 August 2014 the total owing 
under the Sberbank Loan was approximately US$86 
million. Further repayments of approximately US$3.1 
million each are scheduled for September and December 
2014, followed by a repayment of US$6.7 million in March 
2015 and then US$6.6 million per quarter until maturity 
in November 2017. 

During the past financial year the Group was also able to 
transfer the Asanketken field to TPP in May 2013 and the 
Borkyldakty field to Full Field Development (“FFD”) in 
July 2013. Later in 2014 it is expected that the Asanketken 
field will proceed to FFD and as a result 80% of its 
production will be eligible for export. 
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35 post‑salt wells
drilled during the year  
ended 31 March 2014

Total remaining 2P reserves estimated by Ryder Scott 
decreased by 13% from 10.9 mmboe as of 31 March 2013 
to 9.5 mmboe as of 31 March 2014. The reserves as of 31 
March 2014 were, however, up 11% from 8.6 mmboe as of 
30 September 2013. Total oil production for the year 
ended 31 March 2014 was a record 1.4 mmbo, up 17% 
from 1.2 mmbo in the prior year. 

To reflect the reality of 2P reserves of 9.5 mmboe as of 
31 March 2014, which are significantly lower than prior 
expectations, and the limited remaining exploration 
potential of the post-salt assets, a non-cash impairment 
charge of US$64.6 million has been taken against the 
historic non-drilling exploration costs allocated to these 
assets. This reflects a conservative view that given the 
uncertainty over the availability of funding for the 
additional investment necessary to fully develop the 
Group’s post-salt fields, it is no longer appropriate to carry 
forward the US$64.6 million exploration asset allocated 
to the post-salt fields in the Group’s balance sheet.

The ability of the Group to develop its post-salt assets 
and effectively market its oil production continues to 
be a valuable asset and there remains an intention and 
capability to re-enter and finish drilling the NUR-1 
pre-salt exploration well, subject to a satisfactory licence 
extension and necessary funding.

Our strategy 
Max Petroleum’s strategy is to maximise reserves, 
production and cash flow from its shallow, post-salt 
discoveries in its Blocks A&E Licence area in the Pre-
Caspian Basin, while continuing to pursue the higher 
impact exploration potential of its pre-salt portfolio. 

Operations review
The Group drilled 35 post-salt wells during the year ended 
31 March 2014, including 27 appraisal wells, six 
development wells and two unsuccessful exploration wells.  
This brings the total number of wells drilled to date by the 
Group since 2006 to 103, made up of 26 exploration wells 
(of which eight were successful), 50 appraisal wells (of 
which 41 were successful) and 27 development wells (of 
which 26 were successful). As of 19 August 2014, the 
Group has drilled a further three appraisal wells and one 
development well since 31 March 2014.

The Group has a comprehensive plan for the commercial 
development of its post-salt fields. For the remainder of the 
year ending 31 March 2015, however, the Group’s planned 
appraisal and development drilling is subject to available 
financing. Additional drilling at Zhana Makat also 
depends on the future results of the ZMA-E8 appraisal 
well, testing a possible extension of the Zhana Makat field, 

which if successful would require further drilling to 
appraise and develop this part of the field. 

At East Kyzylzhar I, additional drilling may be undertaken 
dependent on the results of current Test Production and at 
Baichunas West and Eskene North, further analysis of 
fracture stimulation tests may also justify further appraisal 
drilling. At Sagiz West a programme of drilling up to 20 
production and injection wells is planned to be 
implemented over time following the progression of the 
field to TPP, expected in Q2 2015. At Asanketken two 
wells are planned to be drilled after the field obtains FFD 
status, expected in Q4 2014, permitting 80% of 
production from the field to be exported.

The Group estimates that it would need to incur 
approximately US$20 million in additional capital 
expenditure through the end of calendar year 2016 to 
develop the Sagiz West field, where the majority of its 
capital expenditures will be directed. The Group estimates 
that over the same period it would need to incur another 
US$18 million in capital expenditure to develop its other 
post-salt fields, including drilling a step-out appraisal well 
at ZMA-E8 to test the Zhana Makat South East extension. 
In the event that ZMA-E8 is successful, further capital 
expenditure would be required to move the extension 
into FFD. 

The Group intends to fund its post-salt capital programme 
using cash flow from operations. However, the directors 
have identified a funding shortfall of approximately US$5 
million through 31 December 2014 and up to an additional 
US$10 million during calendar year 2015 if the Group is 
to continue the planned discretionary post-salt capital 
spending programme set out above. All future capital 
expenditure is subject to this additional funding being 
available and, as of the date of this report, the absence 
of this additional funding in the near term has resulted 
in the temporary suspension of discretionary capital 
expenditures. The Group’s liquidity and capital resources 
are discussed in more detail on page 16. The Group has 
incurred approximately US$8 million in capital 
expenditures through the four months ended 31 July 2014.
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Strategic partner investment of approximately  
US$62.5 million
On 4 August 2014, the Group announced that it had agreed a 
conditional cash subscription with AGR Energy which would 
raise approximately US$62.5 million before expenses as 
consideration for the issue for 2,264,093,462 new ordinary 
shares at a price of 1.64p per share (the “Subscription”). 
Immediately following completion of the Subscription, AGR 
Energy would hold 51% of the Company’s enlarged issued 
share capital. The Subscription price represents a premium of 
33.9% to the closing middle market price of an ordinary 
share of 1.225p on 1 August 2014. 

AGR Energy is a vehicle owned by the Assaubayev family 
established for the purpose of the Subscription. The 
Subscription is conditional upon a number of conditions, 
including approval of the Company’s shareholders in a 
general meeting and receiving regulatory approvals from 
the Government in Kazakhstan. 

The Subscription should enable the Group to fund its 
planned capital programme to develop its post-salt fields 
and maximise reserves and production. The Company 
would also be able to consider investment in other projects 
in Kazakhstan and across Central Asia that complement its 
existing activities. In addition, Max Petroleum would be in 
a strengthened position to attract financial or industry 
partners to help finish its pre-salt NUR-1 well and to 
secure an extension of the exploration period of its Blocks 
A&E Licence in western Kazakhstan to provide sufficient 
time to finish drilling NUR-1 and, if it is successful, the 
Kurzhem well. If the Subscription, or a similar infusion, 
was not to occur, it is likely that it would be necessary for 
the Group to book an impairment charge against the 
balance sheet carrying value of NUR-1 and associated 
pre-salt exploration costs.

Post‑salt exploration asset impairment
Having completed the drilling of its post-salt exploration 
portfolio and carried out an extensive appraisal drilling 
programme during the year ended 31 March 2014, the 
Group has now largely evaluated the post-salt potential of 
Blocks A&E and is in a position to make a determination 
about the recoverability of the associated exploration and 
appraisal asset allocated to the post-salt, which amounted 
to US$64.6 million at 31 March 2014. This exploration 
and appraisal asset is associated with the historic 
development of the post-salt portfolio, including an 
allocation of licence acquisition costs, 3D seismic, 
geological and geophysical studies and capitalised interest. 
Given the completion of post-salt exploration drilling, the 
resulting 2P reserves at 31 March 2014 of 9.5 mmboe as 
estimated by the Group’s competent person, Ryder Scott, 
and the limited remaining potential for the growth of 

post-salt reserves, the Group has performed an impairment 
test of the US$64.6 million exploration and appraisal asset 
allocated to the post-salt portfolio. 

Considering the many uncertainties facing the Group, 
including the completion of the Subscription, which is 
subject to a number of conditions, and a current funding 
shortfall causing the temporary suspension of discretionary 
capital expenditures necessary to increase the reserves and 
production of its post-salt fields, the directors have taken 
the view that it is not appropriate to carry forward the 
US$64.6 million exploration asset related to its post-salt 
fields in the balance sheet. As a result, the Group has 
recognised a US$64.6 million non-cash impairment of its 
post-salt exploration and appraisal assets in its financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2014.

Zhana Makat pipeline
At Zhana Makat, the completion and commissioning of an 
oil export pipeline in June 2014 has reduced transportation 
costs for all of the production running through the Zhana 
Makat facility by approximately US$4.00 per barrel. 
Transportation of crude oil from the Borkyldakty, Sagiz 
West and East Kyzylzhar I fields as well as Zhana Makat 
through this pipeline is expected to lead to an annualised 
transport cost saving of approximately US$4.9 million. 

Production
During the fiscal year ended 31 March 2014, the Group 
produced 1,423,000 bbls, or 3,899 bopd, an increase of 
17% from total production of 1,221,000 bbls, or 3,346 
bopd, in the prior year. The Group is currently producing 
approximately 3,400 bopd from fields on continuous 
production (Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty and Asanketken), 
with approximately 2,200 bopd available for export from 
approximately 2,800 bopd produced by fields on FFD. 

Regulations in Kazakhstan require each field to progress 
through incremental regulatory stages of appraisal and 
development, including the testing and appraisal phase 
(“Test Production”), TPP, and then FFD. Test Production 
may last between one and three years depending upon the 
complexity of the field, during which time the Group may 
produce each zone in a well for up to 90 days in order to 
gather information necessary to move onto TPP. TPP 
typically lasts two to three years, during which time the 
field may be fully appraised and wells can be produced 
continuously. The Group only has rights to sell its 
production domestically during Test Production and TPP. 
Once the Group has enough information to prepare state 
reserves and a long-term full field development plan, it may 
obtain FFD status. FFD lasts for up to 25 years, during 
which time the Group may sell up to 80% of its production 
on the export market for prices that have historically 

BUSINESS 
REVIEW
CONTINUED

3,899 bopd
average daily production for the 
year ended 31 March 2014
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averaged between US$15 and US$25 per barrel higher 
than domestic prices on an after-tax basis.
 
The rate of production from fields on Test Production can 
be highly variable due to the uncertain production rates 
which are achievable from different productive zones in 
new exploration and appraisal wells, downtime incurred 
for pressure build-up tests, recompletions to move between 
zones and intentional variable production rates used during 
testing to gather data necessary to eventually apply for TPP.

As at 31 March 2014, Zhana Makat and Borkyldakty were 
on FFD, Asanketken was on TPP and Sagiz West and East 
Kyzylzhar I were on Test Production. The Group received 
regulatory approval to place Asanketken on TPP in May 
2013 and the field is expected to progress to FFD later in 
2014. It is expected that the East Kyzylzhar I, Baichunas 
West and Sagiz West fields will move from Test Production 
to TPP during 2015, upon which each well can operate in 
continuous production. The remaining two fields, Uytas 
and Eskene North, are in the Test Production phase but 
production from these fields has not been material.
 
Reserves and resources
As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s competent person, 
Ryder Scott, estimated that the Group had 9.5 mmboe in 
proved and probable (“2P”) reserves with an after-tax net 
present value discounted at 10% (“PV10”) of US$184 
million. This was a 13% decrease in 2P reserves from 10.9 
mmboe as at 31 March 2013 and no change in PV10, 
which was US$184 million at both 31 March 2014 and 
31 March 2013. The total 2P reserves of 9.5 mmboe at 
31 March 2014 was reduced by production during the 
period of approximately 1.4 mmboe. Ryder Scott estimated 
that as at 31 March 2014, the Group’s total proved, 
probable and possible (“3P”) reserves were 10.4 mmboe, 
down by 27% from total 3P reserves of 14.2 mmboe at 
31 March 2013. The 3P reserves at 31 March 2014 had a 
PV10 of US$197 million, down 17% from a PV10 of 
US$236 million a year earlier 

Since 30 September 2013, 2P reserves, as estimated by 
Ryder Scott, increased by 11% from 8.6 mmboe at 
30 September 2013 to 9.5 mmboe at 31 March 2014 and 
the equivalent PV10 increased by 32% from US$140 
million to US$184 million at 31 March 2014. Since 30 
September 2013, 3P reserves, as estimated by Ryder Scott, 
increased by 7% from 9.7 mmboe at 30 September 2013 to 
10.4 mmboe at 31 March 2014 and the equivalent PV10 
increased by 25% from US$157 million to US$197 million 
at 31 March 2014. 

Total estimated 2P reserves at 31 March 2014 compared to 
a year earlier increased at Sagiz West, East Kyzylzhar I and 
Uytas and declined at Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty, 
Asanketken and Baichunas West. Further work is expected 
to be required at Uytas, Baichunas West and Eskene North 
to predict the likely extent of economically producible 
reserves. One successful well at East Kyzylzhar I, KZIE-4, 
was not taken into account in the analysis undertaken by 
Ryder Scott to estimate reserves as of 31 March 2014 as it 
was drilled after year-end. The Group intends to prepare 
the next competent person’s report (“CPR”) as at 30 
September 2014 followed by a CPR at the end of the 
financial year ended 31 March 2015. 

Following the extensive appraisal programme at Sagiz 
West in 2013 and 2014 the Group now estimates ultimate 
recoverable reserves from the field will be approximately 
5 to 6 mmbo plus approximately 3 bcf of gas. Final results 
of the 3D processing and evaluation and the appraisal 
drilling indicate the field is more compartmentalised than 
originally expected and that well rates in some areas are 
significantly higher than in others. 

The appraisal wells drilled at Uytas during the year 
confirmed the field has Cretaceous Aptian and Jurassic 
reservoirs which are capable of conventional oil 
production, but the productive area of the field is smaller 
than originally mapped. In addition, while earlier wells 
drilled in the field encountered hydrocarbon shows in 
shallower, non-conventional Cretaceous Albian reservoirs, 
the wells drilled during the year did not reflect a broad 
presence of oil saturation across the structure in these 
reservoirs. The requirement for standalone processing 
and transport facilities to be built at Uytas to handle 
substantial long-term production is also expected to affect 
the decision on the go-ahead for further development and 
investment at the field. The progression of the Uytas field 
to TPP is expected to proceed during 2015, but there is 
no guarantee that the funds will be available to develop 
the field beyond TPP to FFD. The Group is considering 
the option of seeking potential partners with nearby 
operations to work with on the development of the field.

467 mmboe
mean resource potential of  
the pre-salt Emba B prospect (NUR–1)
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The Group’s reserves as estimated by Ryder Scott as at 31 March 2014, 30 September 2013 and 31 March 2013  
are as follows: 

Oil & gas reserves1 

31 March 2014

Proved 
reserves

mboe

Probable 
reserves

mboe

Total 2P 
reserves

mboe

Possible 
reserves

mboe

Total 3P 
reserves

mboe

Zhana Makat 2,021 1,301 3,322 – 3,322
Borkyldakty 130 69 199 – 199
Uytas – 1,138 1,138 440 1,578
Asanketken 1,316 245 1,561 – 1,561
East Kyzylzhar I 263 261 524 – 524
Sagiz West 1,633 993 2,626 437 3,063
Baichunas West 102 22 124 22 146
Eskene North – – – – –

Total 5,465 4,029 9,494 899 10,393

30 September 2013

Proved 
reserves

mboe

Probable 
reserves

mboe

Total 2P 
reserves

mboe

Possible 
reserves

mboe

Total 3P 
reserves

mboe

Zhana Makat 2,145 1,429 3,574 – 3,574
Borkyldakty 144 88 232 – 232
Uytas – 1,119 1,119 404 1,523
Asanketken 1,515 239 1,754 – 1,754
East Kyzylzhar I 96 59 155 – 155
Sagiz West – 1,621 1,621 685 2,306
Baichunas West 102 22 124 22 146
Eskene North – – – – –

Total 4,002 4,577 8,579 1,111 9,690

31 March 2013

Proved 
reserves

mbo

Probable 
reserves

mbo

Total 2P 
reserves

mbo

Possible 
reserves

mbo

Total 3P 
reserves

mbo

Zhana Makat 2,818 1,621 4,439 – 4,439
Borkyldakty 180 71 251 – 251
Uytas – 858 858 1,864 2,722
Asanketken 1,720 238 1,958 – 1,958
East Kyzylzhar I 92 57 149 – 149
Sagiz West – 2,543 2,543 1,362 3,905
Baichunas West – 671 671 111 782
Eskene North – – – – –

Total 4,810 6,059 10,869 3,337 14,206
1 For reserve definitions, see the glossary on pages 94 to 96.
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31 March
2014 9,494
30 September
2013 8,579
31 March 
2013 10,869

Total proved and probable 
(2P) reserves (mboe)
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FIELDS ON CONTINUOUS PRODUCTION

Zhana Makat FFD

The Zhana Makat field was discovered in Block E in 
September 2006 and produces from Neocomian, Jurassic 
and Triassic reservoirs. Zhana Makat was approved for 
FFD in March 2012 and there are currently 28 producing 
wells and six water injection wells at the field. Average 
production from the field has increased from 
approximately 2,100 bopd during the year ended 31 
March 2013 to approximately 2,500 bopd during the year 
ended 31 March 2014. Current production is 
approximately 2,600 bopd. 

During the year to 31 March 2014, the Group drilled five 
development wells, which were designed to complete the 
development of the field and increase daily production. 
Since 31 March 2014, a further development well was 
drilled at the field and, subject to funding, the Group plans 
to drill the ZMA-E8 appraisal well late in 2014 which 
will test a possible extension of the field to the southeast. 
If successful, ZMA-E8 could materially increase the size 
of the Zhana Makat field. 

A gathering system in the southern portion of the field was 
completed in July 2013 to tie the new development wells 
into the in-field piping network. A new oil receiving and 
pumping terminal at Makat and a new 10 km oil pipeline 
connecting Zhana Makat to the Makat terminal were 
commissioned in June 2014. The new oil pipeline lowers 
the cost to transport crude oil production to the regional 
pipeline by approximately US$4.00 per bbl. Zhana Makat 
also acts as a regional hub, where oil trucked from the 
Borkyldakty, Sagiz West and East Kyzylzhar I fields, is 
processed through the field’s facilities and fed through the 
new pipeline to the Makat terminal. The Ryder Scott 
estimate of 2P reserves at the field is 3.3 mmbo as at 
31 March 2014.

Borkyldakty FFD

The Borkyldakty field was discovered in Block E in 
February 2010 and produces from Triassic reservoirs. 
The field was placed on TPP in June 2011 and was 
approved for FFD in July 2013. Average production from 
the field was approximately 130 bopd during the year 
ended 31 March 2014 and is currently approximately 
200 bopd. 

There are three producing wells at the field, including the 
BOR-4 development well drilled in August 2013. Crude 
oil from Borkyldakty is trucked 65 km to Zhana Makat 
where it is processed and put into the export pipeline. Since 
FFD approval in July 2013, 80% of the production from 
Borkyldakty has been sold on the export market, with the 
remainder being sold domestically. The Group plans to 
convert the non-producing BOR-2 well into a water 
injection well later in calendar year 2014, which should 
reduce operating costs at the field. The Ryder Scott 
estimate of 2P reserves at the field is 0.2 mmbo as at 
31 March 2014.
 

Asanketken TPP

The Asanketken field was discovered in Block E in 
March 2011 and produces from Jurassic reservoirs. 
The field has been producing continuously since May 
2013, when it was granted TPP approval. Average 
production from the four wells in the field was 
approximately 1,000 bopd during the year ended 
31 March 2014. Current production is approximately 
600 bopd following some increase in water production. 

Production from Asanketken was previously trucked 
approximately 210 km to the Zhamansor terminal but, since 
August 2013 it has been trucked to an existing terminal 
located approximately 40 km from the field where the oil is 
pumped into the KazTransOil national oil pipeline grid. 
This change, combined with the installation of water 
disposal facilities through which all produced water has 
been injected into one of the wells in the field since 
September 2013, has lowered the field’s production and 
transportation costs by approximately US$7 per barrel, 
saving the Group approximately US$400,000 per month.  
A new high quality 3D seismic survey was acquired over the 
field in the spring of 2013 and having analysed its results, 
subject to funding, the Group plans to drill up to two more 
development wells at the field subsequent to it being placed 
on FFD, which is expected later in 2014. The Ryder Scott 
estimate of 2P reserves at the field is 1.6 mmbo as at 
31 March 2014.

Full field development

Trial production

Test productionTEST

FFD

TPP
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FIELDS IN APPRAISAL

Uytas TEST

The Uytas field was discovered in Block A in October 
2010 and has productive Cretaceous and Jurassic 
reservoirs at shallow depths of between 100 and 400 
metres. After the initial discovery well, three wells were 
drilled in 2011 and a further 14 appraisal wells were 
drilled in 2013. During Test Production, wells produced 
at rates ranging from a few bopd up to 37 bopd, with 
wells in the main producing area averaging 
approximately 20 bopd. 

The Uytas field has been shut-in since Test Production from 
the appraisal wells ended in 2013. The Test Production 
results and the analysis of an extensive 3D seismic survey 
carried out over the field will provide the technical basis for 
moving the field to TPP status during 2015. 

At Uytas, oil has been trucked approximately 100 km to  
a terminal at Zhamansor, but construction of a new 40 km 
pipeline to the nearest terminal at Sagiz village would be 
an option for future production during TPP and FFD, if 
deemed economic. The 2P reserves for Uytas in the current 
Ryder Scott report of 1.1 mmbo have increased slightly 
from 0.9 mmbo at 31 March 2013. The requirement for 
standalone processing and transport facilities to be built  
at Uytas to handle substantial long-term production is 
however expected to affect the decision on the go-ahead 
for further development and investment at the field.  
The progression of the Uytas field to TPP is expected to 
proceed during 2015 but there is no guarantee that a 
decision will be made to commit funds to subsequently 
develop the field beyond TPP to FFD. The Group is 
considering the option of seeking potential partners with 
nearby operations to work with on the development of  
the field.

Sagiz West TEST

The Sagiz West field is a Triassic discovery made in Block 
E in September 2011. The Group has drilled a total of 
14 wells in the field to date, of which 11 have been 
successful. 11 appraisal wells were drilled during the year 
ended 31 March 2014, including four since the previous 
Ryder Scott reserve estimate as of 31 December 2013. 
The field is located approximately 30 km to the south of 
Zhana Makat.

During the year, the Group acquired a higher resolution 
3D seismic survey across Sagiz West. This new survey has 
identified additional faults running along the crest of the 
structure which were difficult to discern previously. The 

BUSINESS 
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6.5 mmbo
cumulative production from all fields from 
September 2006 through March 2014

Full field development

Trial production

Test productionTEST
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TPP
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new seismic survey, along with the results of drilling and 
testing to date, have shown the field to be a more complex 
and faulted/compartmentalised structure than previously 
estimated and where well production rates can be 
significantly higher in some areas than in others.

Interpretation of the new 3D seismic and the results from 
the first appraisal wells drilled during the year led to 
an initial decrease in 2P reserves from 2.54 mmboe at 
31 March 2013 to 1.62 mmboe at 30 September 2013. 
However, since then the completion of the appraisal 
drilling programme resulted in a revised estimate of 2P 
reserves of 2.27 mmboe at 31 December 2013 and an 
increase to 2.63 mmboe at 31 March 2014. The Group 
now estimates that ultimate recoverable reserves from  
the field will be approximately 5 to 6 mmbo plus 
approximately 3 bcf of gas. The results of the 3D seismic 
survey and evaluation of the wells drilled to date indicate 
that approximately 20 further wells, including both 
development and injection wells, will eventually need to be 
drilled in order to maximise production from the field. 

Development of the field will include gas or water injection 
for pressure maintenance in the reservoirs, as well as 
potentially gas production and export. Initial plans are 
that production will be trucked to Zhana Makat, but 
development plans may include an oil pipeline to be built 
to the Makat terminal and a gas pipeline to Zhana Makat. 
Current plans are to re-inject produced gas to help manage 
reservoir pressures but, given the possibility to export gas 
north to Russia or east to China and to sell in the domestic 
market, there are other opportunities to commercialise this 
asset. Construction of facilities is expected to start later in 
2014, subject to funding, and be finished by mid-2015.

Using the data from the appraisal drilling at the field and 
from production tests, the TPP project for Sagiz West is 
currently being prepared for submission to the Ministry of 
Energy. The current production from the field is classified 
as Test Production and subject to substantial variability, as 
individual wells are tested and recompleted in each zone 
every 90 days until all available zones have detailed 
production history. In the period between 31 March 2014 
and 31 July 2014 production averaged approximately  
570 bopd. The majority of this production is currently 
shut-in with the wells having produced for the allowed 
period in each zone. The Group estimates the combined 
productive capacity of the wells drilled to date at the Sagiz 
West field to be in excess of 1,000 bopd, based on 
production rates achieved during Test Production. The 
Company’s best estimate for the granting of TPP, which 
will allow continuous production from the field to 
commence, is Q2 2015.

East Kyzylzhar I TEST

The East Kyzylzhar I field, a three-way faulted closure 
located in Block E, was discovered in August 2011 with 
the KZIE-1 well. The KZIE-2 appraisal well was drilled 
later that year and both wells were later placed on Test 
Production.

KZIE-1 performed well but KZIE-2 produced with a very 
high water cut. The Group plans a remedial workover for 
KZIE-2 to improve productivity once the field has entered 
TPP. In 2013, additional high quality 3D seismic was carried 
out over the field and in 2014 three further wells were drilled. 
The KZIE-5 and KZIE-4 wells successfully appraised a 
further part of the field, while the KZIE-3 well was a dry 
hole. The two successful wells were put on Test Production in 
May and June 2014 with combined productive capacity of 
approximately 300 bopd. The KZIE-5 well result, in addition 
to the results of the 3D seismic survey during 2013, enabled 
Ryder Scott to increase their estimated reserves for the field to 
0.5 mmbo as of 31 March 2014. The results of the successful 
KZIE-4 appraisal were not taken into account in this Ryder 
Scott reserve estimate as the well was drilled after year-end. 

The Group believes there is the potential to increase the 
reserves estimated for the field and plans to progress East 
Kyzylzhar I to TPP in early 2015 and to FFD late in 2016. 

Baichunas West TEST

The Baichunas West field was discovered in Block E in 
September 2012, with the BCHW-1 well testing oil from 
the Lower Jurassic formation. A second well drilled in the 
field, BCHW-2, encountered gas in the Middle Jurassic 
reservoir and extensive shows in the Triassic sands, over 
a 170 metre interval, which were however of poor quality 
and not able to produce at commercial rates during 
initial testing. The BCHW-3 appraisal well, drilled in 
September 2013, was unsuccessful.

The current Ryder Scott 2P reserve estimate of 0.12 mmbo 
is based only on reserves around the BCHW-1 well. The 
Group believes there may be further upside potential in the 
field and is considering two additional wells for later in 
2015 and the potential for fracture stimulation to improve 
productive rates. Oil production from Baichunas West will 
be trucked to Zhana Makat for any necessary processing 
and sales. Current plans are to progress the Baichunas 
West field to TPP in early 2015 and to FFD in early 2017.
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Eskene North TEST

Eskene North is a Triassic-aged field discovered in Block 
E in December 2012 by the ESKN-1 well. Testing began 
in May 2013 and the well initially produced at indicative 
rates of up to 25 bopd with no water. The ESKN-1 
well was treated with hydraulic fracture stimulation 
(“fracking”) in December 2013 in an effort to improve 
productivity, but the results were inconclusive.

An alternative approach to fracking is also being 
considered to improve productivity in both the ESKN-1 
well and the ESKN-2 well, which was drilled in October 
2013. Progression to TPP will depend on successful 
stimulation of these wells, in which case it is expected that 
further appraisal wells would also be drilled. Ryder Scott 
currently considers all of the estimated Original-Oil-In-
Place (“OOIP”) at Eskene North to be contingent resources 
pending successful stimulation of one of the wells. Oil 
produced from Eskene North during Test Production  
has been trucked to Zhamansor, but in commercial 
development it is expected that it would be trucked to 
Zhana Makat for processing and sales.

PROSPECTIVE RESOURCES
Post-salt potential
In addition to the continuing appraisal of the fields 
discovered by the Group to date, which includes the 
potentially material extension to the Zhana Makat field, 
there are several potential new appraisal targets located 
within the Group’s Blocks A&E Licence area, where data 
on reserves attributed to historic wells drilled in the Soviet 
era are being evaluated. Should this process conclude that 
there is potential to resume production from these wells 
and that potentially new wells could be drilled then the 
Ministry of Energy will be approached to grant permission 
for the Group to undertake further appraisal work. 

Pre-salt potential
As a part of its exploration period work programme, the 
Group has been granted permission to complete the drilling 
of NUR-1 on the Emba B prospect and, if it is successful, to 
drill the Kurzhem well on the Emba A prospect. The Emba 
A and Emba B prospects have a combined unrisked mean 
resource potential of approximately 1.1 billion barrels of oil 
equivalent and are part of a much larger potential trend of 
similar prospects. The estimated geological chance of 
success for NUR-1 is 29%.

The failure to finish the NUR-1 well and reach a target 
depth of 7,250 metres in the summer of 2012 was a major 
setback for the Group. Since then two milestones have been 
achieved which enable a fuller understanding of the 
problems encountered drilling the well through the salt and 
which will help ensure these problems can be avoided when 
drilling restarts at NUR-1. The first milestone was a 
thorough analysis, as part of the Kazakhstan Government 
sponsored Technical Roundtable in early 2013, of the 
causes of the problems encountered when drilling the well. 
The second was a thorough redesign of the well programme 
by Halliburton which concluded, in accordance with the 
findings of the Technical Roundtable, that although drilling 
risks remain, there is no technical reason why the NUR-1 
well cannot be successfully re-entered and drilled to the 
target depth of 7,250 metres.

The testing of the pre-salt potential of the Licence remains 
one of the primary objectives of the Group and there is a 
high degree of technical confidence that the well can be 
successfully drilled to target depth. Given, in particular, 
the support of the Government of Kazakhstan, which 
recognises that testing this deep play is of strategic 
importance to the Republic of Kazakhstan, finishing the 
NUR-1 well is achievable. Two significant obstacles need 
to be overcome, however, to enable the Group to move 
ahead with drilling NUR-1. Firstly, additional funding of 
approximately US$20 to 25 million is required, with 
funding for a potential follow up well also desirable in the 
event that NUR-1 is successful and makes a substantial 

BUSINESS 
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commercial discovery. Secondly, given that the exploration 
period of the Group’s Blocks A&E expires in March 2015, 
an extension of the exploration period is necessary to have 
the time to finish drilling and to facilitate rapid follow-up 
appraisal drilling should this well make a discovery. 
Naturally, such an extension would also make an 
investment in the NUR-1 play more attractive to third-
party investors.

A geomechanical study of the NUR-1 well conducted by 
Halliburton to re-evaluate the design parameters for the 
well was completed in June 2013 and a conceptual well 
design and revised drilling programme were subsequently 
prepared. The existing well bore would be used to a 
depth of approximately 5,300 metres, where a window 
would be cut in the existing casing and a new well would 
be drilled from that point. The new programme differs 
from the original in that it will use higher mud weights, 
and it incorporates the use of “expandable liners” to 
create the possibility of setting an additional protective 
string of casing should the well again encounter any 
drilling problems. 

Max Petroleum has signed a memorandum of 
understanding with Halliburton, under which they would 
manage the re-entry of NUR-1 on behalf of the Group, 
thus bringing their technical expertise and experience to 
bear on this challenging and highly prospective project. 
The NUR-1 re-entry plan that was designed by 
Halliburton was submitted to CaspiyMunaiGas, a design 
institute, in May 2014 and is going through the approvals 
process necessary before it can be used to drill the NUR-1 
well to target depth. 

Notwithstanding the Group’s commitment to completing 
NUR-1, it remains subject to securing the US$20 to 25 
million funding needed and successfully obtaining a 
licence extension prior to when the current permission 
expires in March 2015. Even if the funding were arranged 
in the near future, given the expiry date of the exploration 
portion of the licence it is unrealistic to expect that the 
well could be completed by March 2015 because of the 
lead time necessary to procure a suitable rig and the time 
necessary to complete the drilling itself. There is no 
guarantee that a licence extension to complete NUR-1 
beyond March 2015 will be given to the Group. 

In the event that the Subscription by AGR Energy did not 
close, and therefore the investment of approximately 
US$62.5 million was not made into the Group, the 
directors would have to evaluate the possibility that the 
pre-salt assets were impaired. In that scenario, faced with 
the dual uncertainties of funding and a contingent licence 
extension in March 2015, the directors have concluded 

that the most prudent course of action would be to book  
a one-time accounting charge to impair fully the carrying 
value of NUR-1 and associated pre-salt exploration costs.  
Under these circumstances, the Group would most likely 
take a non-cash impairment charge of approximately 
US$113 million. This charge would not affect the results 
for the year ending 31 March 2014, but instead would be 
recognised in the financial statements for the year ending 
31 March 2015. Therefore, the successful completion of 
the Subscription is a key assumption in continuing to 
recognise the US$113 million costs associated with the 
pre-salt in the Group’s balance sheet at 31 March 2014  
and thereafter.

Finishing the well and evaluating this high potential  
target remains a top priority for the Group. Given the 
transformational potential of a deep, pre-salt discovery,  
the Group believes it has a realistic chance of attracting  
the necessary funding, and securing the licence extension 
required to finish drilling NUR-1.
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The Group finances its appraisal and development 
activities using a combination of cash on hand, operating 
cash flow generated from the sale of crude oil production, 
borrowings under its loan from SB Sberbank JSC 
(“Sberbank” and the “Sberbank Loan”) and additional 
debt or equity financing as required. 

The Group has eight post-salt discoveries with two fields 
producing under FFD (Zhana Makat and Borkyldakty), 
one field under TPP (Asanketken), and the remaining fields 
at varying stages of appraisal and development. As the 
Group continues to appraise and develop its discoveries 
they progress from Test Production into TPP, where they 
are able to resume continuous production, and then move 
from TPP to FFD, where 80% of the production is 
available to sell on export markets for a substantially 
higher price per barrel. The Group is currently producing 
approximately 3,400 bopd from fields on continuous 
production (Zhana Makat, Borkyldakty and Asanketken), 
which generates over US$8 million per month in revenue. 
The Group estimates the combined productive capacity of 
the wells drilled to date at the Sagiz West field to be in 
excess of 1,000 bopd, based on production rates achieved 
from these wells before some of them were shut-in when 
their Test Production periods ended earlier in 2014. The 
TPP project for Sagiz West is currently being prepared for 
submission to the Ministry of Energy. The Company’s  
best estimate for the granting of TPP, which will allow 
continuous production from the Sagiz West field to 
commence, is Q2 2015. From now until then, the Group 
expects its total production to average around 3,400 bopd 
from wells drilled to date. The directors believe that 
progression of the Sagiz West field into TPP and the 
commencement of continuous production of that field  
is an important milestone for the Group and the Board is 
working to expedite the progress of the application through 
the required official approvals as quickly as possible.

The Group is implementing a cost-cutting initiative to 
reduce administrative costs. The initiative recognises the 
Group’s shift from exploration and development to 
primarily production with a focus on maximising cash 
flow and is focused on a reduction in corporate overhead, 
including downsizing its London office and closing its 
Houston office, scheduled for Q3 2014. The cost-cutting 
measures are expected to generate recurring annual savings 
of approximately US$4 million in administrative costs.

As of 19 August 2014, the Group has US$85.9 million 
outstanding under the Sberbank Loan. The Group was in 
technical breach of certain banking covenants related to 
production and reserves at 31 March 2014. Accordingly, 
the entire loan amount has been classified within current 
liabilities in the Group balance sheet. The Group is 

LIQUIDITY 
AND CAPITAL 
RESOURCES

US$73.29 per bbl
average realised selling price during  
the year ended 31 March 2014

US$4 million
expected annual saving of administrative costs 
to be generated from current cost-cutting initiative



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 2014 17

STRATEGIC  
REPORT

GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION

currently working with Sberbank to reset the production 
and reserves covenants to reflect the lowered expectations 
of the Group following the Ryder Scott 2P reserves 
estimate of 9.5 mmboe as at 31 March 2014. The Group is 
current on all interest and principal payments due under 
the Sberbank Loan, which have been made when due with 
no late payments.

After Sagiz West commences TPP, expected in Q2 2015, 
the Group estimates that it would need to incur 
approximately US$20 million in additional capital 
expenditure through the end of calendar year 2016 to 
develop the field, including drilling 13 additional wells  
and constructing ancillary facilities and infrastructure 
necessary to advance the field through TPP. An additional 
US$10 million is budgeted for the subsequent development 
of Sagiz West after FFD status is achieved, estimated  
for 2017. The development of Sagiz West will enable the 
field to become a substantial production asset. The Group 
estimates that it would need to incur a further US$18 
million in capital expenditure to develop its other post-salt 
fields through 31 December 2016, including drilling a 
step-out appraisal well at ZMA-E8 to test the Zhana 
Makat South East extension. In the event that ZMA-E8  
is successful, further capital expenditure would be  
required to develop the extension and achieve FFD status. 
Future capital requirements can be difficult to predict 
accurately and can be materially impacted by the results  
of the Group’s ongoing evaluation of its current  
post-salt discoveries.

The Group intends to fund its post-salt capital programme 
using cash flow from operations. However, if the Group is 
to continue the planned discretionary post-salt capital 
programme set out above, the directors have identified an 
additional capital requirement of US$5 million through 
31 December 2014 and up to an additional US$10 million 
during calendar year 2015. 

In May 2013, the Group received Kazakhstan regulatory 
approval of an extension to the exploration period of the 
Blocks A&E Licence that allowed the Group to continue 
drilling the NUR-1 well on the Emba B prospect until 
March 2015. The extension also provided the Group with 
an option to drill the Kurzhem well on the Emba A 
prospect in the event that NUR-1 was successful. The 
Group estimates it will cost approximately US$20 to 25 
million in additional capital to finish drilling the NUR-1 
well, which will not be funded out of the Group’s existing 
capital resources. Given the lead time necessary to 
procure a suitable rig and the time necessary to complete 
the drilling itself, a further licence extension beyond 
March 2015 is now also required in order to finish 
drilling NUR-1.

The capital infusion arising from the Subscription with 
AGR Energy of approximately US$62.5 million should 
enable the Group to fund its planned capital programme  
to develop its post-salt fields and maximise reserves and 
production. In addition, Max Petroleum would be in a 
strengthened position to attract financial or industry 
partners to help finish its pre-salt NUR-1 well and to 
secure an extension of the exploration period of its Blocks 
A&E Licence to enable it to have time to finish drilling 
NUR-1 and, if it is successful, the Kurzhem well. 
Completion of the Subscription is subject to a number  
of conditions, including approval by the Company’s 
shareholders and receiving regulatory approvals from  
the Government in Kazakhstan. 

The risk that the necessary approvals to complete the 
Subscription are not received creates an uncertainty about 
whether the Subscription proceeds of US$62.5 million will 
be received by the Group. In the event that the necessary 
approvals are not received and the Subscription (or a 
similar infusion) does not proceed, there is an uncertainty 
whether additional debt or equity financing will be 
available. Further, the Group is due to make another 
US$13.1 million of principal payments under the Sberbank 
Loan through 31 March 2015, comprising US$3.1 million 
in September 2014, US$3.3 million in December 2014,  
and US$6.7 million in March 2015. Thereafter principal 
repayments are US$6.6 million per quarter through 
November 2017. In the event that no additional funding is 
procured, it is expected the financial constraints imposed 
on the Group will necessitate the continued suspension of 
its capital programme in order for it to continue to meet its 
obligations under the Sberbank Loan. Based on the 
Group’s cash flow forecasts and assuming the suspension 
of its capital programme, the directors believe that the 
Group will be able to continue servicing its interest and 
principal payments under the Sberbank Loan as they fall 
due. However, these forecasts are necessarily based on the 
achievement of timing and targets, some of which, 
although believed to be reasonable by the directors, are 
nevertheless outside the Group’s direct control. If 
significant delays or underperformance of production or 
revenue targets were to take place, these may render the 
Group’s cash resources insufficient. 

Based on the Group’s cash flow forecasts, however, the 
directors believe that the combination of its current and 
expected future production and resulting net cash flows 
from operations, borrowings under the Sberbank Loan, 
and other potential sources of debt and equity capital lead 
to a reasonable expectation that the Group will continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For these 
reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing these financial statements. 
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KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

The Group’s key financial and 
performance indicators during 
the year were as follows:

2014 2013 2012

% Change 
2014/
2013

Production (bopd) 3,899 3,346 2,807 17%

Crude oil sales volumes (mbo) 1,370 1,234 1,004 11%
 Export sales volumes (mbo) 728 620 50 17%
 Domestic sales volumes (mbo) 642 614 954 5%

Oil sales revenue (US$’000) 100,430 93,303 50,243 8%
 Export sales revenue (US$’000) 75,360 64,108 6,016 18%
 Domestic sales revenue (US$’000) 25,070 29,195 44,227 (14)%

Average realised price (US$ per bbl) 73.29 75.64 50.04 (3)%
 Average realised export price (US$ per bbl) 103.49 103.51 120.32 0%
 Average realised domestic price (US$ per bbl) 39.04 47.54 46.36 (18)%

Operating cost per bbl1 (US$ per bbl) 39.44 39.17 17.39 1%
 Production cost (US$ per bbl) 8.87 9.42 8.22 (6)%
 Selling and transportation cost (US$ per bbl) 10.78 11.55 6.35 (7)%
 Mineral extraction tax (US$ per bbl) 3.29 3.17 1.20 4%
 Export rent tax/export customs duty (US$ per bbl) 16.50 15.02 1.62 10%

Adjusted EBITDA2 (US$’000) 34,471 31,491 20,342 9%

Cash generated from operations (US$’000) 33,984 40,402 28,273 (16)%

Total proved and probable (2P) reserves3 (mbo) 9,494 10,869 10,633 (13)%
 Proved reserves3 (mbo) 5,465 4,810 5,122 14%
 Probable reserves3 (mbo) 4,029 6,059 5,511 (34)%

Possible reserves3 (mbo) 899 3,337 3,980 (73)%
1 Operating cost equals cost of sales less depreciation, depletion and amortisation (see note 6 to the accompanying financial statements). The Group believes it is useful to its 

shareholders to present this information in a modified format.
2  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit/(loss) before finance income, finance expense, income tax expense, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, share-based payment 

expense, exploration and appraisal costs, restructuring costs and impairment losses. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS performance measure with no standard meaning 
under IFRS, and is reconciled to the income statement in note 39 to the accompanying financial statements.

3  Reserves estimated by Ryder Scott, the Group’s competent person as at 31 March 2014, 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012, respectively.
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Revenue 
The Group generated US$100.4 million in revenue from 
the sale of approximately 1,370,000 bbls of crude oil 
during the year, or US$73.29 per bbl (2013: US$93.3 
million on sales of 1,234,000 bbls of crude oil, or 
US$75.64 per bbl). The Group achieved export sales  
of 728,000 bbls generating US$75.4 million in revenue,  
or US$103.49 per bbl (2013: 620,000 bbls generating 
US$64.1 million in revenue, or US$103.51 per bbl). 
Domestic sales totalled 642,000 bbls of crude oil 
generating US$25.1 million in revenue, or US$39.04 per 
bbl (2013: 614,000 bbls generating US$29.2 million in 
revenue, or US$47.54 per bbl). 

Sales revenue grew 8% to US$100.4 million (2013: US$93.3 
million) as a result of an 11% increase in sales volumes, 
partially offset by weaker prices received on domestic sales. 
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group drilled 
five development wells at the Zhana Makat field and 
completed a gathering system in the southern portion of the 
field to tie in the new wells, contributing to an increase in 
the field’s average daily production from approximately 
2,100 bopd during the year ended 31 March 2013 to 
approximately 2,500 bopd during the year ended 2014. The 
Group also generated increased production at Asanketken 
following the commencement of TPP in May 2013, which 
enabled continuous production from the field.

Production from the Group’s discoveries in Test Production 
and TPP is sold exclusively in Kazakhstan on the domestic 
market until each field is approved for FFD. FFD approval 
gives the Group the right to sell 80% of a field’s production 
on the export market, enabling it to achieve a substantially 
higher selling price per barrel. Export sales are subject  
to export rent tax, export customs duty and higher rates  
of mineral extraction tax and transportation costs, but the 
overall after-tax netbacks are expected to be US$15 to  
25 per bbl higher than comparable domestic sales. 

US$8.87 per bbl
production cost down 6% year-on-year

1,370 mbo
sales volume up 11% year-on-year

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The Group recorded a loss of US$76.8 million, or US$0.04 
per ordinary share, for the year ended 31 March 2014, 
compared to a loss of US$10.1 million, or US$0.01 per 
ordinary share, during the prior year. This loss included a 
non-cash impairment charge for the Group’s post-salt 
exploration asset of US$64.6 million. No dividends have 
been paid or proposed for the year (2013: none).
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Cost of sales
Cost of sales increased by 12% from US$70.1 million,  
or US$56.87 per bbl, in the year ended 31 March 2013  
to US$78.9 million, or US$57.56 per bbl, in the year ended 
31 March 2014. Cost of sales includes depreciation, 
depletion and amortisation of US$24.8 million (2013: 
US$21.8 million). Cost of sales before depreciation, 
depletion and amortisation was US$54.0 million, or 
US$39.44 per bbl (2013: US$48.3 million, or US$39.17 per 
bbl). This includes production costs of US$12.2 million,  
or US$8.87 per barrel (2013: US$11.6 million, or US$9.42 
per bbl), selling and transportation costs of US$14.8 
million, or US$10.78 per bbl (2013: US$14.3 million, or 
US$11.55 per bbl), and taxes on the production and sale  
of hydrocarbons of US$27.1 million, or US$19.79 per bbl 
(2013: US$22.4 million, or US$18.19 per bbl). The taxes 
include export rent tax, export customs duty and mineral 
extraction tax. In April 2013, the export customs duty  
on crude oil was raised from US$40 to 60 per tonne,  
an increase of approximately US$2.70 per bbl. Since  
31 March 2014 the applicable rate has increased further  
to US$80 per tonne.

On a per barrel basis, production costs and selling and 
transportation costs decreased by 6% and 7%, 
respectively, as several operational cost reduction initiatives 
implemented during the year began to be reflected in the 
Group’s results. These initiatives included reducing the 
distance that oil is trucked from Asanketken by using a 
nearby loading terminal and reducing water haulage costs 
by installing water disposal facilities at the Asanketken 
field to deal with the associated water extracted during oil 
production. Transportation costs are expected to decrease 
further over the forthcoming year, following the 
commissioning of a new pipeline and terminal facility in 
June 2014, which connects the Zhana Makat field to the 
regional oil pipeline approximately 10 km away.

After cost of sales, gross profit was US$21.6 million,  
or US$15.73 per bbl (2013: US$23.2 million, or  
US$18.77 per bbl).

Post‑salt exploration asset impairment
Having completed the drilling of its post-salt exploration 
portfolio and carried out an extensive appraisal drilling 
programme during the year ended 31 March 2014, the 
Group has now largely evaluated the post-salt potential of 
Blocks A&E and is in a position to make a determination 
about the recoverability of the associated exploration and 
appraisal asset allocated to the post-salt, which amounted 
to US$64.6 million at 31 March 2014. This exploration 
and appraisal asset is associated with the historic 
development of the post-salt portfolio, including an 
allocation of licence acquisition costs, 3D seismic, 

geological and geophysical studies and capitalised interest. 
Given the completion of post-salt exploration drilling, the 
resulting 2P reserves at 31 March 2014 of 9.5 mmboe as 
estimated by the Group’s competent person, Ryder Scott, 
and the limited remaining potential for the growth of 
post-salt reserves, the Group has performed an impairment 
test of the US$64.6 million exploration and appraisal asset 
allocated to the post-salt. 

Considering the many uncertainties facing the Group, 
including the Subscription which is subject to shareholder 
approval and approval of the Government of Kazakhstan, 
and a current funding shortfall causing the temporary 
suspension of discretionary capital expenditures necessary 
to increase the reserves and production of its post-salt 
fields, the directors have taken the view that it is not 
appropriate to carry forward the US$64.6 million 
exploration asset related to its post-salt fields in the 
balance sheet. As a result, the Group has recognised a 
US$64.6 million impairment of its post-salt exploration 
and appraisal assets in its financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2014.

Restructuring costs
The Group has established a restructuring provision of 
US$3.8 million as at 31 March 2014, for severance and 
other transitional expenses associated with various cost 
reduction measures. These include the closure of the 
Group’s Houston office, the reduction in size and cost of 
the Group’s London office, and a reduction in senior 
management and administrative personnel across the 
Group’s operations.

Operating loss
The Group’s operating loss for the year was US$65.8 
million (2013: US$1.2 million) which is stated after 
non-cash impairment losses of US$64.6 million, 
administrative costs of US$14.9 million (2013: US$17.3 
million), including share-based payment expense of US$2.7 
million (2013: US$3.6 million), and exploration and 
appraisal costs of US$4.1 million (2013: US$7.0 million), 
including dry hole costs of US$1.5 million and a US$2.2 
million write down of inventories of drilling supplies. The 
Group’s operating loss includes aggregate depreciation, 
depletion and amortisation of US$25.1 million (2013: 
US$22.1 million).

Adjusted EBITDA, defined as profit/(loss) before finance 
income, finance expense, income tax expense, 
depreciation, depletion and amortisation, share-based 
payment expense, exploration and appraisal costs, 
restructuring costs and impairment losses, increased  
by 9% from US$31.5 million during the year ended  

US$10.78 per bbl
selling and transportation costs  
down 7% year-on-year
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31 March 2013 to US$34.5 million during the current 
fiscal year. This primarily reflects the increase in 
production and sales volumes during the year. 

Taxation
Income tax expense for the year was US$5.1 million, 
comprising US$4.4 million of deferred tax and US$0.7 
million of current tax (2013: US$4.9 million of deferred 
tax and US$0.1 million of current tax). 

The US$0.7 million of current tax relates to tax claims 
made by the Kazakhstan tax authorities in relation to the 
tax years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 
2008. While the Group considers the tax claims are 
without merit and is in the process of appealing the claims 
with the relevant tax authorities and through the courts, in 
accordance with the decisions of the courts to date, the 
Company has paid the 2007 claim in full and has paid a 
portion of the 2008 claim. The Group has recognised 
liabilities in these financial statements for the expected 
remaining cash outflows if it is unsuccessful in its appeals. 
The aggregate expense recognised in these financial 
statements in relation to the tax claims is US$1.8 million, 
comprising US$0.7 million of tax, US$0.7 million of 
interest and US$0.4 million of penalties, recorded within 
income tax expense, finance costs and administrative 
expenses, respectively.

Before taking account of the US$64.6 million impairment of 
the Group’s post-salt exploration and appraisal assets, the 
Group recognised a deferred tax expense of US$9.6 million, 
including US$6.8 million related to the effect of the 
devaluation of the Kazakhstan tenge on future fixed asset 
tax deductions and brought forward tax losses. The deferred 
tax effect of the impairment is US$4.5 million, resulting in a 
net US$5.1 million deferred tax expense for the year.

The Group’s net deferred tax liability of US$9.2 million 
arises primarily as tax allowances received to date in 
Kazakhstan for exploration and appraisal expenditure, oil 
and gas properties and property, plant and equipment have 
exceeded the depreciation, depletion and amortisation 
charged in the financial statements. 

Financing and capital structure
Cash flow
The Group’s cash generated from operations was US$34.0 
million (2013: US$40.4 million), consisting of net revenue 
from the production and sale of crude oil, offset by the 
Group’s general and administrative expenses. Before taking 
working capital movements into account, operating cash 
flow was US$34.9 million (2013: US$31.5 million). 

Net cash used in investing activities was US$47.6 million 
(2013: US$46.4 million), which mainly relates to capital 
expenditure on the Group’s exploration, appraisal and 
development programmes, including 35 post-salt wells 
drilled during the year.

Net cash generated from financing activities was US$13.1 
million (2013: US$6.4 million), comprising US$25.4 
million of proceeds from the drawdown of the Sberbank 
Loan, offset by US$2.0 million of loan repayments and 
US$10.3 million of interest and finance costs (2013: 
US$66.6 million of proceeds from borrowings offset by 
US$50.0 million repaid to Macquarie, US$3.4 million paid 
to bondholders, US$1.0 million of debt issuance costs 
relating to the Sberbank Loan and US$5.8 million of 
interest and finance costs).

As at 31 March 2014, the Group held unrestricted cash 
balances of US$0.5 million (2013: US$1.8 million). 

Borrowings
In December 2012, the Group closed a new secured US$90 
million credit facility with Sberbank (the “Sberbank Loan”) 
as part of a comprehensive restructuring of its outstanding 
debt facilities, comprising the refinancing of its previous 
credit facility with Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie” 
and the “Macquarie Facility”) and the restructuring of its 
convertible bonds (the “Bonds”). In August 2013, the 
Group received the requisite Kazakhstan regulatory 
approvals and the remaining outstanding Bonds, which had 
a carrying value of US$26.7 million, were converted into 
ordinary shares of the Company. 

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group drew 
down the remaining balance of the Sberbank Loan to fund 
capital expenditures on the Group’s post-salt appraisal and 
development programme. In March 2014, the Group 
commenced quarterly repayments of the Sberbank Loan, 
which matures in November 2017.

Since 30 September 2013, the Group has been in technical 
breach of certain banking covenants related to production 
and reserves. The Group is currently working with 
Sberbank to reset the production and reserves covenants  
to reflect the lowered expectations of the Group, following 
the Ryder Scott estimation of total 2P reserves of  
9.5 mmboe as at 31 March 2014.

FINANCIAL  
REVIEW
CONTINUED
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The Group is current on all interest and principal payments 
due under the Sberbank Loan, which have been made 
when due with no late payments.

Share capital
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company 
issued 357,571,134 ordinary shares as a result of the 
mandatory conversion of the remaining outstanding Bonds 
and accrued interest into shares at a price of 5p per share. 
The issued ordinary share capital of the Company 
following this allotment consisted of 2,175,305,483 
ordinary shares with voting rights attached (one vote per 
share). 

Share options
At 31 March 2014, 194.5 million options were outstanding 
with a weighted average exercise price of 7.2p (2013: 210.3 
million options with a weighted average exercise price of 7.5p). 

As a result of the employee terminations made as part of 
the Group’s cost-cutting initiative, 8.7 million unvested 
options held by leavers were forfeited during the year 
ended 31 March 2014, with a further 16.3 million 
unvested options due to be forfeited after 31 March 2014 
as the affected employees leave the Group. In addition, 
4.7 million vested options held by the affected leavers  
are due to expire within 12 months of their leaving dates, 
if unexercised.

Subsequent to 31 March 2014, additional options to 
subscribe for 89 million new ordinary shares of the 
Company were granted to the Directors, officers and 
certain employees of the Group on 27 May 2014 at an 
exercise price of 1.2p per share, of which one third are 
exercisable in equal amounts on the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the date of grant. The options have a term 
of four years and any unexercised options will expire on  
27 May 2018.

Financial instruments
The financial instruments of the Group comprise cash 
resources, trade receivables and trade payables arising 
directly from operational activity, as well as the Group’s 
Sberbank Loan, described in note 24 to the Group’s 
financial statements. 

Capital expenditure
Group capital expenditures for the year on an accruals 
basis totalled US$59.4 million (2013: US$48.3 million), 
comprising US$10.7 million for exploration and appraisal 
expenditure (2013: US$31.0 million), US$39.9 million for 
the development of oil and gas properties (2013: US$13.8 
million) and US$8.8 million for property, plant and 
equipment (2013: US$3.5 million).

Exploration and appraisal expenditure of US$10.7 million 
includes US$1.5 million relating to two post-salt 
exploration wells drilled during the year, US$1.9 million 
related to the continued appraisal of the Eskene North 
discovery and US$6.0 million of capitalised borrowing 
costs (2013: US$31.0 million, including US$13.8 million 
relating to the NUR-1 pre-salt well, US$9.2 million 
relating to five post-salt exploration wells and US$7.1 
million of capitalised borrowing costs). 

Oil and gas development expenditure of US$39.9 million 
includes US$33.4 million relating to the cost of 33 post-salt 
appraisal and development wells drilled during the year and 
US$6.5 million of capitalised Geological and Geophysical 
(“G&G”) costs (2013: US$13.8 million, including the cost 
of three post-salt appraisal and development wells and 
US$6.4 million of capitalised G&G costs).

Expenditure of US$8.8 million on property, plant and 
equipment includes the cost of constructing the Group’s 
new oil terminal at Makat, the associated pipeline from the 
Zhana Makat field, the gathering system implemented in 
the southern portion of the Zhana Makat field to tie-in 
new wells, as well as appraisal and test production facilities 
across the Group’s post-salt fields.
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The Group is subject to various risks relating to political, 
economic, legal, social, industry, business and financial 
conditions. The following risk factors, which are not 
exhaustive, are particularly relevant to the Group’s 
business activities:

Volatility of prices for oil and gas
The supply, demand and prices for oil and gas are volatile 
and are influenced by factors beyond the Group’s control. 
These factors include global demand and supply, exchange 
rates, interest and inflation rates and political events. A 
significant prolonged decline in oil and gas prices could 
impact the viability of the Group’s capital expenditure 
programme, including its exploration, appraisal and 
development activities. Additionally, production from 
geographically isolated countries may be sold at a discount 
to current market prices.

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues and cash flows 
will come from the sale of oil and gas. If oil and gas prices 
should fall below and remain below the Group’s cost of 
production for any sustained period, the Group may 
experience losses and may be forced to curtail or suspend 
some or all of its production, at the time such conditions 
exist. In addition, the Group would also have to assess the 
economic impact of low oil and gas prices on its ability to 
recover any losses it may incur during that period and on 
its ability to maintain adequate reserves.

As the Group does not currently hedge its crude oil 
production it is exposed to the risk of oil price movements. 
As more fields enter FFD and daily production sold into 
the export market increases, management may reassess 
whether it should enter into price hedging contracts in 
order to achieve more predictable cash flows from its 
future crude oil production.

Exploration risk
The exploration for, and the development of, hydrocarbons 
is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. These 
risks include the uncertainty that the Group will discover 
sufficient oil or gas resources to exploit economically or 
that the Group will be able to exploit the discovered 
resource as intended. Drilling may not result in the 
discovery of economically viable hydrocarbon resources 
either due to insufficient resources being discovered, the 
resources not being of sufficient quality to be developed 
economically or the cost of any development being in 
excess of that required for an economic project. 

Environmental risk
The oil and gas industry is subject to environmental 
hazards, such as oil spills, gas leaks, ruptures and discharges 
of petroleum products and hazardous substances. These 
environmental hazards could expose the Group to material 
liabilities for property damages, personal injuries, or other 
environmental harm, including costs of investigating and 
remediating contaminated properties. The Group is subject 
to stringent environmental laws in Kazakhstan with regard 
to its oil and gas operations. Failure to comply with such 
laws and regulations could subject the Group to material 
administrative, civil, or criminal penalties or other liabilities. 
Additionally, compliance with these laws may, from time  
to time, result in increased costs to the Group’s operations, 
impact production, or increase the costs of potential 
acquisitions. The Group was compliant with all material 
environmental and health and safety laws during the year.

Risk of operating oil and gas properties
The oil and gas business involves certain operating 
hazards, such as well blowouts, cratering, explosions, 
uncontrollable flows of oil, gas or well fluids, fires, 
pollution, and releases of toxic substances. Any of these 
operating hazards could cause serious injuries, fatalities, 
or property damage, which could expose the Group to 
liabilities. The settlement of these liabilities could 
materially impact the funds available for the exploration 
and development of the Group’s oil and gas properties. 
The Group maintains insurance against many potential 
losses and liabilities arising from its operations in 
accordance with customary industry practices, but the 
Group’s insurance coverage cannot protect it against all 
operational risks. 

Foreign currency risk
The Group’s operating costs, export revenues, and debt 
financing facilities are principally denominated in US 
dollars. The Group’s UK Plc office costs and share 
consideration are in British pounds. Also, some costs are 
incurred and settled in tenge, the local currency of 
Kazakhstan. Any changes in the relative exchange rates 
among US dollars, tenge and British pounds could 
positively or negatively affect the Group’s results. 
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Business in Kazakhstan
Amongst the risks that face the Group in conducting 
business and operations in Kazakhstan are:

 — Economic instability, including in other countries or the 
global economy that could lead to consequences such as 
hyperinflation, currency fluctuations and a decline in 
per capita income in the Kazakhstan economy.
 — Insufficient or underdeveloped physical infrastructure. 
 — Governmental and political instability that could 
disrupt, delay or curtail economic and regulatory 
reform, increase centralised authority or result in 
nationalisation. 
 — Social instability from any ethnic, religious, historical or 
other divisions that could lead to a rise in nationalism, 
social disturbances or conflict.
 — Uncertainties in the developing legal and regulatory 
environment, including, but not limited to, conflicting 
laws, decrees and regulations applicable to the oil and 
gas industry and foreign investment.
 — Unlawful or arbitrary action against the Group and its 
interests by the regulatory authorities, including the 
suspension or revocation of its Licence or failure to 
approve extensions or other permits necessary for the 
Group to continue operating its assets.
 — Lack of independence and experience of the judiciary, 
difficulty in enforcing court or arbitration decisions and 
governmental discretion in enforcing claims. 
 — Laws restricting foreign investment in the oil and gas 
industry.
 — Regulations which include pre-approval from the 
National Bank of Kazakhstan for the issuance of equity, 
as well as obtaining a pre-emption waiver from the 
Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
(previously the Ministry of Oil and Gas).

Taxation
The tax environment in Kazakhstan is subject to regular 
change and varying interpretations. As the tax law evolves, 
instances of inconsistent opinions between local, regional 
and national tax authorities are not unusual. Non-
compliance with laws and regulations in Kazakhstan, as 
interpreted by the Kazakhstan authorities, may lead to 
severe penalties and interest which can amount to multiples 
of any assessed taxes. The uncertainty of interpretation 
and application of tax laws, which are subject to regular 
change, creates a risk that the ultimate amount of taxes, 
penalties and interest, if any, may be in excess of the 
amounts recognised to date, which could have a material 
adverse impact on the Group’s cash flows, results and 
financial position. Management believes that it is in 
compliance with the relevant legislation affecting its 
operations, and that its tax affairs are appropriately 
accounted for in these financial statements. 

Legal systems
Kazakhstan, and other countries in which the Group may 
transact business in the future, have or may have legal 
systems that are less well developed than in the United 
Kingdom. This could result in risks such as:

 — Potential difficulties in obtaining effective legal redress 
in the courts of such jurisdictions, whether in respect 
of a breach of contract, law or regulation, including an 
ownership dispute.
 — A higher degree of discretion on the part of government 
authorities.
 — The lack of judicial or administrative guidance on 
interpreting applicable rules and regulations.
 — Inconsistencies or conflicts between and within various 
laws, regulations, decrees, orders and resolutions.
 — Relative inexperience of the judiciary and courts in  
such matters.

In certain jurisdictions, the commitment of local business 
people, government officials and agencies and the judicial 
system to abide by legal requirements and negotiated 
agreements may be more uncertain, creating particular 
concerns with respect to licences and agreements for 
business. These may be susceptible to revision or 
cancellation and legal redress may be uncertain or 
delayed. There can be no assurance that joint ventures, 
licences, licence applications or other legal arrangements 
will not be adversely affected by the jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to 
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing its liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquid funds and 
available debt and equity capital to meet its liabilities when 
due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group has prepared cash flow forecasts which extend 
beyond 12 months from the date of signing of these 
financial statements which indicate that it has sufficient 
financing in order to fund its administrative and operating 
expenses and service the interest and amortisation 
payments under the Sberbank Loan. 

The Group carefully monitors and manages its liquidity 
with regular cash forecasting. Further details of the 
Group’s liquidity position are set out in the Liquidity and 
Capital Resources disclosure on page 16.
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Commitment to Kazakhstan
2014 is the tenth year Max Petroleum has operated in 
Kazakhstan. The Group’s principal asset is the Blocks 
A&E Licence in western Kazakhstan, where its 
production, appraisal and exploration activities are 
carried out by the Group’s predominantly Kazakhstani 
employees, technical and operational management, as well 
as suppliers and contractors that are also for the most part 
locally owned and operated. The Group has built a team of 
highly skilled and experienced staff which enables it to 
successfully navigate the regulatory process, gaining 
permission to drill wells, produce from them and then 
advance new discoveries through to the stage where they 
can export oil. This team also manages operations 
including the procurement of necessary equipment as well 
as selling the oil produced into the domestic and export 
markets. The Group has consistently invested in developing 
its employees through on and off the job training, and 
promoting from within the organisation. As a result it 
has built up a strong and cohesive team able to efficiently 
exploit the oil reserves the Group has already found, 
and seek out additional reserves by both appraisal 
and exploration activities. The objectives of efficiently 
producing oil from existing reserves and seeking to explore 
to discover strategically important new reserves are fully 
in line with the objectives of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Employees
Max Petroleum has a highly capable operational and 
technical team in Kazakhstan with wide responsibility for 
regulatory affairs and oil sales and marketing as well as 
exploration and production operations and finance. Our 
team members are involved in the local business community 
through membership in Kazakhstan-based oil and gas trade 
organisations, British-Kazakh organisations, State and 
academic geological organisations, local chambers of 
commerce and local development bodies. The Group 
employs people with extensive finance and business 
expertise as well as those with geological and technical 
knowledge, who are involved in the ongoing consideration 
of tax and industry related legislation.

The current team has managed the growth and transition of 
the Group from an explorer to a multiple field operation 
with extensive appraisal, development and exploration 
operations as well as growing production. The successful 
progress of producing fields through the regulatory process 
in Kazakhstan has so far brought two fields, Zhana Makat 
and Borkyldakty, into FFD thereby allowing the Group to 
export 80% of their production, as well as Asanketken to 
TPP. In 2014 it is planned that Asanketken will progress to 
FFD and in 2015 that Sagiz West, East Kyzylzhar I and 
Uytas will progress to TPP.

Max Petroleum more than satisfies official targets for 
employment of Kazakhstan nationals, with 97% of staff 
employed in Kazakhstan in calendar year 2013 being 
citizens of Kazakhstan. At a managerial level, most 
positions are filled by local employees and virtually all 
skilled, professional and supervisory positions are held by 
nationals of Kazakhstan. The long-term commitment to 
developing local skills rather than relying on expatriate 
employees on short-term contracts has also meant that in 
general skill levels are high across the Group. In total, 54% 
of all employees are technically skilled, or in professional or 
managerial roles. It has also been a target to retain staff that 
have relevant and high quality experience and, as a result, 
69% of all employees have been with the Group for five 
years or more, with 92% employed for more than a year.

The Group’s employees in Kazakhstan, and elsewhere, are 
incentivised through performance-linked remuneration 
and share options.

Education and training
Provision of education and training for our employees and 
in the wider community is an important objective for the 
Group and is of particular interest to the Government of 
Kazakhstan which encourages companies operating in the 
oil and gas sector to invest in training and mandates that 
they commit funding equal to 1% of their work 
programme to investment in spending on training.  This 
investment includes providing help to schools in local 
communities where the Group operates and also support 
for industry-wide training at universities and institutes in 
Kazakhstan, as well as at universities outside Kazakhstan 
offering specialist courses for Kazakhstani students. Max 
Petroleum is working with well-known educational 
institutions and centres, including Almaty Technical 
University, Atyrau Technical University, Kazakh British 
Technical University in Kazakhstan, Ufa National Oil 
Technical University and Gubkin Technical University in 
Russia and the University of Dundee and University of 
Leicester in the UK. The Group also sends students to a 
number of smaller technical colleges in Kazakhstan. 
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In addition, the Group invests in individual and group 
professional training in order to provide employees with 
the most up-to-date technical and safety training, as well 
as language and computer courses and mandatory HSE 
certification. In total, 99% of all employees across the 
Group received training of some kind during 2013.

The investment by the Group in formal training 
programmes for Kazakhstani employees and support of 
local educational organisations totalled US$804,000 in 
calendar year 2013, equivalent to US$6,100 per employee, 
up from US$651,000 in calendar year 2012, equivalent to 
US$6,195 per employee. In 2014, the Group intends to 
increase spending on training further to comply with its 
contractual obligations to invest in training in line with the 
scope of the Group’s activities. This will include training 
for employees and support of educational institutions and 
local communities in their training needs.

The Group carries out regular internal communications 
programmes for employees and key suppliers to ensure 
compliance with the Group’s policies and procedures 
regarding health and safety best practices and with its 
bribery and anti-corruption policy, which includes the 
availability of a whistle-blowing hotline. There are also 
regular compliance courses for all relevant employees on 
their obligations regarding the treatment of confidential 
and market sensitive information.

Community
Max Petroleum’s ongoing social investment programme as 
required by its Blocks A&E Licence has contributed a total 
of US$5.7 million since 2006, including US$361,000 in the 
last year. In addition to the amounts required by its Licence, 
the Group has also made additional, voluntary charitable 
contributions, totalling nearly US$300,000 since 2006. 
The main community activities that the Group supports 
on a voluntary basis are social programmes to support and 
recognise retired military veterans and for the maintenance 
and improvement of community buildings, kindergartens 
and water supply in the Makat area in western Kazakhstan. 
This level of local community involvement also helps 
support the Group’s recruitment and retention of key staff, 
encourages support from the local community and shows 
the Group’s longstanding commitment to being a 
responsible corporate citizen in Kazakhstan. 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2014, the Group 
also paid a total of US$31.6 million (up from US$18.4 
million in 2013) in Kazakhstan taxes that directly and 
indirectly go to fund a range of local and national 
government programmes.

Local content
Max Petroleum continues to focus on maximising the level 
of its local content, and during calendar year 2013 the 
Group procured 53% of goods, 87% of works and 90% 
of its services from certified Kazakhstan suppliers, a level 
that has been recognised by the Contract Agency under the 
Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan. These 
levels are ahead of the Group’s official commitment of 
30% for local procurement of goods and 70% for works 
and services.

The Group fully supports the principles and intent behind 
the local content regulations and continues to work with 
the Kazakhstan authorities directly and with industry 
bodies to make the application of the regulations more 
practical.

Health, safety and environment
Max Petroleum seeks to comply with both Kazakhstan 
and internationally recognised standards in its systems and 
to ensure safe practices for the benefit of its employees, the 
local community and the broader physical environment.

The terms of the Group’s Licence and its compliance 
with regulations in Kazakhstan mandate high operational 
safety standards. The Group further requires that all of 
its suppliers and operating partners fully comply with its 
health, safety and environment policies and this is a key 
criterion in vendor selection and evaluation.

On environmental matters, the Group has policies 
requiring strict adherence to the law, employs an 
environmental manager to coordinate its activities in this 
area, and complies with the detailed terms of its Blocks 
A&E Licence. The Group seeks to mitigate and minimise 
any impact of its operations on the environment, including 
the conducting of pre and post environmental impact 
assessments on all of its operations, and the constant 
monitoring of wells drilled on its Licence area prior to 
its acquisition. The Group practices 100% gas utilisation 
during the production stage of its fields and uses specialist 
licenced third parties to safely dispose of all industrial 
waste on its behalf. It also uses observation wells to 
monitor the condition of groundwater. To adhere to the 
best standards of compliance with relevant environmental 
laws, the Group prepares an annual plan of its 
improvements in the area of responsible environmental 
practices, which each year is presented to local authorities 
and the community.

As a result of its strong commitment to health and safety, 
the Group incurred no lost time incidents during the year 
ended 31 March 2014 (2013: none).
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As at the date of this report, the Board is composed  
of five directors:

James A Jeffs 
Executive Chairman
Mr Jeffs is a senior executive with extensive experience in 
investment management, investment banking and as an 
executive and director of public oil and gas companies. 
Since 1994, Mr Jeffs has been Managing Director and 
Chief Investment Officer of the Whittier Trust Company. 
Mr Jeffs was formerly Chairman of Whittier Energy 
Corporation, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Chaparral Resources, Inc. and on the board of the Los 
Angeles County Employee Retirement Association. He 
currently serves on the boards of NYSE listed Strategic 
Hotels and Resorts, Primexx Operating Corporation and 
Satco, Inc. Previously, Mr Jeffs served as a director of South 
Oil Co., a private, Russian-based, oil and gas company.

Robert B Holland III 
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Mr Holland was a member of the Bush Administration 
until April 2006, serving as United States Executive 
Director of the World Bank. From 1993 to 1999, he served 
in various positions, including General Counsel and Chief 
Executive Officer of Triton Energy Ltd, a New York Stock 
Exchange listed exploration company that was sold to 
Amerada Hess. He is a former board member of NYSE 
listed Pier 1 Imports Inc., Massey Energy Inc. and Ivanhoe 
Mines Ltd. Mr Holland is currently a director of Primexx 
Operating Corporation, a privately owned oil and gas 
producer operating in the USA, and the non-profit 
International Psoriasis Council. From 1977 to 1994 he 
practiced law with the Texas law firm, Jackson Walker 
LLP, and is a graduate of Stanford University and the 
University of Texas Law School.

David R Belding 
Non-Executive Director
Mr Belding was previously a senior executive and co-
founder of Mandalay Resort Group, which was acquired 
by MGM Resorts, Inc for US$7.8 billion in June 2005. Mr 
Belding also co-founded Gold Strike Resorts, a hotel and 
casino operator, which he developed from 1977 to 1995, 
when it merged with Circus Circus Enterprises. He was a 
founder and director of First Independent Bank of Nevada 
and served on the board from 1995 to 2004. Mr Belding 
serves as a board member of various community and civic 
organisations, including UNLV, where he has sat on the 
board of trustees since 1992. He also served as a director 
of the Whittier Trust Company from 1998 to 2008.

Malcolm Butler 
Non-Executive Director
Dr Butler brings extensive operational and financial 
experience in the international oil and gas industry.  
Dr Butler acted as senior adviser on energy-related matters 
to Seymour Pierce Limited from 2003 to 2013. He is 
Chairman of Wessex Exploration PLC, President of 
Waterloo Oil & Gas LLC, an exploration and production 
partnership active in onshore Louisiana, and also 
Chairman of Brigantes Energy Limited and Corfe Energy 
Limited, both EIS-funded exploration companies with 
non-operated activities in the UK. Dr Butler holds a BSc  
in Geology from Aberystwyth and a PhD in Geology  
from Bristol, and he worked for over 25 years as an 
explorationist and senior executive in the worldwide oil 
and gas business before taking on a secondary role as  
an investment banker. 

Maksut S Narikbayev 
Non-Executive Director
Mr Narikbayev served as Chairman of the Highest Judicial 
Board of Kazakhstan from 2003 to 2006, Chairman of the 
Supreme Court of Kazakhstan from 1996 to 2000, and as 
Prosecutor General of Kazakhstan from 1995 to 1996. Mr 
Narikbayev is a qualified lawyer and has authored a wide 
range of books covering economic issues of the Supreme 
Court of Kazakhstan, criminal law, and the protection of 
civil rights.

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

James C Langdon Jr 
Advisory Committee
Mr Langdon is one of three senior executive partners of 
Akin, Gump, Strauss, Hauer & Feld LLP, one of the 
leading international law firms with a focus on the energy 
industry. He is the senior member of the firm’s energy 
practice and a member of the firm’s strategic planning and 
management committees.

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

The directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated and Company financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2014 of Max Petroleum Plc (“Max Petroleum” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”).

Results and dividend
The Group results are set out on page 43 and show a consolidated loss of US$76.8 million for the year ended 31 March 
2014 (2013: loss of US$10.1 million). 

The directors do not propose to pay a dividend.

Principal activities
Max Petroleum was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 8 April 2005 and admitted to trading on AIM on 27 October 
2005. Max Petroleum operates through subsidiary companies as set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The principal activity of the Group is the exploration, development and production of oil and gas assets 
within Kazakhstan. The Group holds a 100% interest in the Blocks A&E Licence area covering over 12,455 km2 in the 
Pre-Caspian Basin in western Kazakhstan.

Going concern
At the date of this report, there is a combination of circumstances which results in the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt about the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The combination 
of circumstances giving rise to the material uncertainty is discussed in note 2 to the financial statements. After making 
enquiries and considering the circumstances discussed in note 2 to the financial statements, the directors have, at the time 
of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group will have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Directors
The directors, who served during the year, and to date, were: 

Appointed Ceased

James A Jeffs Executive Chairman 1 July 2005 –
Robert B Holland III Interim Chief Executive Officer 27 April 2006 –
Michael B Young President and Chief Financial Officer 22 January 2008 31 May 2014
David R Belding Non-Executive Director 29 September 2005 –
Maksut S Narikbayev Non-Executive Director 10 October 2006 –
Malcolm Butler Non-Executive Director 20 December 2012 –

One third of the existing directors will retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association.
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Directors’ interests
The directors, who served during the year, and to date, had the following beneficial interests in the shares of the Company:

Share options Ordinary shares of 0.01p each

Exercise price  
range (pence) 31 March 2014 31 March 2013 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

James A Jeffs 4.75-5.00 37,281,271 37,281,271 107,091 107,091
Robert B Holland III 4.75-5.00 28,500,000 28,500,000 96,732 96,732
Michael B Young1 4.75-5.00 28,750,000 30,250,000 235,274 235,274
David R Belding 4.75-5.00 6,000,000 6,000,000 4,142,729 4,142,729
Maksut S Narikbayev 4.75-5.00 6,125,000 8,125,000 – –
Malcolm Butler 5.00 3,000,000 3,000,000 – –
1 Michael B Young retired as a director on 31 May 2014.

Further details of the directors’ interests in share options are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages  
34 to 37.

Subsequent to 31 March 2014, additional options to subscribe for 49 million new ordinary shares of the Company were 
granted to the directors of the Company on 27 May 2014 at an exercise price of 1.2p per share, of which one third are 
exercisable in equal amounts on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. The options have a term of 
four years and any unexercised options will expire on 27 May 2018.  

Directors’ indemnities
The Group has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made during 
the year and remain in force at the date of this report. The Company has purchased Directors and Officers liability 
insurance which remains in place at the date of this report.

Substantial shareholders
Based on an analysis of the shareholder register at 31 July 2014, and public disclosures made since that date to 18 August 
2014, the following parties had notifiable major interests of 3% or greater in the nominal value of the Company’s issued 
0.01p ordinary shares:

2014

Number of shares Percentage

GLG Partners LP 321,272,668 14.77%
Henderson Global Investors 248,592,364 11.43%
Outrider Master Fund LP 221,248,937 10.17%
SIB (Cyprus) Limited1 197,180,534 9.06%
Deutsche Bank AG 153,926,420 7.08%
Zhanros Drilling LLP 89,148,490 4.10%
Halifax Share Dealing Limited 88,843,149 4.08%
TD Direct Investing (Europe) Limited 87,281,880 4.01%
Barclays Stockbrokers Ltd 74,960,762 3.45%
Ironsides Partners Opportunity Master Fund L.P. 71,273,515 3.28%
1 Beneficially owned by Sberbank of Russia OJSC.

Interests in contracts
There were no contracts or arrangements during the period in which a director of the Company was materially interested 
and which were significant in relation to the business of the Group or the Company. 

Employment policies
The Group is committed to pursuing an equal opportunity employment policy, covering recruitment and selection, 
training, development, appraisal and promotion. The Group recognises the diversity of its employees, its customers, and 
the community at large and seeks to use employees’ talents and abilities to the fullest. This approach extends to the fair 
treatment of people with disabilities, in relation to their recruitment, training, and development. Full consideration is 
given to the retention of staff who become disabled during employment. 
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Employee communication 
The Group is committed to effective communications, which it maintains through regular information releases and staff 
briefings. Formal communications with employees take place through these channels. With respect to the Group’s 
operations in Kazakhstan and recruitment of Kazakhstani employees, announcements, contracts, interviews, and 
advertisements are conducted in English, Kazakh and Russian languages, as applicable. 

Health, safety and environment
The Group’s policy and practice is to comply with health, safety and environmental regulations and requirements of the 
countries in which it operates, to protect its employees, contractors, assets and the environment. Environmental risk 
factors are more fully considered in the accompanying Financial Review.

Financial instruments risk assessment
The directors’ financial instruments risk assessment is disclosed in note 26 to the accompanying financial statements  
on page 74.

Share capital
The Company’s authorised and issued share capital at 31 March 2014 is set out in note 30 to the accompanying financial 
statements on page 82.

Post balance sheet events
All post balance sheet events are described in note 38 to the accompanying financial statements on page 89.

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

 — so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are  
unaware; and
 — he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution concerning 
their reappointment will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors 
have prepared the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group 
and of the profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors 
are required to:

 — select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 — make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
 — state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
 — prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and 
the Group will continue in business.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and  
the Group and enable them to ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the 
Company’s website. The Company’s website is maintained in compliance with AIM Rule 26. 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Robert B Holland III
Interim Chief Executive Officer
19 August 2014

 
James A Jeffs
Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

In common with the Board’s commitment to compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), so far as 
is practicable taking into account the size and nature of the Company, the Company has adopted the principles of the 
Code relating to directors’ remuneration. The Company discloses certain information relating to directors’ remuneration 
in this report, which is not audited.

Compensation Committee
The Company established a Compensation Committee in June 2006, as set out in the Corporate Governance Report on 
page 38. The Compensation Committee advises the Board on Group compensation policy and may obtain advice from 
independent remuneration consultants appointed by the Company. The Compensation Committee meets as required and 
executive directors do not vote on their own remuneration or incentives. 

Remuneration policy
The Company’s policy is to maintain levels of compensation for the Group that are comparable and competitive with peer 
group companies, so as to attract and retain individuals of the highest calibre, by rewarding them as appropriate for their 
contribution to the Group’s performance. The Company takes independent advice in structuring remuneration packages 
of directors and employees.

Terms of appointment
The terms of each director’s appointment are set out in their service agreements which are effective for an indefinite 
period but may be terminated in accordance with specified notice periods. Each service agreement sets out details of basic 
salary, fees, benefits-in-kind and share option grants. The directors do not participate in any Group pension scheme and 
their remuneration is not pensionable. 

The executive directors are eligible to participate in discretionary bonus arrangements. Bonuses are payable in cash and 
awarded by the Board, upon recommendations by the Compensation Committee. 

Details of directors’ compensation are set out in Table 1.

Basic salaries
The basic salary of each executive director is established by reference to their responsibilities and individual performance. 

Fees
The fees paid to non-executive directors are determined by the Board and reviewed periodically to reflect current rates 
and practice commensurate with the size of the Company and their roles. 
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Share options
The Company has granted share options to directors, employees, strategic consultants and advisors to the Group to 
provide incentives for long-term performance and retention. The share options are exercisable over varying periods and at 
varying strike prices. The right to exercise is not contingent upon any performance criteria but is subject to terms relating 
to the respective individual’s continued employment with the Group. 

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options during the year.

The share-based payment expense recognised in the income statement under IFRS 2 that relates to directors’ share 
options amounts to US$1.6 million (2013: US$1.8 million).

Details of directors’ share options are set out in Table 2.

Annual remuneration of directors
Remuneration paid to the directors in the year to 31 March 2014 was as follows:

Table 1
2014 2013

Salary  
US$

Bonuses  
US$

Fees  
US$

Benefits  
US$

Total  
US$

Total  
US$

James A Jeffs – – 180,000 – 180,000 180,000
Robert B Holland III – – 180,000 14,310 194,310 180,000
Michael B Young 393,750 – – 45,414 439,164 452,340
Malcolm Butler – – 75,000 – 75,000 21,250
David R Belding – – 75,000 – 75,000 75,000
Maksut S Narikbayev – – 75,000 – 75,000 75,000
Lee O Kraus, Jr1 – – – – – 53,750

393,750 – 585,000 59,724 1,038,474 1,037,340
1 L O Kraus, Jr resigned on 20 December 2012.

Directors’ pension entitlements
The Group contributed to the 401(k) retirement savings plan of Michael B Young. The contributions paid by the Group 
during the year ended 31 March 2014 were US$10,200 (2013: US$9,800).

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company
The interests of the directors who held office during the year ended 31 March 2014 are given in the Directors’ Report.

There has been no change in the interest of any director between 1 April 2014 and the date of this report.



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201436

Directors’ interests in share option agreements
The interests of the directors in office during the year to 31 March 2014 were as follows:

Table 2

Grant date

Number at 
start of 
period

Number 
granted 

in period

Number 
forfeited in 

period

Number 
exercised 
in period

Number at  
31 March 

2014

Option 
price 

(pence)
Date 

exercisable
Expiry 

date

Realised 
gains 

US$’000

Potentially 
realisable 

gains7 

US$’000

James A Jeffs 26.10.05 8,831,1711 – – – 8,831,171 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – –
James A Jeffs 14.12.05 51,0002 – – – 51,000 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – –
James A Jeffs 06.01.06 1,280,1002 – – – 1,280,100 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – –
James A Jeffs 29.03.06 119,0002 – – – 119,000 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – –
James A Jeffs 13.10.09 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 5.009 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
James A Jeffs 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 5.009 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
James A Jeffs 20.12.12 20,000,000 – – – 20,000,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –
Robert B Holland III 29.10.07 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4.758 29.10.076 29.10.14 – –
Robert B Holland III 23.02.09 500,000 – – – 500,000 4.75 23.02.105 23.02.16 – –
Robert B Holland III 13.10.09 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 5.009 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
Robert B Holland III 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 5.009 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
Robert B Holland III 20.12.12 20,000,000 – – – 20,000,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –
Michael B Young 27.07.06 1,500,000 – (1,500,000) – – 4.758 27.07.074 27.07.13 – –
Michael B Young 29.10.07 500,000 – – – 500,000 4.758 29.10.085 29.10.14 – –
Michael B Young 23.02.09 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4.75 23.02.105 23.02.16 – –
Michael B Young 13.10.09 2,250,000 – – – 2,250,000 5.009 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
Michael B Young 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 5.009 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
Michael B Young 20.12.12 20,000,000 – – – 20,000,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –
Malcolm Butler 20.12.12 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –
David R Belding 13.10.09 500,000 – – – 500,000 5.009 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
David R Belding 10.03.11 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 5.009 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
David R Belding 20.12.20 3,500,000 – – – 3,500,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –
Maksut S Narikbayev 10.10.06 2,000,000 – (2,000,000) – – 4.758 10.10.074 10.10.13 – –
Maksut S Narikbayev 13.10.09 1,125,000 – – – 1,125,000 5.009 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
Maksut S Narikbayev 10.03.11 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 5.009 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
Maksut S Narikbayev 20.12.12 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 5.00 20.12.135 20.12.16 – –

113,156,271 – (3,500,000) – 109,656,271 – –

1  Non-dilutable for initial 12 months; shares under option are increased by 3.4% of any issue of new ordinary shares within 12 months of the date of admission to AIM  
(27 October 2005) (excluding on exercise of options and on any capital reorganisation).

2  Issued pursuant to non-dilution clause (1) above.
3  Exercisable 47.5% on first anniversary of date of grant and 17.5% on second, third and fourth anniversaries of date of grant.
4  Exercisable 40.0% on first anniversary of date of grant and 20.0% on second, third and fourth anniversaries of date of grant.
5  Exercisable one third on first anniversary of date of grant and one third on second and third anniversaries of date of grant.
6  Exercisable one third on date of grant, one third on first anniversary of grant and one third on second anniversary of grant.
7  Calculated as the difference between the option price and closing market price at 31 March 2014 for those share options exercisable at 31 March 2014. 
8  Original exercise price changed to 4.75p on 23 February 2009.
9  Original exercise price changed to 5.00p on 20 December 2012 and options were restricted from exercise until the Company’s outstanding PIK notes were converted  

into shares on 3 September 2013 (note 24).

Michael B Young ceased to be a director of the Company on 31 May 2014. On that date 13,333,333 options granted on 
20 December 2012 with an exercise price of 5p per share and which were yet to vest were forfeited.

On 27 May 2014, additional options to subscribe for 49 million new ordinary shares of the Company were granted to the 
directors of the Company at an exercise price of 1.2p per share, of which one third are exercisable in equal amounts on 
the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. The options have a term of four years and any unexercised 
options will expire on 27 May 2018. 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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Mid-market prices of the Company’s ordinary 0.01p shares during the year and at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2014 2013

US$ Pence US$ Pence

High 0.07 4.4 0.19 12.5
Low 0.02 1.3 0.04 2.8
Closing 0.02 1.3 0.07 4.4

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

David R Belding 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee 
19 August 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Although Max Petroleum, as an AIM quoted company, is not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council (the “Code”), the Board of Directors are committed where practicable to 
developing and applying high standards of corporate governance appropriate to the Company’s size.

This statement sets out measures taken by the Board to apply the principles of the Code during the year ended 31 March 
2014 and to the date of the Directors’ Report.

Board of Directors
The Board currently comprises two executive directors and three non-executive directors: 

James A Jeffs Executive Chairman
Robert B Holland III Interim Chief Executive Officer
Malcolm Butler  Non-Executive Director 
David R Belding Non-Executive Director
Maksut S Narikbayev Non-Executive Director

Non-executive directors are considered to be independent of management and free from any contractual relationships 
with the Group, thereby allowing them to exercise full independent judgement on any issue. There is a clear division from 
the responsibilities of the executive directors.  

All directors are permitted access to independent professional advice in the course of execution of their duties, at the 
Company’s expense. 

The Board has established the following committees:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was set up in June 2006 and is comprised of four directors: Dr Butler and Messrs Holland, Belding 
and Jeffs. Dr Butler is the Audit Committee Chairman. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for selecting the Group’s independent auditors, pre-approving all audit and non-audit 
related services, reviewing with management and the independent auditors the Group’s financial statements, significant 
accounting and financial policies and practices, audit scope and adequacy of internal audit and control systems. 

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee was also appointed in June 2006 and is comprised of Messrs Belding, Holland and Jeffs. 
Mr Belding is the Compensation Committee Chairman. The Compensation Committee is responsible for determining the 
terms and conditions of service of the executive directors and of senior management of the Group.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 34 to 37.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises Messrs Jeffs and Holland and is responsible for the strategic oversight of the Group. 

Advisory Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Advisory Committee comprised Messrs James C Langdon and Peter B Moss, 
Jr, two independent international advisors with extensive experience in, and knowledge of, the energy sector. The 
Advisory Committee is currently comprised of Mr Langdon.

The role of this committee is to provide financial, operational, geopolitical and technical advice to the Board and to senior 
non-Board officers of the Group.

Nominations Committee
The directors have considered that the Company is not of a size for a nominations committee to be appropriate at the 
current time. The Board will continue to monitor the situation. In the absence of a committee, all appointments are 
decided by the full Board. 
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Board meetings
The Board met six times during the financial year (2013: ten times) with the following attendance:

2014 2013

James A Jeffs 6 10
Robert B Holland III 6 10
Michael B Young1 6 10
Malcolm Butler2 6 –
David R Belding 6 10
Maksut S Narikbayev 5 8
Lee O Kraus, Jr2 – 6
1 Michael B Young resigned on 31 May 2014.
2 Lee O Kraus, Jr resigned and Malcolm Butler was appointed on 20 December 2012.

Investor relations
The Board is committed to provide regular communication with shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2014, 
Tom C Randell served as Director of Investor Relations. 

Internal controls
The Board acknowledges responsibility for maintaining appropriate internal controls systems and procedures to safeguard 
the shareholders’ investments and the assets, employees and business of the Group.

The directors have recognised the changing requirements of the Group as it has developed from private company start-up, 
through re-registration as a public company and admission to trading on AIM, to a growing multi-asset and international 
operating Group. 

The Board has established and operates a policy of continuous review and development of appropriate financial, 
operational, compliance and risk management controls, which cover expenditure approval, authorisation and treasury 
management, together with operating procedures consistent with the accounting policies of the Group. The internal 
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has approved the Group’s current operating and capital budget and performance against budget is monitored 
and reported to the Board on a monthly basis.

The directors confirm that the effectiveness of the internal control system during the accounting period has been reviewed 
by the Board.   

The Board does not consider it appropriate to the current size of the Group to establish an internal audit function.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF MAX PETROLEUM PLC

Report on the financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion the financial statements, defined below:

 — give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of 
the Group’s and the Parent Company’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
 — have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union; and
 — have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.

Emphasis of matter – Group and Parent Company – going concern
In forming our opinion on the Group and Parent Company financial statements, which is not modified, we have 
considered the adequacy of disclosures in note 2 to the financial statements concerning the Group and Parent Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern which indicated that there is a material uncertainty regarding the Group and Parent 
Company’s ability to continue to borrow funds under the Sberbank Loan and the outcome of current and ongoing 
fundraising activities intended to support the Company’s operations for the foreseeable future. Should the Sberbank Loan 
be withdrawn and/or the proposed subscription be unsuccessful, the Group and Parent Company may no longer be a 
going concern. These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group and Parent Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group and 
Parent Company were unable to continue as a going concern.

What we have audited
The Group financial statements and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”), which are 
prepared by Max Petroleum Plc, comprise:

 — the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets as at 31 March 2014;
 — the Consolidated and Company Income Statements and Consolidated and Company statements of Comprehensive 
Income for the year then ended;
 — the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements for the year then ended;
 — the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and
 — the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in 
respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future 
events.

What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & 
Ireland)”). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: 

 — whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
 — the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
 — the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If 
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

 — we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
 — adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or
 — the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 32, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Alison Baker (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
19 August 2014

The maintenance and integrity of the Max Petroleum Plc website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of 
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on 
the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF MAX PETROLEUM PLC
CONTINUED
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CONSOLIDATED AND  
COMPANY INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Group Company

Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenue 5 100,430 93,303 2,002 1,584
Cost of sales 6 (78,876) (70,147) (1,820) (1,440)

Gross profit 21,554 23,156 182 144
Exploration and appraisal costs (4,109) (7,008) – –
Impairment losses 7 (64,595) – (103,666) (22)
Restructuring costs 28 (3,759) – (256) –
Administrative expenses (14,886) (17,317) (4,759) (7,390)

Operating loss (65,795) (1,169) (108,499) (7,268)
Finance income 8 – 3,122 – 3,397
Finance costs 9 (5,914) (7,053) (1,137) (11,898)

Loss before taxation (71,709) (5,100) (109,636) (15,769)
Income tax expense 10 (5,083) (5,025) – (42)

Loss for the year 11 (76,792) (10,125) (109,636) (15,811)

Loss per share 
– Basic and diluted (US cents) 15 (3.8) (0.8)

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Group Company

Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March

2014 2013 2014 2013

Loss for the year (76,792) (10,125) (109,636) (15,811)
Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (76,792) (10,125) (109,636) (15,811)

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY  
BALANCE SHEETS
AT 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Group Company

At 31 March At 31 March

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure 16 118,616 181,973 – –
Oil and gas properties 17 103,309 77,041 – –
Property, plant and equipment 18 25,412 18,965 22 20
Investments in subsidiaries 19 – – 45,288 131,832
Inventories 21 768 3,534 – –
Trade and other receivables 20 6,525 5,871 – –
Restricted cash 23 3,318 2,790 – –

257,948 290,174 45,310 131,852

Current assets
Inventories 21 5,505 4,115 – –
Trade and other receivables 20 7,870 7,135 101,336 121,102
Cash and cash equivalents 22 527 1,793 85 1,054

13,902 13,043 101,421 122,156

Total assets 271,850 303,217 146,731 254,008

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 – 27,468 – 27,468
Deferred tax liabilities 27 9,234 4,884 – –
Provision for liabilities and other charges 28 5,900 4,012 – –

15,134 36,364 – 27,468

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 29 37,862 30,385 2,316 4,062
Provision for liabilities and other charges 28 3,759 – 256 –
Current tax liabilities 448 – – –
Borrowings 24 87,290 63,636 – –

129,359 94,021 2,572 4,062

Total liabilities 144,493 130,385 2,572 31,530

Net assets 127,357 172,832  144,159 222,478

Capital and reserves 
Share capital 30 8,219 8,162 8,219 8,162
Share premium 31 456,516 427,968 456,516 427,968
Other reserves 32 103,525 100,813 176,020 173,308
Accumulated deficit (440,903) (364,111) (496,596) (386,960)

Total equity 127,357 172,832 144,159 222,478

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Max Petroleum Plc (registered number 05419021) were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on 19 August 2014. They were signed on its behalf by:

Robert B Holland III
Interim Chief Executive Officer

 James A Jeffs
Executive Chairman
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Note
Share  

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserves
Accumulated 

deficit
Total  

equity

Balance at 1 April 2012 8,035 364,381 112,074 (368,819) 115,671

Loss for the year – – – (10,125) (10,125)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (10,125) (10,125)

Issue of share capital – Zhanros Drilling 30, 31 14 6,980 – – 6,994
Issue of share capital – Bond restructuring 24, 30, 31 113 56,607 – – 56,720
Transfer convertible bond reserve to accumulated deficit 32 – – (14,833) 14,833 –
Share-based payment 32 – – 3,572 – 3,572

127 63,587 (11,261) 14,833 67,286

Balance at 31 March 2013 8,162 427,968 100,813 (364,111) 172,832

Loss for the year – – – (76,792) (76,792)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (76,792) (76,792)

Issue of share capital – Bond restructuring 24, 30, 31 57 28,548 – – 28,605
Share-based payment 32 – – 2,712 – 2,712

57 28,548 2,712 – 31,317

Balance at 31 March 2014 8,219 456,516 103,525 (440,903) 127,357

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.

No interim or final dividend has been paid or proposed during the year.



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 2014 47

STRATEGIC  
REPORT

GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION

COMPANY STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserves
Accumulated 

deficit
Total 

equity

Balance at 1 April 2012 8,035 364,381 184,569 (385,982) 171,003

Loss for the year – – – (15,811) (15,811)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (15,811) (15,811)

Issue of share capital – Zhanros Drilling 30, 31 14 6,980 – – 6,994
Issue of share capital – Bond restructuring 24, 30, 31 113 56,607 – – 56,720
Transfer convertible bond reserve to accumulated deficit 32 – – (14,833) 14,833 –
Share-based payment 32 – – 3,572 – 3,572

127 63,587 (11,261) 14,833 67,286

Balance at 31 March 2013 8,162 427,968 173,308 (386,960) 222,478

Loss for the year – – – (109,636) (109,636)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (109,636) (109,636)

Issue of share capital – Bond restructuring 24, 30, 31 57 28,548 – – 28,605
Share-based payment 32 – – 2,712 – 2,712

57 28,548 2,712 – 31,317

Balance at 31 March 2014 8,219 456,516 176,020 (496,596) 144,159

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY  
CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
(IN THOUSANDS OF US$)

Group Company
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 34 33,984 40,402 (386) 55,358
Income tax paid (285) (141) – –

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 33,699 40,261 (386) 55,358

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (7,652) (1,786) (15) (1)
Payment for exploration and appraisal expenditure and oil and gas 

properties (39,413) (45,724) – –
Disposal of drilling supplies – 1,831 – –
Increase in restricted cash (528) (760) – –
Interest received – 9 – 2

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (47,593) (46,430) (15) 1

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 24 25,402 66,616 – 2,020
Repayment of borrowings 24 (2,025) (53,366) – (53,366)
Debt issuance costs 24 – (1,003) – –
Interest and finance costs paid (10,305) (5,828) (550) (4,111)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 13,072 6,419 (550) (55,457)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (822) 250 (951) (98)
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (444) (58) (18) (51)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 22 1,793 1,601 1,054 1,203

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22 527 1,793 85 1,054

The notes on pages 49 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.

See note 34 for major non-cash transactions. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

1. General information
Max Petroleum Plc (“Max Petroleum” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is in the business of 
the exploration, development and production of oil and gas assets within the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group owns 
the exploration and production rights to the Blocks A&E Licence (the “Licence”), which comprises two onshore blocks 
extending over 12,455 km2 in the Pre-Caspian Basin in Western Kazakhstan. The nature of the Group’s operations and 
principal activities is discussed further in the Strategic Report on pages 6 to 15.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, quoted on AIM and listed 
on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (“KASE”). The address of its registered office is Fourth Floor, Ergon House, Dean 
Bradley Street, London, SW1P 2AL, United Kingdom.

2. Basis of preparation
Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The key estimates and assumptions are set out in 
the critical accounting estimates and judgements in note 4. Such estimates and assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances and constitute management’s 
best judgement at the date of the financial statements. In the future, actual experience may deviate from these estimates 
and assumptions. This could affect future financial statements as the original estimates and assumptions are modified, as 
appropriate, in the year in which the circumstances change. 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
value of the consideration given in exchange for the asset. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each year. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. 

A list of the subsidiaries has been included in note 19.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the effective date of the acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those 
used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position 
are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 6 to 15. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position 
and borrowing facilities are described in the Liquidity and Capital Resources disclosure on page 16 and the Financial 
Review on pages 20 to 23. In addition, note 26 to the financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments; and its 
exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

As explained on page 7, the Group has a comprehensive plan for the commercial development of its post-salt fields in 
order to maximise reserves, production and cash flow. However, in order to fund the planned post-salt appraisal  
and development programme, the directors have identified an additional capital requirement of US$5 million through  
31 December 2014 and up to an additional US$10 million during calendar year 2015. As a result, the Group has currently 
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suspended appraisal and development drilling in order to continue to meet its obligations under the Sberbank Loan (see 
note 24).

Based on the Group’s cash flow forecasts and assuming the suspension of its capital programme, the directors believe 
that the Group will be able to continue servicing its interest and principal payments under the Sberbank Loan as they 
fall due. However, these forecasts are necessarily based on the achievement of timing and targets, some of which, 
although believed to be reasonable by the directors, are nevertheless outside the Group’s direct control. If significant 
delays or underperformance of production or revenue targets were to take place, these may render the Group’s cash 
resources insufficient.

As explained in note 24, the Group was in technical breach of certain banking covenants related to production and 
reserves at 31 March 2014. Accordingly, the entire loan amount has been classified within current liabilities in the Group 
balance sheet. The Group is currently working with Sberbank to reset the production and reserves covenants to reflect the 
lowered expectations of the Group following the Ryder Scott 2P reserves estimate of 9.5 mmboe as at 31 March 2014. 
The Group is current on all interest and principal payments due under the Sberbank Loan, which have been made when 
due with no late payments.

As explained in note 38, on 4 August 2014 the Group announced that it had agreed a conditional cash subscription with 
AGR Energy No. 1 Limited (“AGR Energy”) which would raise approximately US$62.5 million before expenses (the 
“Subscription”). The Subscription would enable the Group to fund its planned capital programme to develop its post-salt 
fields and maximise reserves and production. The Subscription is conditional upon a number of conditions, including 
approval of the Company’s shareholders and receiving regulatory approvals from the Government in Kazakhstan. The 
risk that the necessary approvals to complete the Subscription are not received creates an uncertainty about whether the 
Subscription proceeds of approximately US$62.5 million will be received by the Group. In the event that the necessary 
approvals are not received and the Subscription (or a similar infusion) does not proceed, there is an uncertainty whether 
additional debt or equity financing will be available.

The directors have concluded that the combination of these circumstances represents a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Based on the Group’s cash flow forecasts, however, the directors believe that the combination of its current and expected 
future production and resulting net cash flows from operations, borrowings under the Sberbank Loan, and other potential 
sources of debt and equity capital provide a reasonable expectation that the Group will continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
these financial statements.

3.1 Adoption of new and revised standards
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, except for the adoption of the following 
standards and amendments:

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IAS 19 (revised June 2011) Employee Benefits
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
Amendments to IFRS 1  Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for  

 First-Time Adopters 
Amendments to IFRS 1 Government Loans
Amendments to IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Offsetting Financial Assets and  

 Financial Liabilities)
Amendments to IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements (Presentation of Items of Other 

 Comprehensive Income)
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes (Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets) 
Improvements to IFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no effect on the reported financial results or the disclosures in these 
financial statements, but may impact the accounting for future transactions and arrangements. 
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Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been 
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not been endorsed by the 
European Union):

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IAS 27 (revised May 2011) Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 (revised May 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
IFRIC 21 Levies
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 Transition Guidance
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities
Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Amendments to IAS 32  Financial Instruments: Presentation (Offsetting Financial Assets and  

 Financial Liabilities)
Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2013 Cycle

The assessment of the impact of the above Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s accounting policies and on the 
presentation of the financial statements is at an early stage but there is not expected to be a significant impact on the financial 
statements of the Group in future periods, except for the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which, depending on future 
transactions and arrangements, could potentially impact the measurement and disclosure of financial instruments.

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure
The Group follows the modified successful efforts method of accounting under which all licence acquisition, geological 
and geophysical (“G&G”) exploration and appraisal costs are initially capitalised to well, field or specific exploration 
licences as appropriate, pending determination of the existence of commercial reserves. The costs of licence acquisitions 
and G&G exploration and appraisal costs are amortised straight-line over a period of the lower of 25 years, the 
remaining licence period or the expected life of the reserves from the date the seismic data has been fully evaluated.  
In line with IFRS 6, any pre-acquisition licence costs are directly expensed to the income statement.

Expenditures incurred during the various exploration and appraisal phases are then written off unless probable 
(“commercial”) reserves have been established or the determination process has not been completed. Drilling expenditure 
and directly attributable operational overheads associated with an exploratory dry hole are expensed immediately if 
commercially viable quantities of hydrocarbons are not found.

When an oil or gas field has been approved for development, the accumulated exploration and appraisal costs are 
transferred to oil and gas properties.

Oil and gas properties
Development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated depletion and amortisation and any impairment in value. 
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The cost of oil and gas properties is amortised over the total estimated reserves using a unit-of-production method.  
The unit-of-production rate takes into account expenditure incurred to date, together with estimated future development 
expenditure required to develop the underlying proved and commercial reserves. Costs are amortised only once commercial 
reserves associated with a development project can be determined and commercial production has commenced.

Changes in factors such as estimates of proved and commercial reserves that affect unit-of-production calculations do not 
give rise to prior year adjustments and are dealt with on a prospective basis. 

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the closing rate 
at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items are measured at the exchange rate in effect at the historical transaction 
date and are not translated at each balance sheet date. Income statement items are translated at their historical exchange 
rate. Translation gains and losses are recorded in administrative expenses for the year. Items included in the financial 
statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the “Functional Currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in “US dollars” 
(“US$”), which is also the Functional Currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The average and year-end exchange rates between the US dollar and other currencies in which the Group has  
transacted were:

2014 2013

Average rate Closing rate Average rate Closing rate

British pounds (“GBP”) 1.59 1.66 1.58 1.52
Kazakh tenge (“KZT”) 156.80 182.00 149.74 150.84

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any provision for 
impairment.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost and any costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset into operation. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any 
other consideration given to acquire the asset. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates sufficient to write off the cost, less estimated 
residual values, of individual assets over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Improvements to leasehold property 2-10 years (or over the remaining life of the lease if shorter)
Office systems, equipment and furniture 3-10 years 
Plant and equipment 5-10 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Inventories
Crude oil inventories are stated at the lower of production cost and net realisable value. Materials and supplies inventories 
are valued on a first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost or estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in marketing, selling, and distribution.

Impairment – exploration and appraisal expenditure
Exploration and appraisal costs are tested for impairment when reclassified to oil and gas properties or whenever facts 
and circumstances indicate potential impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
exploration and appraisal expenditure’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the exploration and appraisal expenditure’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
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Impairment – oil and gas properties
Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, oil and gas properties may be aggregated into appropriate cash-
generating units based on considerations including geographical location, the use of common facilities and marketing 
arrangements.

Impairment – property, plant and equipment
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does 
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Decommissioning provision
Provision is made for the present value of the future cost of abandonment of oil and gas wells and related facilities. This 
provision is recognised when the asset is installed. The estimated costs, based on engineering cost levels prevailing at  
the balance sheet date, are computed on the basis of the latest assumptions as to the scope and method of abandonment. 
The corresponding amount is capitalised as part of exploration and appraisal expenditure or oil and gas properties and  
is amortised on a unit-of-production basis as part of the depreciation, depletion and amortisation charge. 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is treated as a component of finance costs.

Any adjustments to the provision arising from reassessment of the estimated cost of decommissioning are added to, or 
deducted from the cost of the related asset in the current period. If a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount 
of the asset, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added tax, discounts and after eliminating sales 
within the Group.

Revenue is recognised when the amount can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to 
the entity, and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount of 
revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The 
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and 
the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenues from crude oil and natural gas sales are recognised when the oil and gas has been lifted and the risk of loss 
transferred to a third-party purchaser. The Group uses the entitlement method to account for its revenue from sales of oil 
and gas production, whereby the Group recognises revenue based on its direct ownership interest in its underlying oil and 
gas properties. 

Taxation 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is  
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to  
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax basis 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Group and Company financial statements. However, deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
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date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability  
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any provisions for impairment.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and 
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the applicable discount rate for 
the estimated future cash receipts or payments over the expected life of the financial asset or liability.

Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss” 
(“FVTPL”), “held-to-maturity” investments, “available-for-sale” (“AFS”) financial assets and “loans and receivables”. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables, which are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market, are classified as loans and receivables. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current 
assets. 

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently carried at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, net of any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
method, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(b) Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired when there is 
objective evidence that the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been impacted. For loans and receivables, the 
amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

In the event of an impairment, the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss, except for 
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable 
is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account, and the amount of loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the income statement.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current balances and deposits with banks and similar institutions, 
which are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into.

(a) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments of the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options, which are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

(b) Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term payables 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(c) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, including debt issuance costs in the 
form of cash payments and the fair value of warrants issued to, and exercisable by, the lender. Residual costs associated 
with warrants issued in conjunction with credit facilities which are not allocated against the fair value of borrowings on 
initial recognition are expensed immediately. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised over the term of the borrowings 
using the effective interest rate method and charged to the income statement as finance costs.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed. To the extent that 
the Group borrows funds generally and uses them for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group determines 
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that 
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group 
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset. The amount of borrowing costs that the Group capitalises during a period shall not exceed the amount of 
borrowing costs it incurred during that period.

For funds borrowed to obtain a qualifying asset, the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual borrowing 
costs incurred during the period less any investment income earned from the temporary investment of the borrowed funds. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of 
the original liability and recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the carrying amounts of the original 
liability and the fair value of the new liability is recognised in the income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Compound instruments
The component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

The Group records the proceeds received from the issuance of convertible debt instruments, net of issuance costs, as an 
allocation between long-term debt and equity based on the Group’s estimate of the fair value of the instrument without 
consideration of its conversion feature. At the date of issue of the convertible debt instrument, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is 
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or at 
the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component 
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax 
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
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Operating leases
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the  
relevant leases.

Share-based payment
The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received 
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest, and at each balance sheet date, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. If the terms and conditions of options are 
modified, the change in the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is 
additionally charged to the income statement over the remaining vesting period.

When the options are exercised, the nominal value of the underlying shares is credited to share capital, and the excess of 
the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the 
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant 
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a 
corresponding credit to equity.

Pension obligations
The Group makes contributions to the 401(k) retirement savings plans of certain of its US-based employees and directors. 
The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as 
employee benefit expense when they are due.

The Group does not incur any expenses in relation to pensions for its employees in other countries. In accordance with 
the legal requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Group withholds pension contributions from employee salaries 
and transfers them into third party state or private pension funds at the direction of the employee. The Group is not 
responsible for the administration of the pension funds or future distributions to the employees.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Such estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of oil and gas reserves
Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of oil and gas which geological and engineering data demonstrate 
with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating 
conditions. Estimates of oil and gas reserves are inherently imprecise, require the application of judgement and are subject 
to future revision. Accordingly, financial and accounting measures (such as the standardised measure of discounted cash 
flows, depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges, and decommissioning provisions) that are based on proved 
reserves are also subject to change. Refer to pages 94 and 96 of the glossary for further information on probabilities 
associated with proved, probable and possible reserves. 
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Capitalised exploration and appraisal expenditure
In making decisions about whether to continue to capitalise exploration and appraisal expenditure, it is necessary to  
make judgements about the probable commercial reserves and the level of activities that constitute ongoing appraisal 
determination. If there is a change in any judgement in a subsequent period, then the related capitalised exploration  
and appraisal expenditure would be expensed in that period, resulting in a charge to income. 

Provision for abandonment
Estimates of the amounts of provision for abandonment recognised are based on current legal and constructive 
requirements, technology and price levels. As actual outflows may be different from estimates due to changes in laws, 
regulations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions  
are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

5. Operating segments
Management has determined its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the directors for the purposes of 
making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance. In the opinion of the directors, the operations  
of the Group comprise one operating segment: oil and gas exploration and development and related activities. All of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities, income and expense relate to this segment. 

Geographical information
The Group conducts business within three geographical regions. The Group’s head office is in London, United Kingdom, 
with the Group’s operational activities wholly focused in the Republic of Kazakhstan, supported by a technical team in 
Houston, USA. The Group is in the process of closing the Houston office (see note 28).

Revenue
All of the Group’s revenue from external customers is derived from the sale of crude oil from its operations in the 
Republic of Kazakhstan, as follows:

Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Republic of Kazakhstan – domestic sales 25,070 29,195
Republic of Kazakhstan – export sales 75,360 64,108

100,430 93,303

Revenue from two customers each individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s consolidated revenue, amounting to  
US$75.4 million and US$17.6 million, (2013: sales to three customers of US$53.4 million, US$16.8 million and  
US$10.7 million).

Non-current assets
The Group’s non-current assets excluding financial assets by geographical location are as follows:

Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

United Kingdom 22 20
USA – 10
Republic of Kazakhstan 254,608 287,354

254,630 287,384
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6. Cost of sales
Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Production costs 12,150 11,624
Selling and transportation 14,771 14,253
Mineral extraction tax 4,508 3,911
Export customs duty/export rent tax 22,616 18,531
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 24,831 21,828

78,876 70,147

The cost of crude oil inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to US$33.7 million 
(2013: US$30.3 million). 

7. Impairment losses
Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Impairment of intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure  
(note 16) 64,595 – – –

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries (note 19) – – 87,466 –
Impairment of loans from the Company to its subsidiaries and other amounts 

due from subsidiaries (note 20) – – 16,390 22
Reversal of impairment of loans from the Company to its subsidiaries (note 20) – – (190) –

64,595 – 103,666 22

Post-salt exploration asset impairment
Having completed the drilling of its post-salt exploration portfolio and carried out an extensive appraisal drilling 
programme during the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group has now largely evaluated the post-salt potential of Blocks 
A&E and is in a position to make a determination about the recoverability of the associated exploration and appraisal 
asset allocated to the post-salt, which amounted to US$64.6 million at 31 March 2014. This exploration and appraisal 
asset is associated with the historic development of the post-salt portfolio, including an allocation of licence acquisition 
costs, 3D seismic, geological and geophysical studies and capitalised interest. Given the completion of post-salt 
exploration drilling, the resulting 2P reserves at 31 March 2014 of 9.5 mmboe as estimated by the Group’s competent 
person, Ryder Scott, and the limited remaining potential for the growth of post-salt reserves, the Group has performed  
an impairment test of the US$64.6 million exploration and appraisal asset allocated to the post-salt. 

Considering the many uncertainties facing the Group, including the Subscription (see note 38) which is subject to a 
number of conditions, including shareholder approval and approval of the Government of Kazakhstan, and a current 
funding shortfall causing the temporary suspension of discretionary capital expenditures necessary to increase the 
reserves and production of its post-salt fields, the directors have taken the view that it is not appropriate to carry forward 
the US$64.6 million exploration asset related to its post-salt fields in the balance sheet. As a result, the Group has 
recognised a US$64.6 million impairment of its post-salt exploration and appraisal assets in its financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2014.

8. Finance income 
Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Gain on derecognition of convertible bonds (note 24) – 924 – 924
Gain on derecognition of Macquarie Facility (note 24) – 2,190 – 2,190
Interest income on short-term bank deposits – 8 – 1
Intercompany interest income – – – 282

Finance income – 3,122 – 3,397
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9. Finance costs
Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Interest expense:
Interest payable on Macquarie Facility (note 24) – 3,249 – 3,249
Interest payable on Sberbank Loan (note 24) 9,194 1,651 – –
Interest payable on convertible bond (note 24) – 6,484 – 6,484
Interest payable on PIK notes (note 24) 1,137 753 1,137 753

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (note 28) 339 238 – –
Other finance costs 1,271 1,745 – 1,412

11,941 14,120 1,137 11,898
Less: interest expense capitalised to exploration and appraisal expenditure (6,027) (7,067) – –

Finance costs 5,914 7,053 1,137 11,898

During the year ended 31 March 2014 other finance costs included US$0.7 million of interest related to the Transfer 
Pricing Tax Claims (note 10). During the year ended 31 March 2013 other finance costs included US$1.4 million of fees 
relating to the refinancing of the Group’s borrowings in December 2012.

Interest expense of US$6.0 million (2013: US$7.1 million) arising on the general borrowing pool during the year was 
capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets, calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 11% (2013: 10%) to the average 
cumulative expenditure on such assets. The borrowing costs capitalised are included in “additions” to intangible assets 
– exploration and appraisal expenditure. 

10. Income tax expense
Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Current tax:
Current tax on profits for the year – 42 – 42
Adjustments in respect of prior years 733 99 – –

Total current tax 733 141 – 42
Deferred tax (note 27) 4,350 4,884 – –

Income tax expense 5,083 5,025 – 42

The Group’s principal business activities are in the Republic of Kazakhstan, where corporate income tax (“CIT”) applies 
at a rate of 20% of taxable income. Taxes on the production and sale of hydrocarbons are accounted for within cost of 
sales (see note 6). 

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK statutory rate of 
23% (2013: 24%) applicable to the loss of the Group, as follows:

Group

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Loss before taxation (71,709) (5,100)

Tax calculated at 23% (2013: 24%) (16,493) (1,224)
Effect of lower foreign tax rates (427) (858)
Imputed income for tax purposes 3,469 –
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/non-taxable income 6,242 1,740
Adjustments in respect of prior years 733 99
Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets 7,578 1,460
Revaluation and remeasurement of deferred tax 6,095 3,808
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (2,114) –

Income tax expense 5,083 5,025
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The tax on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK statutory 
rate of 23% (2013: 24%) applicable to the loss of the Company, as follows:

Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Loss before taxation (109,636) (15,769)

Tax calculated at 23% (2013: 24%) (25,216) (3,785)
Imputed income for tax purposes 3,001 –
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/non-taxable income 24,274 702
Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets 55 3,125
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (2,114) –

Income tax expense – 42

Transfer Pricing Tax Claims
The Kazakhstan tax authorities have carried out transfer pricing tax audits of Max Petroleum’s subsidiary Samek 
International LLP for the tax years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008. Although the Group’s oil sales were 
made on an arm’s-length basis with unrelated third parties, the tax authorities have challenged the differential between 
the actual selling price the Group received and market prices at the time. This differential arises principally due to 
transportation costs which are paid for by the buyer, but suffered by the Group when the selling price is agreed. 
Following the tax audits, the Group received notifications (the “Transfer Pricing Claims”) requesting the payment of 
approximately US$0.7 million and US$1.3 million for the 2007 and 2008 tax years, respectively. The Transfer Pricing 
Claims include corporate income tax, mineral extraction tax, penalties and interest.

The Group believes that the transportation costs deducted by the buyers are valid and within reasonable norms and that 
the Transfer Pricing Claims are without merit. The Group is in the process of appealing the Transfer Pricing Claims with 
the relevant tax authorities and through the courts. In accordance with the decisions of the courts to date, the Company 
has paid the 2007 claim in full and has paid a portion of the 2008 claim. The unpaid portion of the 2008 claim is US$1.0 
million, of which US$0.8 million has been provided for in these financial statements at 31 March 2014. The aggregate 
expense recognised in these financial statements is US$1.8 million, comprising US$0.7 million of tax, US$0.7 million of 
interest and US$0.4 million of penalties. 

11. Loss for the year
Loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):

Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Exchange loss/(gain) 509 (162) 20 52
Staff costs, net of capitalisation (note 13) 12,862 10,747 2,909 3,401
Operating lease rentals (note 36) 2,560 2,391 235 191
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 25,091 22,080 12 12
Impairment losses (note 7) 64,595 – 103,666 22
(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (24) – –
Exploration and appraisal costs 4,109 7,008 – –
Auditors’ remuneration (note 14) 663 510 349 309

Exploration and appraisal costs for the year ended 31 March 2014 include a US$2.2 million write down of inventories of 
drilling supplies. Exploration and appraisal costs for the year ended 31 March 2013 include a loss of US$1.1 million 
which arose on the disposal of inventories of drilling supplies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12. Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation are included within the following headings within the income statement:

Group

2014 2013

Intangible 
assets – 

exploration 
and appraisal 

expenditure
US$’000

Oil and gas 
properties
US$’000

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Intangible 
assets – 

exploration 
and appraisal 

expenditure
US$’000

Oil and gas 
properties

US$’000

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Cost of sales 7,724 14,756 2,351 24,831 7,076 12,550 2,202 21,828
Administrative expenses 56 – 204 260 50 – 202 252

Total 7,780 14,756 2,555 25,091 7,126 12,550 2,404 22,080

Company

2014 2013

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

Administrative expenses 12 12

The Group financial statements also include US$0.5 million of depreciation, depletion and amortisation in the crude oil 
inventory valuation at 31 March 2014 (2013: US$0.1 million).

13. Employees and key management
The monthly average number of staff employed during the financial year was as follows:

Group Company

2014 
number

2013 
number

2014 
number

2013 
number

Administrative 64 64 6 6
Exploration and production operations 79 83 – –
Directors 6 6 6 6

149 153 12 12

Staff costs in respect of those directors and employees were as follows:

Group Company

2014  
US$’000

2013  
US$’000

2014  
US$’000

2013  
US$’000

Wages and salaries 10,932 11,097 1,028 1,097
Social security costs 1,016 1,021 63 60
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 60 66 – –
Share-based payment (note 33) 2,712 3,572 1,790 2,244
Termination benefits1 2,756 – 28 –

17,476 15,756 2,909 3,401
Less: staff costs capitalised (4,614) (5,009) – –

Staff costs, net of capitalisation 12,862 10,747 2,909 3,401

1 Termination benefits have been provided for as part of the provision for restructuring costs (note 28).

Wages and salaries include the cost of tax gross-up for expatriate employees whose contracts provide for them to receive 
salaries without deduction of local taxes. As shown above, a proportion of the Group’s staff costs is capitalised under the 
Group’s accounting policy for exploration and appraisal expenditure and oil and gas properties.
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Key management compensation 
Key management personnel, as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, have been identified as the Board of 
Directors. Detailed disclosures of directors’ individual remuneration, directors’ transactions and directors’ interests and 
share options, for those directors who served during the year, are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. The 
aggregate amounts of key management compensation during the year were as follows:

Group

2014  
US$’000

2013  
US$’000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 1,038 1,037
Post-employment benefits 10 10
Share-based payment 1,591 1,849
Termination benefits 665 –

3,304 2,896

None of the Company’s directors exercised share options while serving in their capacity as directors during the years 
ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

14. Auditors’ remuneration
During the year the Group (including its subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor and 
their associates at costs as detailed below:

Group

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for the audit of the Company’s annual 
financial statements 328 295

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group:
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 37 43
– Audit-related assurance services1 131 118
– Taxation compliance services 36 30
– Other taxation advisory services 20 –
– Other assurance services 30 –
– Other services 81 24

Total 663 510

1 Includes interim review.

15. Loss per share 

Group

2014 2013

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (US$’000) (76,792) (10,125)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 2,022,481 1,234,972
Basic and diluted loss per share (US cents) (3.8) (0.8)

Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share is calculated using the loss for the year divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
assuming the conversion of its potentially dilutive equity derivatives outstanding, being share options and warrants. All of 
the Group’s equity derivatives were anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, respectively.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16. Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure
Group

Total
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2012 202,087
Additions 31,001
Disposals (106)
Amounts written off to exploration and appraisal costs (5,942)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (11,521)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (552)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 388

At 31 March 2013 215,355
Additions 10,726
Disposals (240)
Amounts written off to exploration and appraisal costs (1,814)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (83,954)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 215

At 31 March 2014 140,288

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2012 26,449
Amortisation charge for the year 7,126
Disposals (90)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (103)

At 31 March 2013 33,382
Amortisation charge for the year 7,780
Impairment loss for the year 64,595
Disposals (131)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (83,954)

At 31 March 2014 21,672

Net book value

At 31 March 2013 181,973

At 31 March 2014 118,616

Included within exploration and appraisal expenditures at 31 March 2014 was a decommissioning asset of US$0.6 
million (2013: US$0.6 million). 

Intangible exploration and appraisal assets comprise the costs of acquiring the Group’s Blocks A&E Licence, gathering and 
interpreting 3D seismic data, carrying out geological and geophysical studies, identifying and high-grading leads and 
maturing two portfolios of exploration prospects: a post-salt inventory and a pre-salt inventory. In addition, exploration and 
appraisal assets include the costs of drilling exploratory wells where further work is being undertaken on geological and 
geophysical assessment or the field’s commercial or technical viability is yet to be determined, as well as capitalised interest.

Post-salt exploration and appraisal assets
Having completed the drilling of its post-salt exploration portfolio and carried out an extensive appraisal drilling 
programme during the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group has now largely evaluated its post-salt potential and must 
transfer a portion of the costs associated with developing the post-salt exploration portfolio into oil and gas properties (note 
17). The allocation of historic non-drilling exploration and appraisal costs between the post-salt and pre-salt portfolios has 
been determined based on the Group’s estimates of the relative expected values of the respective portfolios at the time they 
were developed. The expected values incorporate an assessment of the risk of each portfolio. The result of the allocation is 
that historic costs of US$84.0 million, which at 31 March 2014 have a carrying value of US$64.6 million after deducting 
accumulated amortisation, are allocated to the Group’s post-salt assets and are transferred to oil and gas properties. 
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IFRS 6 requires that when costs are transferred from exploration and appraisal assets that they are tested for impairment 
prior to transfer. Considering the many uncertainties facing the Group, including the Subscription (see note 38) which is 
subject to a number of conditions, including shareholder approval and approval of the Government of Kazakhstan, and a 
current funding shortfall causing the temporary suspension of discretionary capital expenditures necessary to increase the 
reserves and production of its post-salt fields, the directors have taken the view that it is not appropriate to carry forward 
the US$64.6 million exploration asset related to its post-salt fields in the balance sheet. As a result, the Group has 
recognised a US$64.6 million impairment of its post-salt exploration and appraisal assets in its financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2014.

Pre-salt exploration and appraisal assets
The remaining US$118.6 million carrying value of the intangible exploration and appraisal asset at 31 March 2014 is 
substantially dependent on the outcome of the Group’s pre-salt exploration programme. The Group is required to assess 
at each reporting date whether there are any indications its exploration and appraisal assets are impaired. This assessment 
includes consideration of whether rights to explore in an area have expired, or will expire in the near future without 
renewal and whether further exploration and appraisal activities are planned or budgeted. 

Due to financial constraints, the drilling of the NUR-1 pre-salt well has been suspended since July 2012 when the Group 
encountered anomalously high pressures drilling through a salt layer. During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group 
has carried out a geomechanical study to examine how best to complete the NUR-1 well and overcome potential 
engineering challenges. The conclusion of the study is that the existing well bore can be used to complete drilling to target 
depth provided certain modifications are made to the well design. 

Notwithstanding the Group’s commitment to completing NUR-1, it remains subject to securing the US$20 to 25 million 
funding needed and successfully obtaining a licence extension when the current permission expires in March 2015. Even 
if the funding were arranged in the near future, given that the exploration portion of the licence is due to expire in March 
2015, it is unrealistic to expect that the well could be completed by March 2015 given the lead time necessary to procure 
a suitable rig, as well as the time necessary to complete the drilling itself. There is also no guarantee that a licence 
extension to complete NUR-1 beyond March 2015 will be given to the Group. 

In the event that the Subscription (see note 38) by AGR Energy did not close, because one or more necessary conditions 
were not met, and therefore the investment of approximately US$62.5 million was not made into the Group, the directors 
would have to make an evaluation about the possibility that the pre-salt assets were impaired as a result. Faced with the 
dual uncertainties of funding and a contingent licence extension in March 2015, the directors have concluded that the 
most prudent course of action would be to book a one-time accounting charge to fully impair the carrying value of 
NUR-1 and associated pre-salt exploration costs. Accordingly, under these circumstances, the Group would most likely 
make an impairment charge amounting to US$113.0 million. This charge would not affect the results for the year ending 
31 March 2014, but instead would be recognised in the financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2015. 
Therefore, the successful completion of the Subscription is a key assumption in continuing to recognise the costs 
associated with the pre-salt in the Group’s balance sheet at 31 March 2014 and thereafter. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17. Oil and gas properties
Group

Total
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2012 91,987
Additions 13,790
Disposals (11)
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 11,521
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (2,289)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 423

At 31 March 2013 115,421
Additions 39,857
Disposals (96)
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 83,954
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (2)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 1,632

At 31 March 2014 240,766

Accumulated depletion, amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2012 26,030
Charge for the year 12,247
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 103

At 31 March 2013 38,380
Charge for the year 15,123
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 83,954

At 31 March 2014 137,457

Net book value

At 31 March 2013 77,041

At 31 March 2014 103,309

Included within oil and gas properties at 31 March 2014 was a decommissioning asset of US$2.3 million  
(2013: US$1.0 million).

The Group’s oil and gas properties have been pledged to Sberbank to secure the Group’s borrowings (note 24).

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there are any indications that its oil and gas properties and associated 
property, plant and equipment (note 18) are impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount is made, which is determined as the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 

The Group’s proved and probable (“2P”) reserves decreased from 10.9 mmboe at 31 March 2013 to 9.5 mmboe at 31 
March 2014 and proved, probable and possible reserves (“3P”) decreased from 14.2 mmboe to 10.4 mmboe. This 
decrease in reserves is considered to be a potential indicator of impairment and therefore an impairment test has been 
performed at 31 March 2014.

As there is no readily available market for the Group’s oil and gas properties, fair value is derived as the net present value 
of the estimated future cash flows arising from the continued use of the assets, incorporating assumptions that a typical 
market participant would take into account. 

The value in use of an oil and gas property is generally lower than its fair value less costs of disposal as value in use 
reflects only those cash flows expected to be derived from the asset in its current condition. Fair value less costs of 
disposal includes appraisal and development expenditure that a market participant would consider likely to enhance the 
productive capacity of an asset and optimise future cash flows. Consequently, the Group determines recoverable amount 
based on fair value less costs of disposal.
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Fair value less costs of disposal is based on the estimates of proved, probable and possible reserves, future production and 
future net income performed by Ryder Scott, the Group’s competent person, as of 31 March 2014. This assessment 
incorporates the use of estimates and assumptions, such as long-term oil prices, discount rates, operating costs, future 
capital requirements, decommissioning costs, exploration potential, and reserves. These estimates and assumptions are 
subject to risk and uncertainty. The estimates of fair value less costs of disposal meet the definition of level three fair value 
measurements as they are determined from unobservable inputs.

The result of the impairment test indicate that the recoverable amounts of the Group’s oil and gas properties and 
associated property, plant and equipment exceed their carrying values and therefore there is no impairment.

The key assumptions used in the impairment test were as follows:
 — Oil prices: these depend on the anticipated full field development date for each field. Prior to full field development, all 
production is sold domestically within Kazakhstan and once full field development has been achieved, 80% of production 
is exported and 20% is sold domestically. Export oil prices are based on a Brent forward price curve for the forthcoming 
six years and thereafter inflated at 2% per annum. The weighted average export price used was US$93 per bbl. Domestic 
oil prices are based on a forecast of US$45 per bbl during 2014, US$48 per bbl in 2015 and thereafter inflated at 2% per 
annum. The weighted average domestic price used was US$49 per bbl.
 — Reserves: it is assumed the 3P reserves of 10.4 mmboe are extracted over the period from 2014 to 2023 in accordance 
with the production profile set out in the Ryder Scott report.
 — Capital expenditure: it is assumed that the Group carries out US$65 million of appraisal, development and facilities 
expenditure necessary to advance the Group’s discoveries to full field development and realise the 3P reserves over the 
life of each field. This expenditure covers the period from April 2014 to December 2023. 
 — Discount rate: a post-tax discount rate of 10% has been used.

18. Property, plant and equipment
Group

Improvements 
to leasehold 

property
US$’000

Office 
systems, 

equipment 
and furniture

US$’000

Plant and 
equipment

US$’000

Motor 
vehicles

US$’000
Total

US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2012 422 2,073 18,539 1,224 22,258
Additions – 1 3,449 – 3,450
Transfers – – 2,841 – 2,841
Disposals – – – (167) (167)
Changes in estimate for decommissioning provision – – 241 – 241

At 31 March 2013 422 2,074 25,070 1,057 28,623
Additions – 199 8,607 2 8,808
Transfers – – 2 – 2
Disposals – (364) (62) (26) (452)
Changes in estimate for decommissioning provision – – 311 – 311

At 31 March 2014 422 1,909 33,928 1,033 37,292

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2012 422 1,610 4,616 807 7,455
Charge for the year – 131 2,076 147 2,354
Disposals – – – (151) (151)

At 31 March 2013 422 1,741 6,692 803 9,658
Charge for the year – 163 2,351 78 2,592
Disposals – (364) – (6) (370)

At 31 March 2014 422 1,540 9,043 875 11,880

Net book value

At 31 March 2013 – 333 18,378 254 18,965

At 31 March 2014 – 369 24,885 158 25,412

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Included within property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2014 was a decommissioning asset of US$0.8 million  
(2013: US$0.7 million).

The Group’s property, plant and equipment has been pledged to Sberbank to secure the Group’s borrowings (note 24).

Company

Improvements 
to leasehold 

property
US$’000

Office 
systems, 

equipment 
and furniture

US$’000
Total

US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2012 422 122 544
Additions – 2 2
Disposals – – –

At 31 March 2013 422 124 546
Additions – 14 14
Disposals – (50) (50)

At 31 March 2014 422 88 510

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2012 422 92 514
Charge for the year – 12 12
Disposals – – –

At 31 March 2013 422 104 526
Charge for the year – 12 12
Disposals – (50) (50)

At 31 March 2014 422 66 488

Net book value

At 31 March 2013 – 20 20

At 31 March 2014 – 22 22

19. Investments in subsidiaries
Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 211,109 209,781
Capital contribution to subsidiaries related to share-based payment 922 1,328

At 31 March 212,031 211,109

Provision for impairment
At 1 April (79,277) (79,277)
Impairment loss for the year (note 7) (87,466) –

At 31 March (166,743) (79,277)

Net book value at 31 March 45,288 131,832

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by the value of the underlying net assets.

18. Property, plant and equipment continued



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201468

The Company is required to assess the carrying values of each of its investments in subsidiaries for impairment. During 
the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recognised an impairment of the post-salt exploration and appraisal assets in 
its Blocks A&E Licence area (note 16). The Company considers this impairment is an indicator that its investment in 
Madiran Investment B.V. (“Madiran”) is impaired, as this entity owns 100% of Samek International LLP, the operator of 
the Blocks A&E Licence. Accordingly, the Company performed an impairment test and as a result recognised a provision 
for impairment of US$84.0 million at 31 March 2014. The results of exploration activities are inherently uncertain, and 
the assessment of impairment of exploration and appraisal assets held by subsidiary entities and the related investments 
held by the Company, is judgemental. In the future, in the event that the Group were to conclude that the carrying value 
of its pre-salt exploration and appraisal assets were impaired (see note 16), the Company would recognise further 
impairment of its investment in Madiran.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company recognised a provision for impairment of US$3.5 million in respect 
of the entire carrying value of its subsidiary Max Exploration Services, Inc. (“MES”). The Group has announced plans to 
close the Houston office and expects that the carrying value of MES will not be recoverable as this entity will not generate 
any future profits. The cost of investment in MES is comprised mostly of previous capital contributions related to share-
based payment.

The following summarises the Company’s participation in the Group structure:

Subsidiary undertakings Country of incorporation
Effective 
holding

Proportion of 
voting rights 

held Nature of business Statutory year-end

Samek International LLP Kazakhstan 100%1 100% Operating company 31 December
Max Exploration Services, Inc. USA 100% 100% Operating company 31 December
Madiran Investment B.V. Netherlands 100% 100% Holding company 31 December
Max Astrakhanskiy Holdings B.V.2 Netherlands 100%1 100% Holding company 31 March
Max Petroleum Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100% 100% Holding company 31 March
Cooperative Samek U.A. Netherlands 100%1 100% Cooperative 31 December
Cooperative Alga U.A.2 Netherlands 100%1 100% Cooperative 31 December
Max Petroleum Astrakhanskiy  

Holding Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% Holding company 31 March
Vasse Investments Ltd British Virgin Islands 100%1 100% Holding company 31 March

1 Indirect shareholding of Parent Company.

2 The Group liquidated Max Astrakhanskiy Holdings B.V. and Cooperative Alga U.A. during the year.

The results of the above subsidiaries have all been included in the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries have calendar year-ends for local statutory reporting purposes only. 

20. Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Trade receivables 1,008 64 – –
Advances to suppliers 589 3,115 – –
Other prepayments 650 625 215 242
Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries1 (note 35) – – 100,856 120,484
Other amounts due from subsidiaries (note 35) – – 47 42
Other receivables 12,148 9,202 218 334

14,395 13,006 101,336 121,102

Non-current portion (6,525) (5,871) – –

Current portion 7,870 7,135 101,336 121,102

1 Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries are repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing. 
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Group
Other receivables include recoverable Kazakhstan VAT of US$11.2 million (2013: US$8.3 million). 

Impairment losses
The movements in the Group and Company provisions for impairment of trade and other receivables were as follows:

Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year – – 230 208
Impairment losses recognised – – 16,390 22
Amounts recovered during the year – – (190) –

Balance at the end of the year – – 16,430 230

During the year ended 31 March 2014 the Company recognised a provision for impairment of US$16.1 million related to 
an intercompany loan receivable from its US subsidiary, Max Exploration Services, Inc. The Group has announced plans 
to close the Houston office and expects that the carrying value of the intercompany loan receivable will not be recoverable 
as this entity will not generate any future profits.

Further disclosure on the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired and the Group’s policy 
for managing credit risk can be found in note 26.

Group
The Group’s other receivables are stated net of a provision for impairment of US$nil (2013: US$nil). 

Financial assets that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired. As of 31 March 2014, financial 
assets of US$nil (2013: US$nil) were past due but not impaired. There were no financial assets against which a doubtful 
debt allowance had been raised, at 31 March 2014 or 2013, respectively. The ageing analysis of these financial assets is as 
follows:

Group Group

2014 2013

Gross
US$’000

Impairment
US$’000

Net
US$’000

Gross
US$’000

Impairment
US$’000

Net
US$’000

Trade and other receivables 14,395 – 14,395 13,006 – 13,006
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (13,206) – (13,206) (12,635) – (12,635)

Financial assets within trade and other receivables 1,189 – 1,189 371 – 371

Not past due 1,189 – 1,189 371 – 371
Past due 0–30 days – – – – – –
Past due 31–365 days – – – – – –
Past due more than one year – – – – – –

Total 1,189 – 1,189 371 – 371

20. Trade and other receivables continued
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Company
Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries and other amounts due from subsidiaries are stated net of provisions for 
impairment of US$16.4 million and US$nil respectively (2013: US$0.2 million and US$nil respectively).

The ageing analysis of Company’s financial assets is as follows:
Company Company

2014 2013

Gross
US$’000

Impairment
US$’000

Net
US$’000

Gross
US$’000

Impairment
US$’000

Net
US$’000

Trade and other receivables 117,766 (16,430) 101,336 121,332 (230) 121,102
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (265) – (265) (325) – (325)

Financial assets within trade and other receivables 117,501 (16,430) 101,071 121,007 (230) 120,777

Not past due 117,501 (16,430) 101,071 121,007 (230) 120,777
Past due 0–30 days – – – – – –
Past due 31–365 days – – – – – –
Past due more than one year – – – – – –

Total 117,501 (16,430) 101,071 121,007 (230) 120,777

21. Inventories
Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Materials and supplies 5,292 7,339
Crude oil inventory 981 310

Total inventory 6,273 7,649

Comprising:
Expected to be used within one year 5,505 4,115
Expected to be used after more than one year 768 3,534

Total inventory 6,273 7,649

Materials and supplies are principally comprised of drilling equipment to be used in the exploration and development of 
the Group’s oil and gas properties in Kazakhstan.

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 527 1,793 85 1,054

23. Restricted cash
Group
Restricted cash comprises US$3.3 million (2013: US$2.8 million) required to be deposited in an environmental 
restoration and rehabilitation fund under the terms of the Group’s Blocks A&E Licence.
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24. Borrowings
Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Bank borrowings due within one year 87,290 63,636 – –

Current debt 87,290 63,636 – –

PIK notes – 27,468 – 27,468

Non-current debt – 27,468 – 27,468

Total borrowings 87,290 91,104 – 27,468

The fair value of the Group’s bank borrowings at 31 March 2014 approximates to their gross carrying value of  
US$88.0 million (2013: US$64.6 million). The fair value of the PIK notes at 31 March 2013, determined by reference  
to the published closing price quotation from the Channel Islands Stock Exchange on that date, was US$19.4 million.

Bank borrowings
In December 2012, the Group closed a US$90 million credit facility (the “Sberbank Loan”) with SB Sberbank JSC 
(“Sberbank”) to refinance the previous credit facility with Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Macquarie Facility” and 
“Macquarie”, respectively), fund the cash portion of a tender offer made to convertible bondholders and fund capital 
expenditures on the Group’s post-salt appraisal and development programme.

The material provisions of the Sberbank Loan are as follows:
 — Interest rate of 11% per annum, payable monthly.
 — Five-year term maturing in November 2017, with quarterly amortisation payments beginning in March 2014.
 — Secured by pledges in favour of Sberbank over the Group’s assets in Kazakhstan.

During the year ended 31 March 2014 the remainder of the Sberbank Loan was drawn down in its entirety and the first 
quarterly amortisation payment was made, leaving US$88 million outstanding as at 31 March 2014. 

At the point of initial recognition, the Group incurred debt issuance costs of US$1.0 million, comprising a facility fee of 
US$0.9 million and directly associated legal fees of US$0.1 million, which were deducted from the liability and are spread 
over the life of the Sberbank Loan as part of the finance cost, using the effective interest rate method. The overall finance 
cost on the Sberbank Loan for the year ended 31 March 2014 was calculated using an average effective interest rate of 
11.3% (2013: 11.3%). 

A reconciliation of the amounts outstanding on the Sberbank Loan is as follows:
Group

Gross 
US$’000

Debt issuance 
costs 

US$’000
Net 

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 – – –
Drawdown of loan 64,596 – 64,596
Debt issuance costs incurred – (1,003) (1,003)
Amortisation of debt issuance costs to finance costs – 43 43

Balance at 31 March 2013 64,596 (960) 63,636
Drawdown of loan 25,402 – 25,402
Repayment of loan (2,025) – (2,025)
Amortisation of debt issuance costs to finance costs – 277 277

Balance at 31 March 2014 87,973 (683) 87,290



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201472

The Group was in technical breach of certain banking covenants related to production and reserves at 31 March 2014. 
Accordingly, the entire loan amount has been classified within current liabilities in the Group balance sheet. The Group is 
currently working with Sberbank to reset the production and reserves covenants to reflect the lowered expectations of the 
Group following the Ryder Scott 2P reserves estimate of 9.5 mmboe as at 31 March 2014. The Group is current on all 
interest and principal payments due under the Sberbank Loan, which have been made when due with no late payments.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group used the proceeds from the Sberbank Loan to pay Macquarie US$50 
million in full and final settlement of the US$52.2 million outstanding under the Macquarie Facility. The cancellation of 
the amounts outstanding under the Macquarie Facility resulted in a gain of US$2.2 million, recognised in the income 
statement as part of finance income for the year ended 31 March 2013. 

A reconciliation of the amounts outstanding on the Macquarie Facility is as follows:
Group and 
Company

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 50,170
Drawdown of loan 2,020
Repayment of loan (50,000)
Debt cancellation (2,190)

Balance at 31 March 2013 –

Convertible bonds and PIK notes
Max Petroleum completed an offering of convertible bonds on 8 September 2006 (the “Bonds”), raising a total of US$75 
million before issuance costs. Cash interest payments due on 8 March 2009, 8 September 2009 and 8 September 2010 
were deferred and converted into additional principal (i.e. payment in kind or “PIK”), resulting in a revised principal of 
US$85.6 million. 

The Bonds bore interest at 6.75% per annum, payable semi-annually, and were convertible at a price of 32p per ordinary 
share, with a fixed exchange rate of US$1.49 to £1. The holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”) had a right to convert 
the Bonds through to final maturity on 8 September 2013. The Bonds were publicly traded on the Channel Islands Stock 
Exchange.

The Group did not pay the US$2.9 million semi-annual coupon interest due 8 September 2012, having previously 
obtained written assurances from holders representing greater than 75% of the Bonds to defer the coupon payment 
pending a broader restructuring of the Group’s outstanding debt.

In December 2012, as part of a comprehensive restructuring of its outstanding debt facilities, the Bondholders agreed to 
exchange their Bonds for a combination of cash and ordinary shares (the “Bond Restructuring”). The US$2.9 million of 
interest due on the Bonds on 8 September 2012 was capitalised and added to the outstanding principal amount of the 
Bonds of US$85.6 million, with effect from 8 September 2012. A further US$1.7 million of interest, covering the period 
from 8 September 2012 to 19 December 2012, was also capitalised and added to principal, resulting in a revised principal 
of US$90.2 million at the date of the Bond Restructuring.

Pursuant to the terms of the Bond Restructuring, on 20 December 2012, the Bondholders exchanged the revised 
outstanding principal of US$90.2 million for the following:

 — 708,999,985 ordinary shares.
 — PIK notes with a principal amount of US$26.7 million.
 — Promissory notes with a principal amount of US$3.4 million.
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The PIK note principal of US$26.7 million, plus interest accruing at a rate of 10% per annum, was subject to mandatory 
conversion into ordinary shares upon the receipt of approval under Article 12 of the Kazakhstan Law on Subsoil and 
Subsoil Use, at a conversion price of 5p per ordinary share with a fixed exchange rate of US$1.6 per £1. Following written 
receipt of the approval, the outstanding principal and accrued interest of US$28.6 million was converted into 357,571,134 
ordinary shares in September 2013 (note 30).

The promissory note principal of US$3.4 million, plus interest accrued at a rate of 6.75% per annum, was settled in cash 
in March 2013.

The Bond Restructuring in December 2012 was deemed to be a substantial modification, triggering a debt 
extinguishment and recognition of new debt and equity under the requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments 
Recognition and Measurement. In accordance with IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments, the 708,999,985 ordinary shares were recognised at their fair value of 5p per share, a total of US$56.7 
million, split between share capital and share premium (see notes 30 and 31). The PIK notes and promissory notes were 
recognised as liabilities at their respective fair values of US$26.7 million and US$3.4 million. As a result of the 
extinguishment, the previous carrying value of the Bonds of US$87.7 million was derecognised. The difference between 
the aggregate fair value of the new debt and equity issued of US$86.8 million and the US$87.7 million carrying value 
extinguished was US$0.9 million and was recognised as a gain on derecognition in the income statement during the year 
ended 31 March 2013 within finance income (note 8).

Movements in the Bonds during the year ended 31 March 2013 were as follows:
Group and Company

Gross
US$’000

Bond 
discount1

US$’000
Net

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 85,588 (4,716) 80,872
Notional interest incurred – 2,273 2,273
Interest capitalised 8 September 2012 2,889 – 2,889
Interest capitalised 20 December 2012 1,692 – 1,692
Derecognised on extinguishment (90,169) 2,443 (87,726)

Balance at 31 March 2013 – – –

1   On initial recognition, the equity component of the Bonds was booked as a bond discount and subsequently amortised over the maturity of the Bonds using the effective 
interest rate.

The PIK notes were recognised as a financial liability in their entirety, as the mandatory conversion to ordinary shares 
was contingent upon obtaining the requisite Kazakhstan regulatory approvals and thus outside the control of both the 
issuer and the holder. Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, the PIK notes were carried at amortised cost whereby 
the carrying value increased at an effective interest rate of 10% until they were converted. 

The movements in the PIK notes were as follows:
Group and 
Company

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 –
Issued pursuant to Bond Restructuring 26,715
Accrued PIK interest to 31 March 2013 753

Balance at 31 March 2013 27,468
Accrued PIK interest to 28 August 2013 1,137
Conversion into ordinary shares (note 30) (28,605)

Balance at 31 March 2014 –

Interest expense
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group incurred US$10.3 million (2013: US$12.1 million) in interest expense 
in respect of its borrowings, of which US$6.0 million (2013: US$7.1 million) was capitalised to intangible assets – 
exploration and appraisal expenditure. 

24. Borrowings continued
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25. Fair values
The directors have reviewed the financial statements and have concluded that, other than as disclosed relating to the fair 
values of the borrowings (note 24), there are no significant differences between the book values and the fair values of the 
financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and Company as at 31 March 2014 and 2013.

26. Financial risk management
Capital risk management
The Group is engaged in the exploration and production of oil and gas assets in the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s 
strategy is to maximise reserves, production and cash flow from its shallow, post-salt discoveries in its Blocks A&E Licence 
area in the Pre-Caspian Basin, while continuing to pursue the higher impact exploration potential of its pre-salt portfolio.

The Group’s approach to managing capital is to ensure that the Group has enough liquidity to execute its business 
strategy during the next three to five years, with an ultimate goal of becoming self-financing from cash flow from 
operations and adding significant tangible asset value by proving up oil and gas reserves. The Group’s capital structure 
consists of debt, comprising the Sberbank Loan (note 24), cash and cash equivalents (note 22), and equity attributable to 
owners of the Company (notes 30, 31 and 32), comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may put in place new debt facilities, issue new shares for cash or 
repay or restructure existing debt facilities as appropriate.

The Group and Company’s capital and net debt were made up as follows: 

Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Bank borrowings 87,290 63,636 – –
PIK notes – 27,468 – 27,468
Less cash and cash equivalents (527) (1,793) (85) (1,054)

Net debt 86,763 89,311 (85) 26,414
Equity 127,357 172,832 144,159 222,478

Capital and net debt 214,120 262,143 144,074 248,892

Net debt is calculated as debt, as shown in the borrowings note (note 24), less cash and cash equivalents (note 22).

Financial instruments risk management 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 — credit risk;
 — liquidity risk; and
 — market risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. Together with the issue 
of equity share capital, the main purpose of these is to finance the Group’s operations and expansion. The Group has 
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables which arise directly from normal trading.

In relation to its principal operating activities, the Group has not entered into any derivatives or other hedging instruments 
during either the year ended 31 March 2014 or the year ended 31 March 2013. There were no derivatives outstanding at 
31 March 2014 or 31 March 2013.
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Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from default. 

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent balances is limited as the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international ratings agencies. 

The Group sells to a small number of domestic crude buyers in Kazakhstan and has one international customer for its 
export sales (2013: two international customers). There is no credit risk arising from domestic sales of crude oil in the 
Republic of Kazakhstan as the Group is paid in advance for the delivery of crude oil to the local buyer. Credit risk on 
export sales of crude oil from the Republic of Kazakhstan is managed by stand-by letters of credit issued in the Group’s 
favour by recognised international banks with high credit ratings.

The Group and Company do not hold any other collateral as security against trade and other receivables.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date was:

Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Trade and other receivables (note 20) 14,395 13,006 101,336 121,102
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (note 20) (13,206) (12,635) (265) (325)

Receivables classified as financial assets 1,189 371 101,071 120,777
Cash and cash equivalents (note 22) 527 1,793 85 1,054
Restricted cash (note 23) 3,318 2,790 – –

Total financial assets 5,034 4,954 101,156 121,831

The Group’s trade and other receivables not classified as financial assets include US$11.2 million (2013: US$8.3 million) 
of recoverable Kazakhstan VAT (note 20).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing its liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquid funds and 
available debt and equity capital to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation. 

Due to the nature of the underlying business, this is managed by careful monitoring of rolling forecasts of the Group’s 
liquidity reserve (comprised of undrawn borrowing facilities (note 24) and cash and cash equivalents (note 22)) on the 
basis of expected cash flow and projected amount of capital expenditure required. 

Further discussion of the Group’s liquidity and capital resources may be found on page 16 of the Strategic Report.

The following table analyses the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on  
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are  
the contractual undiscounted cash flows at maturity. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the 
impact of discounting is not significant. Prepayments from customers and certain other amounts included in trade and 
other payables are not classified as financial liabilities and have been excluded.

26. Financial risk management continued
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Group

Less than  
6 months
US$’000

6 – 12 
months

US$’000

1 – 2  
years

US$’000

2 – 5  
years

US$’000

More than  
5 years

US$’000

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

US$’000

Carrying 
value

US$’000

At 31 March 2014
Bank borrowings 87,973 – – – – 87,973 87,290
Trade and other payables 11,767 90 – – – 11,857 11,857

99,740 90 – – – 99,830 99,147

At 31 March 2013

PIK notes – – – 44,766 – 44,766 27,468
Bank borrowings 64,596 – – – – 64,596 63,636
Trade and other payables 5,341 88 – – – 5,429 5,429

69,937 88 – 44,766 – 114,791 96,533

Company

Less than  
6 months
US$’000

6 – 12 
months

US$’000

1 – 2  
years

US$’000

2 – 5  
years

US$’000

More than  
5 years

US$’000

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

US$’000

Carrying 
value

US$’000

At 31 March 2014
Trade and other payables 2,316 – – – – 2,316 2,316

2,316 – – – – 2,316 2,316

At 31 March 2013

PIK notes – – – 44,766 – 44,766 27,468
Trade and other payables 3,722 – – – – 3,722 3,722

3,722 – – 44,766 – 48,488 31,190

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other market prices 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group’s activities expose it 
primarily to the financial risks of changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The 
Group has not entered into any derivative instruments to mitigate the commodity price risk associated with its underlying 
oil revenues. 

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange fluctuations 
may arise from sales, purchases, cash balances and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Group’s entities, being the US dollar. The currency in which these transactions and balances 
are primarily denominated is the US dollar, and as such, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk. 
There were no foreign currency financial derivatives in place at 31 March 2014 or 31 March 2013. It is the Group’s policy 
to manage its foreign exchange risk by minimising balances and transactions in foreign currencies, as analysed below:

 — The Group’s borrowings are denominated in US dollars and therefore not subject to foreign exchange risk.
 — The Group invoices export crude oil sales in US dollars which are therefore not subject to foreign exchange risk.
 — The Group invoices domestic crude oil sales in the local currency, the Kazakh tenge, on a prepayments basis. 
 — The Group holds the majority of its cash and cash equivalents in US dollars. 
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Exposure to currency risk
The Group is mainly exposed to currency risks on certain bank deposits, receivables and payables denominated in GBP 
and KZT.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk from financial instruments was as follows, based on US dollar equivalent 
carrying amounts at the reporting date:

Group Group

2014 2013

In US$’000 equivalent GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Trade and other receivables 164 – – 152 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 63 14 7 65 91 13
Trade and other payables (457) (8,841) (7) (503) (2,413) (71)

Net exposure (230) (8,827) – (286) (2,322) (58)

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows, based on US dollar equivalent carrying amounts at the 
reporting date:

Company Company

2014 2013

In US$’000 equivalent GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Trade and other receivables 164 – – 152 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 63 – – 65 – –
Trade and other payables (457) – (1) (503) – (11)

Net exposure (230) – (1) (286) – (11)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following tables detail the Group’s and Company’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening in US dollars against the 
respective foreign currencies, which represents management’s assessment of a reasonable change in foreign exchange rates. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and has been determined based on the change taking place 
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. 

A 10% strengthening of the US dollar at 31 March would have increased/(decreased) the Group’s and Company’s equity 
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below:

Group Group

2014 2013

Effect in US$’000 GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Profit or (loss) (23) (883) – (29) (232) (6)

Equity – – – – – –

Company Company

2014 2013

Effect in US$’000 GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Profit or (loss) (23) – – (29) – (1)

Equity – – – – – –

A 10% weakening of the US dollar against the currencies above at 31 March would have had an equal but opposite effect 
on the amounts shown above, assuming all other variables remained constant.

26. Financial risk management continued
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Interest rate risk
The Group was previously exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrowed funds at both fixed and  
floating interest rates. All of the Group’s borrowings are now at fixed interest rates. Cash and restricted cash are held  
in non-interest bearing accounts.

Exposure to interest rate risk
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Fixed rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents 527 –
Restricted cash 3,318 –
PIK notes – (27,468)
Bank borrowings (87,973) (64,596)

(84,128) (92,064)

Variable rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents – 1,793
Restricted cash – 2,790

– 4,583

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Fixed rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents 85 –
PIK notes – (27,468)

85 (27,468)

Variable rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents – 1,054

– 1,054

Interest rate sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, 
a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity.
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date. For 
variable rate instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the instrument outstanding at the balance 
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. At the balance sheet date, if interest rates had been 200 basis points higher/ 
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s and Company’s profit or loss and equity would have 
increased/ (decreased) by the amounts shown below:

Group

Profit or (loss) Equity

200 bp 
increase

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease
US$’000

200 bp 
increase

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease
US$’000

At 31 March 2014
Variable rate instruments n/a n/a n/a n/a

At 31 March 2013
Variable rate instruments 92 – – –

Company

Profit or (loss) Equity

200 bp 
increase

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease
US$’000

200 bp 
increase

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease
US$’000

At 31 March 2014
Variable rate instruments n/a n/a n/a n/a

At 31 March 2013
Variable rate instruments 21 – – –

The amounts generated from the sensitivity analyses are estimates of the impact of market risk assuming that specified 
changes occur. Actual results in the future may differ materially from these results due to developments in the global 
financial markets which may cause exchange rates or interest rates to vary from the hypothetical amounts disclosed 
above, which therefore should not be considered a projection of future events and losses.

27. Deferred income tax
Group
The movements in the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Group

At 1 April 
2013

US$’000

(Charged)/
credited 

to income 
statement
US$’000

At 31 March 
2014

US$’000

Fixed assets and allowances (19,275) 1,013 (18,262)
Decommissioning (210) (28) (238)
Other temporary differences 957 690 1,647
Tax losses 13,644 (6,025) 7,619

Deferred tax liability, net (4,884) (4,350) (9,234)

26. Financial risk management continued
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Group

At 1 April 
2012

US$’000

(Charged)/
credited 

to income 
statement
US$’000

At 31 March 
2013

US$’000

Fixed assets and allowances (15,105) (4,170) (19,275)
Decommissioning – (210) (210)
Other temporary differences – 957 957
Tax losses 15,105 (1,461) 13,644

Deferred tax liability, net – (4,884) (4,884)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so and are presented in 
the balance sheet after offset as follows:

Group

At 1 April 
2012

US$’000

At 31 March 
2013

US$’000

At 31 March 
2014

US$’000

Deferred tax assets – – –
Deferred tax liabilities – (4,884) (9,234)

– (4,884) (9,234)

Where the realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent on future profits, the Group recognises losses carried forward 
and other deferred tax assets only to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits 
is probable. 

The Group did not recognise other potential deferred tax assets arising from losses of US$26.4 million (2013: US$23.2 
million) as there is insufficient evidence of future taxable profits. Unrecognised losses of US$5.6 million can be carried 
forward up to ten years and the balance of losses of US$20.8 million can be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 March 2014, the Group had other deferred tax assets of US$0.6 million (2013: US$nil) in respect of the exploration 
assets pool, depreciation and other temporary differences which had not been recognised because of insufficient evidence 
of future taxable profits.

There are no significant unrecognised temporary differences associated with undistributed profits of subsidiaries at  
31 March 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Company
At 31 March 2014 and 2013 respectively, the Company had no recognised deferred tax assets or liabilities. 

At 31 March 2014, the Company had not recognised potential deferred tax assets arising from losses of US$25.2 million 
(2013: US$29.8 million) as there is insufficient evidence of future taxable profits. The losses can be carried forward 
indefinitely.

At 31 March 2014, the Company had other deferred tax assets of US$0.1 million (2013: US$nil) in respect of other 
temporary differences which had not been recognised because of insufficient evidence of future taxable profits.
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28. Provision for liabilities and other charges
Group Company

Provision for 
restructuring 

costs 
US$’000

Provision for 
decommissioning 

costs 
US$’000

Total 
US$’000

Provision for 
restructuring 

costs 
US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2013 – 4,012 4,012 –
Additions 3,759 1,771 5,530 256
Utilisation of provision – (609) (609) –
Adjustment for change in discount rate – 387 387 –
Unwinding of discount (note 9) – 339 339 –

Balance at 31 March 2014 3,759 5,900 9,659 256

Analysis of total provisions:
Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Non-current 5,900 4,012 – –
Current 3,759 – 256 –

9,659 4,012 256 –

Decommissioning
The decommissioning provision relates to non-producing oil and gas wells in the licence area at the time it was acquired 
and the wells drilled and facilities constructed by the Group since acquisition. The decommissioning provision reflects the 
present value of internal estimates of future decommissioning costs of the Group’s oil and gas properties, as at the relevant 
balance sheet date, determined using local pricing conditions and requirements. The provision is estimated after taking 
account of inflation, years to abandonment and an appropriate discount rate. The decommissioning costs are expected to 
be incurred between 2017 and 2034. 

The inflation rate used at 31 March 2014 to estimate the future expenditure was 6.7% (31 March 2013: 5.6%) and the 
discount rate used to determine the present value of the obligation was 7.6% (31 March 2013: 7.2%).
 
The actual decommissioning costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for the decommissioning work required, 
which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of decommissioning is likely to depend 
on when the fields cease to produce at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend on future oil and gas prices, 
which are inherently uncertain.

Restructuring costs
The Group has established a restructuring provision of US$3.8 million as at 31 March 2014, for severance and other 
transitional expenses associated with various cost reduction measures. These include the closure of the Group’s Houston 
office, the reduction in size and cost of the Group’s London office, and a reduction in senior management and 
administrative personnel in Houston, London and in Kazakhstan.
 
29. Trade and other payables

Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Trade payables 8,878 3,682 305 1,425
Other payables 1,091 1,532 8 –
Loans payable by the Company to its subsidiaries – – 1,727 2,000
Social security and other taxes 5,670 5,092 – 340
Accruals and deferred income 22,223 20,079 276 297

37,862 30,385 2,316 4,062

The Group’s accruals and deferred income includes US$19.7 million of prepayments from customers for crude oil sales 
(2013: US$19.2 million).
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30. Share capital
The Company has two classes of share capital, which carry no right to fixed income: ordinary shares and deferred shares. 
Neither class of share is redeemable by the holder.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled:
 — To receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Company.
 — To receive dividends as may be declared from time to time and any distribution. 
 — On a return of capital on a winding up, to receive payment of the nominal capital of 0.01p for each ordinary share held 
and a share in the Company’s residual assets.

The deferred share class was created in 2005 in a capital restructuring and no further shares will be issued. A deferred 
share carries no voting or dividend rights. On a return of capital on a winding up, the holders of deferred shares shall only 
be entitled to receive the amount paid up on such shares after the holders of the ordinary shares have received the sum of 
0.01p for each ordinary share held by them and shall have no other right to participate in the assets of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company issued 357,571,134 ordinary shares as a result of the mandatory 
conversion of US$28.6 million of PIK notes and accrued interest into shares at a price of 5p per share (note 24).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company issued 799,245,491 ordinary shares, comprising:
 — 708,999,985 new ordinary shares issued pursuant to the Bond Restructuring (note 24) upon the conversion of US$56.7 
million of Bonds and accrued interest into shares.
 — 90,245,506 new ordinary shares issued to Zhanros Drilling LLP (“Zhanros”) in settlement of US$7.0 million of 
drilling and ancillary services (see below).

All shares issued are fully paid up.

Zhanros equity for services
On 8 August 2012, Max Petroleum entered into an agreement with Zhanros, one of its drilling contractors, whereby 
Zhanros agreed to fund up to US$7.0 million of drilling and workover services in exchange for ordinary shares in the 
Company (the “Zhanros Agreement”). Under the terms of the Zhanros Agreement, Zhanros agreed to drill up to four 
shallow, post-salt wells and fund related ancillary services in exchange for up to 90,322,581 ordinary shares in the 
Company at a price of 5p per share in lieu of cash payment. 

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group received US$7.0 million of services under the Zhanros Agreement,  
all of which were fully settled by the issue of 90,245,506 ordinary shares during the reporting period.

Number of shares

Issued share capital

Ordinary shares 
of 0.01p each

Deferred shares 
of 14.99p each

At 1 April 2012 1,018,488,858 28,253,329
Increase 799,245,491 –

At 31 March 2013 1,817,734,349 28,253,329
Increase 357,571,134 –

At 31 March 2014 2,175,305,483 28,253,329

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Nominal value

Issued share capital

Ordinary 
shares of 

0.01p each  
US$’000

Deferred 
shares of 

14.99p each  
US$’000

Total all 
classes  

US$’000

At 1 April 2012 171 7,864 8,035
Increase 127 – 127

At 31 March 2013 298 7,864 8,162
Increase 57 – 57

At 31 March 2014 355 7,864 8,219

Authorised share capital
On 13 October 2009 a special resolution was passed to replace the Company’s Articles of Association. Under the new 
Articles of Association, effective 1 October 2009, the Company no longer has an authorised share capital and thus no 
longer has a statutory restriction on the maximum allotment of shares.

31. Share premium 
Group and Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

At 1 April 427,968 364,381
Premium on shares issued during the year 28,548 63,587

At 31 March 456,516 427,968

32. Other reserves
Group

Reserve 
arising on 
purchase 

of minority 
interest

US$’000

Convertible 
bond equity 

reserve
US$’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
US$’000

Warrant 
reserve

US$’000

Total other 
reserves

US$’000

At 1 April 2012 (72,495) 14,833 66,163 103,573 112,074
Share-based payment – – 3,572 – 3,572
Transfer to accumulated deficit – (14,833) – – (14,833)

At 31 March 2013 (72,495) – 69,735 103,573 100,813
Share-based payment – – 2,712 – 2,712

At 31 March 2014 (72,495) – 72,447 103,573 103,525

Company

Convertible 
bond equity 

reserve
US$’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
US$’000

Warrant 
reserve

US$’000

Total other 
reserves

US$’000

At 1 April 2012 14,833 66,163 103,573 184,569
Share-based payment – 3,572 – 3,572
Transfer to accumulated deficit (14,833) – – (14,833)

At 31 March 2013 – 69,735 103,573 173,308
Share-based payment – 2,712 – 2,712

At 31 March 2014 – 72,447 103,573 176,020

30. Share capital continued
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Macquarie syndicate warrants
A restructuring of the Macquarie Facility in 2009 and subsequent increases in its borrowing base commitment vested warrants 
to subscribe for up to 365,278,737 ordinary shares of the Company at exercise prices between 4.54p and 5.67p (the “Warrant 
Deeds”).

Exercise and expiry date
Each warrant tranche has an expiration date of five years from the date the relevant tranche vests, by which time the warrant 
holders need to have exercised their entitlement to subscribe for ordinary shares. 

Anti-dilution provisions
To prevent the dilution of the rights granted under the Warrant Deeds, the exercise price and the number of ordinary shares that 
may be purchased pursuant to the Warrant Deeds are subject to adjustments from time to time if ordinary shares are issued due 
to the conversion of the Company’s Bonds or due to the exercise of employee share options issued on or before 30 June 2009. 

The conversion of the PIK notes in September 2013 into 357,571,134 ordinary shares and the earlier conversion of the Bonds 
into 708,999,985 ordinary shares in December 2012 (see note 24) triggered the anti-dilution provisions under the Warrant 
Deeds. As a result, the warrant holders were issued additional warrants granting them a right to subscribe for 48,931,130 
ordinary shares at 5p per share and the expiry date of the Warrant Deeds was set at 31 December 2015.

The table below sets out the warrants held by the Macquarie Facility syndicate partners at 31 March 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise  

(pence)
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise  

(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 48,692,917 5.5 – 48,692,917 5.5 –
Anti-dilution warrant grant 48,931,130 5.0 – – – –
Exercised – – – – – –
Cancelled – – – – – –

Outstanding at end of year 97,624,047 5.2 – 48,692,917 5.5 –

Of the outstanding Macquarie syndicate warrants at 31 March 2014, all 97,624,047 were fully vested and exercisable 
(2013: 48,692,917). 

Convertible bond warrants
On 8 March 2009, 8 September 2009 and 8 September 2010, the Company elected to defer the cash interest payments 
due on its Bonds into additional principal, which each vested a five-year warrant exercisable at 5p per ordinary share over 
30 million ordinary shares (the “Bondholder warrants”). 

The warrant table below sets out the Bondholder warrants outstanding at 31 March 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise  

(pence)
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise  

(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 8,340,000 5.0 – 8,340,000 5.0 –
Bondholder warrant grants – – – – – –
Exercised – – – – – –

Outstanding at end of year 8,340,000 5.0 – 8,340,000 5.0 –

Of the outstanding Bondholder warrants at 31 March 2014, all 8,340,000 were fully vested and exercisable (2013: 8,340,000), 
of which 4,940,000 warrants expire on 8 September 2014 and 3,400,000 expire on 8 September 2015. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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33. Share-based payment
Share options
The Company has granted share options to directors, employees, strategic consultants and advisors to the Group to 
provide incentives for long-term performance and retention. 

Share options are typically granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s shares on 
the date of grant. However, in conjunction with the Bond Restructuring on 20 December 2012 (note 24), 113,415,000 
options were granted to directors, officers and certain employees of the Group at an exercise price of 5p per share, when 
the closing market price was 3.7p.

Options granted to directors and employees typically vest in equal proportions over a three-year period from the date  
of grant. 

The share options granted are not subject to any performance criteria apart from, in respect of directors and employees, 
their continued service with and employment by the Group. Ordinarily, options are forfeited if the director or employee 
leaves the Group before the options vest.

The options granted on 20 December 2012 will expire four years from the date of grant if unexercised. Previously, the 
maximum term of options granted was ten years and in the normal course of granting, seven years.

The share options operate on a wholly equity-settled principle – the Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share option table below sets out the options granted, exercised and outstanding at 31 March 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013

Number  
of share  
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Number  
of share  
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 210,305,177 7.5 109,738,063 19.0
Granted 3,000,000 5.0 114,615,000 5.0
Forfeited or cancelled (9,362,666) 5.0 (2,484,582) 16.9
Expired (9,401,540) 16.4 (11,563,304) 21.7
Exercised – – – –

Outstanding at end of year 194,540,971 7.2 210,305,177 7.5

Of the outstanding options at the end of the year, 124,403,054 options (2013: 82,762,880) were vested and exercisable at 
that date with a weighted average exercise price of 8.4p (2013: 11.5p).

The Black-Scholes valuation model is used to determine the fair value of the share options issued by the Company. For 
options granted during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013, the expected volatility measured at the 
standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of the Company’s historical 
share price.
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The following table represents the weighted averages of the variables used to estimate the fair value of options granted 
during the year: 

2014 
Weighted 

average 

2013 
Weighted 

average 

Exercise price of option contract 5.0 5.0
Share price on date of grant 3.6 3.7
Expected term before option exercise 3.0 years 3.0 years
Risk free interest rate 0.3% 0.6%
Expected dividend yield – –
Expected share volatility 89.9% 97.6%

The expected term before exercise used in the model ranges from 2.5 to 3.5 years. 

The directors concluded that the average fair value of the options issued during the current year was 1.8p (2013: 2.0p). 
The Group has recorded a charge to administrative expenses in its consolidated income statement for the value of services 
of US$2.7 million (2013: US$3.6 million), net of adjustments for unvested options cancelled or forfeited during the year. 
The share-based payment reserve is stated as US$72.4 million (2013: US$69.7 million). 

For those options outstanding at year-end, the following table summarises the range of exercise prices, weighted average 
exercise prices and the average remaining life, analysed into the main groups of recipients, as follows:

2014 2013

Exercise price 
range  

(pence)
Number of  

share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Average 
remaining 

contractual 
life  

(years)

Exercise price 
range  

(pence)
Number of  

share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Average 
remaining 

contractual 
life  

(years)

Directors1 4.75-120.5 114,803,402 6.4 2.7 4.75-120.5 118,303,402 6.3 3.6
Employees 4.75-201.75 65,562,400 5.6 2.9 4.75-201.75 74,386,606 6.9 3.8
Advisory Committee 4.75-5.0 7,937,500 5.0 3.1 4.75-5.0 9,937,500 4.9 3.3
Other advisors and 

consultants 4.75-120.5 6,237,669 42.1 1.6 4.75-120.5 7,677,669 35.4 3.0

4.75-201.75 194,540,971 7.2 2.8 4.75-201.75 210,305,177 7.5 3.6

1 The directors’ share options at 31 March 2014 include 5,147,131 options held by past directors of the Company (31 March 2013: 5,147,131).

The average closing market price of the Company’s ordinary 0.01p shares during the year was 3.4p (2013: 5.4p). 

Effective 20 December 2012, for all serving employees and directors of record of the Company on that date, the Company 
modified the exercise price of share options with an exercise price above 5p to 5p. The incremental fair value of the 
repriced options of US$0.9 million was determined using the Black Scholes model, of which US$0.7 million was 
recognised as part of the share-based payment expense for the year-ended 31 March 2013 and the remainder is expensed 
over the remaining vesting period of the repriced options.

The Company did not modify or vary any share option arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2014.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. Notes to the cash flow statement
Reconciliation to cash generated from/(used in) operations

Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Loss before tax: (71,709) (5,100) (109,636) (15,769)
Adjustments for:
– Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 25,091 22,080 12 12
– Gain on disposal of PP&E (note 11) – (24) – –
– Share-based payment charge (note 13) 2,712 3,572 1,790 2,244
– Exploration and appraisal expenditure written-off (note 11) 4,109 7,008 – –
– Foreign exchange loss 444 58 18 51
– Change in provisions 3,759 – 256 –
– Impairment losses (note 7) 64,595 – 103,666 22
– Finance income (note 8) – (3,122) – (3,397)
– Finance costs (note 9) 5,914 7,053 1,137 11,898

Operating cash flow before working capital movements 34,915 31,525 (2,757) (4,939)
Changes in working capital:
– Inventories (376) 825 – –
– Trade and other receivables (2,912) (1,534) 3,566 59,934
– Trade and other payables 2,357 9,586 (1,195) 363

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 33,984 40,402 (386) 55,358

Summary of significant non-cash transactions
Group Company

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

Investing transactions
Share-based payment capitalised to exploration and appraisal assets1 – 6,058 – –
Share-based payment capitalised to oil and gas properties1 – 211 – –
Share-based payment contribution to subsidiaries (note 19) – – 922 1,328
Impairment of intangible exploration and appraisal assets (note 7) 64,595 – – –
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries (note 19) – – 87,466 –

Financing transactions
Issuance of ordinary shares – Zhanros services (note 30) – 6,994 – 6,994
Issuance of ordinary shares – Bond Restructuring (note 24) 28,605 56,720 28,605 56,720
Gain on derecognition of convertible bonds (note 8) – 924 – 924
Gain on derecognition of Macquarie Facility (note 8) – 2,190 – 2,190

1 Includes share-based payment arrangements with Zhanros (see note 30).
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35. Related party disclosures
The Company has no ultimate controlling party.

Key management personnel
Disclosures related to the remuneration of key management personnel as defined in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” 
are given in note 13. 

Intercompany transactions
During the year, the Company:

 — Invoiced rechargeable costs with mark-up to subsidiaries of US$2.0 million (2013: US$1.6 million).
 — Incurred recharges from subsidiaries of US$0.1 million (2013: US$0.1 million).
 — Earned interest of US$nil (2013: US$0.3 million) from subsidiaries on Group loans.
 — Received net repayments from its subsidiaries of US$3.5 million (2013: received net repayments of US$60.2 million).
 — Recharged subsidiaries US$nil (2013: $7.0 million) for the issuance of shares under the Zhanros Agreement (note 30).

During the year, the Company’s subsidiaries settled US$1.6 million of liabilities to third parties on behalf of the Company 
(2013: US$1.4 million).

The amount of loans repayable on demand from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 March 2014 totalled 
US$100.9 million, all of which was non-interest bearing (2013: US$120.5 million, all of which was non-interest bearing). 
Loans receivable are stated net of provisions for impairment of US$16.4 million (2013: US$0.2 million) (note 20).

The amount of loans payable on demand by the Company at 31 March 2014 to its subsidiaries totalled US$1.7 million 
(2013: US$2.0 million), all of which were non-interest bearing.

Accounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 March 2014 totalled US$0.05 million  
(2013: US$0.04 million). 

36. Operating lease arrangements
The lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year were as follows:

Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Lease payments during the year 14,400 11,539 235 191
Less: Lease payments capitalised to exploration and appraisal expenditure (11,840) (9,148) – –

Lease payments recognised as an expense (note 11) 2,560 2,391 235 191

Lease payments during the year include drilling rig rental costs of US$9.3 million (2013: US$6.8 million).

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Group Company

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Within 1 year 581 618 148 227
Within 2–5 years 316 66 18 66

897 684 166 293

The Group’s future minimum lease payments include US$0.4 million in relation to the lease of the Group’s Houston 
office. As the Group plans to vacate the Houston office, it has treated the lease as an onerous contract and has provided 
for the future lease payments as part of the provision for restructuring costs (note 28).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
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37. Commitments and contingencies 
The Group is committed under its Licence to certain future expenditures including a minimum work programme and 
reimbursement of historical costs incurred by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s commitments 
under its Licence are as follows:

Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Minimum work programme 87,918 78,373
Historical costs 24,190 24,201

112,108 102,574

The minimum work programme is agreed with the Ministry of Oil and Gas of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the 
“MOG”) and covers exploration and production activities in Blocks A&E from 2014 to 2021. It also includes social 
infrastructure contributions and commitments for the training of local personnel. Qualifying exploration, development 
and operating expenditure incurred by the licence holder are deductible from these future commitments. The Group 
expects that the future revenues generated from operating its fields will significantly exceed its obligations under the 
minimum work programme.

The total commitment at 31 March 2014 includes US$24.2 million of historical costs incurred by the Republic of 
Kazakhstan for the exploration of Blocks A&E prior to the Group’s acquisition of the Licence (2013: US$24.2 million). 
Historical costs become payable from the date when a certain field is transferred to the production stage under FFD and 
the amount payable for the field is determined by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan in a separate agreement. 
The amount of historical costs allocated to each discovery is determined based on a mining allotment agreed with the 
Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan once a commercial discovery has been made and FFD has started. 

38. Post balance sheet events
Strategic partner investment by AGR Energy 
On 4 August 2014, the Group announced that it had agreed a conditional cash subscription with AGR Energy No. 1 
Limited (“AGR Energy”) which would raise approximately US$62.5 million before expenses as consideration for the issue 
for 2,264,093,462 new ordinary shares at a price of 1.64p per share (the “Subscription”). Immediately following 
completion of the Subscription, AGR Energy would hold 51% of the Company’s enlarged issued share capital. AGR 
Energy is a vehicle owned by the Assaubayev family established for the purpose of the Subscription. The Subscription is 
conditional upon a number of conditions, including approval of the Company’s shareholders and receiving regulatory 
approvals from the Government in Kazakhstan. 

The Subscription would enable the Group to fund its planned capital programme to develop its post-salt fields and 
maximise reserves and production. In addition, Max Petroleum would be in a strengthened position to attract financial or 
industry partners to help finish its pre-salt NUR-1 well and to secure an extension of the exploration period of its Blocks 
A&E Licence in western Kazakhstan to enable it to have time to finish drilling NUR-1 and, if it is successful, the 
Kurzhem well. The Company would also be able to consider investment in other projects in Kazakhstan and across 
Central Asia that complement its existing activities.

Issuance of share options
On 27 May 2014 additional options to subscribe for 89 million new ordinary shares of the Company were granted to the 
Directors, officers and certain employees of the Company at an exercise price of 1.2p per share, of which one third are 
exercisable in equal amounts on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. The options have a term of 
four years and any unexercised options will expire on 27 May 2018. 
 
Sberbank Loan
Subsequent to 31 March 2014, the Group repaid US$2.0 million of the Sberbank Loan (note 24), resulting in a total gross 
principal outstanding of US$85.9 million as at 19 August 2014.
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39. Non-IFRS measures
The Group presents “Adjusted EBITDA” as a non-IFRS earnings measure to provide additional information to investors 
in order to allow an alternative method for assessing the Group’s financial results. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit/
(loss) before finance income, finance expense, income tax expense, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, share-based 
payment expense, exploration and appraisal costs, restructuring costs and impairment losses. Adjusted EBITDA is a key 
performance indicator used by the Board to measure underlying operating profitability. 

A reconciliation of operating profit to Adjusted EBITDA is shown below:
Group

2014 
US$’000

2013 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

Profit/(loss) (76,792) (10,125) (8,151)
Finance income – (3,122) (20)
Finance costs 5,914 7,053 2,672
Income tax expense 5,083 5,025 63
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 25,091 22,080 16,520
Share-based payment expense (note 13) 2,712 3,572 4,898
Exploration and appraisal costs (note 11) 4,109 7,008 4,360
Restructuring costs 3,759 – –
Impairment losses (note 7) 64,595 – –

Adjusted EBITDA 34,471 31,491 20,342

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE – OIL AND 
GAS RESERVES (UNAUDITED)

Supplemental disclosure – oil and gas reserves (unaudited)
The Group’s estimates of proved and probable reserve quantities are taken from the Group’s Competent Person’s 
evaluation report for the Group’s oil and gas fields as of 31 March 2014. Proved reserves are estimated reserves that 
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years under existing 
economic and operating conditions, while probable reserves are estimated reserves determined to be more likely than not 
to be recoverable in future years under existing economic and operating conditions. Refer to the glossary for definitions.

All of the Group’s oil and gas assets are located in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Group proved plus probable reserves

Oil and gas
Mboe

At 1 April 2013 10,869
Revisions of previous estimates 48
Discoveries and extensions –
Acquisitions –
Divestitures –
Production (1,423)

Balance at 31 March 2014 9,494

Group proved plus probable reserves

Oil and gas
Mboe

At 1 April 2012 10,633
Revisions of previous estimates 759
Discoveries and extensions 698
Acquisitions –
Divestitures –
Production (1,221)

Balance at 31 March 2013 10,869
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The following expressions contained in this document have 
the following meanings unless the context otherwise 
requires or unless it is otherwise provided:

2D seismic
seismic recorded in two dimensions

2P reserves
proved plus probable reserves

3D seismic
seismology that uses a grid of numerous cables, rather than 
just a few lines stretched in one direction

3P reserves
proved plus probable plus possible reserves

accumulation
an individual body of petroleum-in-place

barrel
a unit of volume measurement used for petroleum and its 
products (7.3 barrels = 1 ton; 6.29 barrels = 1 cubic metre)

bbl
barrel of oil

bboe
billions of barrels of oil equivalent

bcf
billions of cubic feet

block
term commonly used to describe contract area or tract, as 
in “block of land”

boe
barrels of oil equivalent

bopd
barrels of oil production per day

Chance of Success (“CoS”)
the Geological Chance of Success is intended to evaluate the 
probability that a functioning petroleum system is in place for 
each prospective reservoir. The chance of success is the chance 
of the geological model being correct and that a discovery 
may occur. The chance of success is evaluated based on 
technical assessment of five key geological variables: trap, 
reservoir, source and timing, migration and seal

condensate
hydrocarbons which are in the gaseous state under 
reservoir conditions and which become liquid when 
temperature or pressure is reduced. A mixture of pentanes 
and higher hydrocarbons

contingent resources
contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum 
which are estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from known accumulations, but the applied 
project(s) are not yet considered mature enough for 
commercial development due to one or more contingencies. 
Contingent resources may include, for example, projects 
for which there is currently no viable market, or where 
commercial recovery is dependent on the development of 
new technology, or where evaluation of the accumulation 
is insufficient to assess commerciality

crude oil
liquid petroleum as it comes out of the ground, as 
distinguished from refined oils manufactured out of it

discovery
an exploration well which has encountered hydrocarbons

exploration
activities associated with ascertaining the existence, 
location, extent or quality of mineralised material, 
including economic and technical evaluations of 
mineralised material

exploration drilling
drilling carried out to determine whether hydrocarbons are 
present in a particular area or structure

exploration well
a well in an unproven area or prospect, may also be known 
as a “wildcat well”

FFD
full field development

field
a geographical area under which an oil or gas reservoir lies

G&G
geological and geophysical

gas field
a field containing natural gas but no oil

geophysical
prospecting techniques which measure the physical 
properties (magnetism, conductivity, density, etc.) of rocks 
and define anomalies for further testing and the 
measurement of the earth’s physical properties to explore 
and delineate hydrocarbons, including electrical, seismic, 
gravity, magnetics, but not including drilling

hydrocarbon
a compound containing only the elements hydrogen and 
carbon. May exist as a solid, a liquid or a gas. The term is 
mainly used in a catch-all sense for oil, gas and condensate
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lead
a project associated with a potential accumulation that is 
currently poorly defined and requires more data acquisition 
and/or evaluation in order to be classified as a prospect

Licence
The Group’s licence for the exploration and production of 
hydrocarbons in Blocks A&E

mbbls
thousands of barrels of oil

mbo
thousand barrels of oil

mboe
thousands of barrels of oil equivalent 

mean
the mean is also known as the expectation or expected 
value. It is the average over the entire probability range, 
weighted with the probability of occurrence

mmbo
millions of barrels of oil

mmboe
millions of barrels of oil equivalent

mmcf
millions of cubic feet

natural gas
gas, occurring naturally, and often found in association 
with crude petroleum

oil
a mixture of liquid hydrocarbons of different  
molecular weights

original-oil-in-place
original-oil-in-place (“OOIP”) is that quantity of oil which 
is estimated to exist originally in naturally occurring 
accumulations. OOIP is, therefore, that quantity of oil 
which is estimated, as of a given date, to be contained in 
known accumulations, plus those quantities already 
produced therefrom, plus those estimated quantities in 
accumulations yet to be discovered. It is recognised that 
not all of the OOIP quantities may constitute potentially 
recoverable resources since the estimation of the 
proportion which may be recoverable can be subject to 
significant uncertainty and will change with variations in 
commercial circumstances, technological developments 
and data availability

oil field
a geographic area under which one or more oil  
reservoirs lie

operator
the company which has legal authority to drill wells and
undertake production of hydrocarbons. The operator is 
often part of a consortium and acts on behalf of this 
consortium

P10
the quantity for which there is a 10% probability that the
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 
estimate

P90
the quantity for which there is a 90% probability that the
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 
estimate

petroleum
a generic name for hydrocarbons, including crude oil, 
natural gas liquids, natural gas and their products

possible reserves
possible reserves are those additional reserves which 
analysis of geoscience and engineering data indicate are 
less likely to be recoverable than probable reserves. The 
total quantities ultimately recovered from the project have 
a low probability to exceed the sum of proved plus 
probable plus possible (“3P”), which is equivalent to the 
high estimate scenario. When probabilistic methods are 
used, there should be at least a 10% probability that  
the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the 
3P estimate

post-salt
above the salt layer

pre-salt
below the salt layer

Pre-Caspian Basin
the sedimentary basin at the North end of the Caspian
extending from Astrakhan in Russia to Aktubinsk in West 
Kazakhstan. Sometimes called Pri-Caspian or Peri-Caspian

probable reserves
probable reserves are those unproved reserves which 
analysis of geological and engineering data suggest are 
more likely than not to be recoverable. In this context, 
when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at 
least a 50% probability that the quantities actually 
recovered will equal or exceed the sum of estimated proved 
plus probable reserves
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prospect
a defined geological or geophysical feature or anomaly that 
has been surveyed and defined, usually by seismic data, to a 
degree that its configuration is fairly well established and that 
is considered potentially to have a hydrocarbon accumulation 

prospective resources
prospective resources are those quantities of petroleum 
which are estimated, on a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from undiscovered accumulations

proved reserves
proved reserves are those quantities of petroleum, which 
by analysis of geological and engineering data, can be 
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially 
recoverable, from a given date forward, from known 
reservoirs and under current economic conditions, 
operating methods, and government regulations. If 
deterministic methods are used, the term reasonable 
certainty is intended to express a high degree of confidence 
that the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic 
methods are used, there should be at least a 90% 
probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal 
or exceed the estimate

PV10
After-tax net present value discounted at 10%

reserves
reserves are those quantities of petroleum which are 
anticipated to be commercially recoverable by application 
of development projects to known accumulations from a 
given date forward under defined conditions. Reserves 
must further satisfy the following criteria: they must be 
discovered, recoverable, commercial, and remaining (as of 
the evaluation date) based on the development project(s) 
applied. Reserves are further categorised in accordance 
with the level of certainty associated with the estimates as 
proved, probable or possible

reservoir
the underground formation where oil and gas has 
accumulated consisting of a porous and permeable rock to 
hold the oil or gas, and a cap rock that prevents its escape

risk
risk is defined as the probability of loss or failure. In the  
oil and gas industry, risk is commonly applied to the 
estimation of prospective (undiscovered) resources to 
account for the possibility that the outcome of drilling a 
well may not be successful. Risk is defined through the 
term geological chance of success which considers the 
geological factors that will result in the formation of a 
hydrocarbon reservoir with sufficient quality to allow for 
sustained flow rates of oil or gas

risked resources
risked prospective resource volumes are commonly 
categorised as Risked Mean Resources and are calculated 
by multiplying the unrisked mean resources by the 
geological chance of success to account for the risk of 
drilling an unsuccessful exploration well 

salt dome 
a thickening, up-welling, or doming of ductile salt after burial 
caused by variation in density and overburden pressure

seismic
recording of sound waves

super-giant
super-giant fields have ultimately recoverable reserves 
greater than 5 billion boe as, usually, giant fields have 
ultimately recoverable reserves greater than 500 million boe

TD
total depth of a well, when drilling has finished

TPP
trial production project

unrisked resources
unrisked prospective resource volumes are commonly
categorised as Unrisked P90, P50, P10 or Mean Resources 
and are estimated before multiplying by the geological 
chance of success which assumes that the drilling of an 
exploration well is successful

well log data
measurements of the physical properties in the borehole 

GLOSSARY
CONTINUED
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(the “Company”)
(incorporated and registered in England and Wales under number 5419021)

NOTICE OF AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the Lansdowne Club, 9 Fitzmaurice Place, 
Mayfair, London, W1J 5JD on Tuesday 30 September 2014 at 11.00 a.m. (London time) to consider and, if thought fit, pass the 
following resolutions, of which resolutions 1 to 7 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions, and resolution 8 will be proposed as 
a special resolution:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive and adopt the Company’s financial statements for the financial period ended 31 March 2014 and the report of 

the Directors and auditors therein.

2. To re-appoint Mr. Robert B. Holland III, who retires by rotation, as a director.

3. To re-appoint Mr. David R. Belding, who retires by rotation, as a director.

4. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next general meeting at 
which accounts are laid before the Company.

5. To authorise the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
6. To ratify the share option awards made on 27 May 2014 to non-executive directors, being, 3,000,000 options to Maksut 

Narikbayev, 3,000,000 options to David Belding and 3,000,000 options to Malcolm Butler, each exercisable at an exercise 
price of 1.2p per ordinary share, of which one third are exercisable in equal amounts on the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the date of grant, with a term of four years such that any unexercised options will expire on 27 May 2018.

7. That:

(a)  the Directors be and are hereby authorised generally and unconditionally to exercise all the powers of the Company to 
allot shares in the Company and/or to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company 
(together, “Relevant Securities”) up to a maximum aggregate nominal value of £21,753.05 at any time or times before 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution (unless previously 
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), and such authority shall extend to the making before such expiry 
of an offer or an agreement which would or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted or, as the case may be, 
granted after such expiry and the Directors may allot or, as the case may be, grant Relevant Securities in pursuance of 
such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired;

and further, 

(b) the Directors be and are hereby authorised generally and unconditionally to exercise all powers of the Company to allot 
Relevant Securities in connection with a rights issue in favour of ordinary shareholders where the Relevant Securities 
respectively attributable to the interests of all ordinary shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the 
respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them up to an aggregate nominal value of £21,753.05 provided that this 
authority shall expire on the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this 
resolution (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) save that the Company may before 
such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted or, as the case 
may be, granted after such expiry and the Directors may allot or, as the case may be, grant Relevant Securities in 
pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired. 
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8. That, the Directors be and are hereby empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to allot 
equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 7 as if 
section 561 of the Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to:

(a) the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue, open offer or any other pre-emptive offer in favour of 
holders of ordinary shares or other equity securities where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interests 
of such persons on a fixed record date are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of equity 
securities held by them or are otherwise allotted in accordance with the rights attaching to such equity securities (subject 
in either case to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient to deal with 
fractional entitlements, legal or practical problems arising in any overseas territory, the requirements of any regulatory 
body or stock exchange, or any other matter whatsoever); and 

(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal value 
of £21,753.05 (10 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital), 

and the power conferred hereby shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company (unless 
previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), save that the Company may before such expiry make any offer 
or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted or, as the case may be, granted after such expiry and 
the Directors may allot or, as the case may be, grant equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the power 
conferred hereby had not expired.

Kevin J T Clark 
Company Secretary
28 August 2014 

Registered Office:
Fourth Floor
Ergon House
Dean Bradley Street
London SW1P 2AL
United Kingdom
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NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING, INCLUDING EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

1. Resolutions 1–7 are ordinary resolutions. For these resolutions to be passed, a simple majority of the votes cast at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting must be in favour of the resolution. Resolution 8 is a special resolution. For this resolution to be passed, at least three-
quarters of the votes cast at the meeting must be in favour of the resolution. 

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of 
him. To appoint more than one proxy you may photocopy this form. Please indicate the proxy holder’s name and the number of shares in 
relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy (which, in aggregate, should not exceed the number of shares held by you). Please 
also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions being given. All forms must be signed and should be returned together in 
the same envelope.

3. Completion and return of a form of proxy does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting in person should he so 
wish in which case any votes cast by the proxy will be excluded and your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated. 

4. A form of proxy is attached and, to be valid, this form and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a 
notarially certified copy of such power, must reach the registrars of the Company at Capita Asset Services, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham 
Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, or adjournment thereof as the 
case may be. 

5. As provided by Regulation 41(1) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members registered in the register of members 
of the Company 48 hours before the time set for the meeting shall be entitled to vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares 
registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant register of securities after that time shall be disregarded in 
determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting. 

6. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the meeting and any 
adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored 
members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. 

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy 
Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland’s (“EUI”) specifications and must contain the 
information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it relates to the 
appointment of a proxy or to an instruction to a previously appointed proxy, must be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent 
(Capita Registrars) by not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, or adjournment thereof as the case may 
be. No such messages received through the CREST network after this time will be accepted. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 
taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s 
agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. 

 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that EUI does not make available 
special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input 
of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal 
member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) 
take(s) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this 
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those 
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. 

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) (a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.

7. The following documents will be available for inspection during business hours at the registered office until the date of the meeting and on 
that day at the meeting itself:

 Copies of the Directors’ service contracts

 Copies of the Directors’ option agreements

 The current articles of association
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Max Petroleum Plc
Annual General Meeting

30 September 2014
11.00 a.m.

VENUE

Please note that The Lansdowne Club has a club dress code that must be adhered to by all guests. Men must wear collared shirts 
and jackets (no ties required) and women must be smartly dressed. Failure to comply may result in the club refusing admission.
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2014 AGM
MAX PETROLEUM PLC

FORM OF PROXY

For use at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday 30 September 2014 at the Lansdowne Club, 9 
Fitzmaurice Place, Mayfair, London, W1J 5JD at 11.00 a.m. (London time).

I/We ..................……………………………………………………………..………………………….............................…….....................................................
(in BLOCK CAPITALS please)

of  ................................................................................................................................................................... being a shareholder(s) of the 

above-named Company, appoint the Chairman of the Meeting or …………………………………………………………..……......................................  
to act as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at to be held at the 
Lansdowne Club, 9 Fitzmaurice Place, Mayfair, London, W1J 5JD on Tuesday 30 September 2014 at 11.00 a.m. (London time) and at every 
adjournment thereof and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf as directed below.

Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the spaces below how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, your proxy will vote 
for or against the resolutions or abstain from voting as the proxy thinks fit. By signing this form of proxy you authorise your 
proxy to vote for or against or abstain from voting on any other matter which is put before the meeting, as the proxy thinks fit.

Resolutions

 
Ordinary Resolutions

 
For

 
Against

 
Abstain

1.  To receive the report of the Directors and the audited accounts for the financial period ended  
31 March 2014.

2.  To re-appoint Mr. Robert B. Holland III as a director.

3.  To re-appoint Mr. David R. Belding as a director.

4.  To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the 
next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

5.  To authorise the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

6.  To ratify the share option awards made on 27 May 2014 to non-executive directors, being, 
9,000,000 options in aggregate, each exercisable at an exercise price of 1.2p per ordinary share, of 
which one third are exercisable in equal amounts on the first, second and third anniversaries of the 
date of grant, with a term of four years such that any unexercised options will expire on 27 May 2018.

7.  That the Directors be and are hereby authorised generally and unconditionally to exercise all the 
powers of the Company to allot Relevant Securities (as defined in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting dated 28 August 2014 (the “Notice”)) up to a maximum aggregate nominal value of 
£43,506.10 (as described in the Notice as resolution 7 parts (a) and (b)).

Special Resolutions

8.  That the Directors be and are hereby empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in section 
560 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”)) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by 
resolution 7 as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that this power 
shall be limited to allotments (a) in connection with a rights issue or other pre-emptive offer and (b) 
equity securities up to an aggregate nominal value of £21,753.05 (as described in the Notice as 
resolution 8 parts (a) and (b)). 

Signed ............................................................................... Dated ........................…..................... 2014

✂
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Notes:

1. If you wish to appoint someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, strike out the words “Chairman of the Meeting” 
and add the name and address of the proxy you wish to appoint and initial the alteration. The proxy need not be a member.

2. If the appointer is a corporation this form must be completed under its common seal or under the hand of some officer or attorney duly 
authorised in writing.

3. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. You may not 
appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more than one proxy please notify the registrars of 
the Company at Capita Asset Services, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.

4. The signature of any one of joint holders will be sufficient, but the names of all the joint holders should be stated. The vote of the senior 
holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, will be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. Seniority 
will be determined by the order in which the names of the holders appear in the register of members in respect of the joint holding (the 
first-named being the most senior).

5. To be valid, this form and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such 
power must reach the registrars of the Company at Capita Asset Services, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, BR3 
4TU not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or adjournment as the case may be.

6. The completion of this form will not preclude a member from attending the Meeting and voting in person in which case any votes cast by 
the proxy will be excluded and your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

7. Any alteration of this form must be initialled. 

8. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held at the Lansdowne Club, 9 Fitzmaurice Place, Mayfair, London, W1J 5JD on Tuesday 30 September 2014 
at 11.00 a.m. (London time) and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal 
members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to 
their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. 

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy 
Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland’s (“EUI”) specifications and must contain the 
information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it relates to the 
appointment of a proxy or to an instruction to a previously appointed proxy, must be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent 
(Capita Registrars: ID RA10) by the latest time for receipt of proxy appointments specified in the Notice of Meeting. No such messages 
received through the CREST network after this time will be accepted. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as 
determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the 
message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. 

 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that EUI does not make available 
special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input 
of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal 
member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) 
take(s) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In 
this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those 
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) (a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.
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